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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Welcome,

          3  everyone. I am Council Member Bill Perkins, Chair of

          4  the City Council's Committee on Governmental

          5  Operations.

          6                 Today is an extremely important

          7  hearing for these Committees that are here today and

          8  for our City. We will be discussing the Help America

          9  Vote Act of 2002, known as HAVA.

         10                 The Help America Vote Act finds its

         11  genesis in the 2000 presidential election. The

         12  Gore/Bush election, the Florida elections in

         13  particular, sparked a huge dialogue over the

         14  integrity of our elections in America.

         15                 Some other nations compared us to

         16  dictatorships and accused us or some of us of vote

         17  rigging and stealing elections.

         18                 The number of votes lost that went

         19  unaccounted in Miami Dade County that year were 4.4

         20  percent, enough votes to swing the election either

         21  way.

         22                 In Brooklyn that same year the number

         23  of lost votes was four percent, enough to have swung

         24  many of our Mayoral elections in the last decade

         25  either way.
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          2                 This is appalling in what is supposed

          3  to be the best democracy on this planet. And, so,

          4  HAVA came about. The Act is meant to address many of

          5  the deficiencies we witnessed in the 2000 election

          6  process.

          7                 The Act is to make $3.9 billion

          8  available to states to implement voting reform. The

          9  mandates of the Act are to assure access to voting

         10  for individuals with disability, modernize voting

         11  technology, establish minimum election standards,

         12  and generally better enfranchise our nation's

         13  citizens.

         14                 In today's hearing we will address

         15  all these various aspects of the Act.

         16                 As my colleagues know, and I'm sure

         17  many people here today know, one of the charges of

         18  the Committee on Governmental Operations is to

         19  oversee and enhance the City's democratic process.

         20                 So, in this vain we are reviewing the

         21  act which has been hailed by some as the most

         22  significant legislation since the Voting Rights Act.

         23  Today we will find out.

         24                 We will hear testimony from experts,

         25  government and elected officials, advocates and
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          2  members of our community who will testify as to the

          3  details of the Act, the progress of its

          4  implementation and the future that it holds for

          5  democracy in our City.

          6                 I want to be very clear about one

          7  thing as we review this Act today. As the song goes,

          8  if you can make it here, you can make it anywhere.

          9                 However, in this case the in-verse

         10  also held. If you fail here, you have failed all

         11  around the country. If the Act is not implemented

         12  successfully here, the Act will have failed.

         13                 New York City, with all due respect

         14  to all of the voting districts in New York State and

         15  around the nation, is a very unique district. It is

         16  one of the most popular districts in the nation, if

         17  not the world, and which I proudly declare as a main

         18  component of our strength, brilliance and

         19  resilience.

         20                 We are one of the most diverse

         21  districts, if not the most diverse districts, in the

         22  nation. So, when HAVA speaks to assuring access to

         23  voters with disabilities, it speaks to the whole

         24  nation.

         25                 We may hear it a little more keenly
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          2  as home to such a large number of citizens with

          3  disabilities. And when HAVA mandates identification

          4  requirements, we are particularly sensitive because

          5  are also home to huge numbers of immigrant

          6  communities and economically disadvantaged

          7  communities that would be particularly hard struck

          8  by such a requirement.

          9                 We will also have to request that the

         10  state show us the money today. Several hundred

         11  million dollars are estimated to be coming to New

         12  York State. We hope that the City's unique position

         13  will be heavily weighed when such monies are

         14  distributed.

         15                 New York City is the largest

         16  district, the most diverse, the most difficult to

         17  manage, the most costly, and it has the most

         18  troubling voting record.

         19                 Three of New York City's five

         20  counties are preclearance to restrictions under the

         21  Voting Rights Act. Just as it is a shame that our

         22  Mayor has to go to Washington post-9/11 to make a

         23  case for greater funds to implement Operation Atlas

         24  because the City has "unique security concerns," it

         25  would be equally shameful to make the City have to
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          2  present such a case to get more funds, over and

          3  above simply a difference in population to implement

          4  HAVA.

          5                 We are certain that the State will

          6  argue this in receiving funds from Washington. We

          7  just want to make sure that such funds trickle down

          8  to those that need them.

          9                 The proper implementation of HAVA is

         10  of paramount importance to people of the City and

         11  State. Elections will be swayed by how effectively

         12  HAVA is implemented in New York City.

         13                 The Committee will also hear

         14  testimony on Resolution 443, 444 and 445, which deal

         15  with endorsing and denouncing certain provisions and

         16  mandates of HAVA.

         17                 Those resolutions were introduced by

         18  Council Member Margarita Lopez as far back as last

         19  August, and we had a joint hearing on these issues

         20  back on last July 22nd.

         21                 We have been trying to implement HAVA

         22  here in New York State before HAVA even was.

         23                 These issues are very clear and dear

         24  to these committees and we anticipate an excellent

         25  discussion here today.
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          2                 Let me now please introduce my other

          3  Committee members and Colleagues.

          4                 First, however, I want to extend an

          5  apology and a warm welcome to my fellow Council

          6  Member Kendall Stewart, Chair of our Subcommittee on

          7  Immigration.

          8                 They should have been involved with

          9  this effort from the beginning, and it was simply

         10  unintentional oversight and the hectic pace for

         11  putting this hearing together that didn't allow that

         12  to happen. Of course, this is only the beginning and

         13  Council Member Stewart knows that he is more than

         14  invited to play a role in any further discussions on

         15  this topic.

         16                 I want to begin by introducing the

         17  Committee members that are here so far. Council

         18  Member Michael Nelson, who is the Chair of our

         19  Senior Committee; Council Member Martin Malave Dilan

         20  --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: That's the old

         22  one.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Oh, that's the

         24  old one, I'm sorry.

         25                 Eric Martin Dilan, the Chair of our
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          2  Subcommittee on Senior Citizens. Council Member

          3  Kendall Stewart, Chair of our Committee on

          4  Immigration; Council Member Margarita Lopez, the

          5  Chair of our Committee on Disabilities; and Council

          6  Member Nelson has now been made the Chair of our

          7  Revenue Forecasting, the Finance Subcommittee.

          8                 We are about to be joined by Council

          9  Member Gale Brewer, who is the Chair of our Select

         10  Committee on Technology In Government, and who had

         11  played a very important role in helping us deal with

         12  the technological issues related to HAVA and the

         13  government in general. David Yassky, the Chair of

         14  our Select Committee on Waterfronts.

         15                 I also want to acknowledge our staff,

         16  Counsel to my Committee, Matthew Tollin; Counsel to

         17  our Mental Health Committee Maritza Bolanos; Policy

         18  Analyst Jonathan Ettricks; Policy Analyst Nick Noe.

         19  There are other members who will be coming in. I see

         20  Council Member Peter Vallone, Jr., the Chair of our

         21  Public Safety Committee is about to join us, and

         22  other members will be coming in throughout the

         23  hearing.

         24                 I want to just conclude before we

         25  have our first panel by just emphasizing, with all
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          2  due respect, to all other jurisdictions in the

          3  State, that we see New York City as the "Big Apple"

          4  so-to-speak, the greatest challenge for the State in

          5  its implementation of this Act.

          6                 We see all jurisdictions throughout

          7  the State being important. But clearly none has as

          8  significant challenge, as diverse a challenge, as

          9  complex a challenge as that of the City of New York.

         10  We are a City in which we are blessed with a very

         11  diverse immigrant community, a City in which we are

         12  blessed with a very large voting enrolled

         13  population. As was pointed out, this is a City under

         14  the jurisdiction of the Voting Rights Act,

         15  particularly in three counties, that is Manhattan,

         16  Bronx and Brooklyn. We are a City that has an

         17  extraordinary active, visible, demanding articulate

         18  disabilities community and so we hope that as the

         19  HAVA implementation process proceeds, that the

         20  weight of significance of this City is taken into

         21  account, and not at the expense of anyone else, but

         22  just in equity to what it is that is on the table

         23  when you talk about HAVA in New York City.

         24                 So with that in mind we're going to

         25  call our first panel, but before we do that, we're
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          2  going to ask the Chairs of our Disabilities

          3  Committee first, and the Chair of our Technology

          4  Committee and the Chair of our Immigrants Committee

          5  if they want to make some opening remarks. Thank

          6  you.

          7                 Margarita Lopez.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Before I say

          9  anything, I absolutely sure that our colleague Eric

         10  Malave-Dilan don't have no problem to be confused

         11  with Martin Malave-Dilan, the same way that John F.

         12  Kennedy didn't have no problem to be confused with

         13  Robert Kennedy. I think I am in the money on that.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: No problem, but

         15  I like my name to be right.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Then saying that,

         17  in front of me is Ann Emerman, who is the senior

         18  staff to my Committee, and next to me is Martiza

         19  Bolanos, who is the lawyer to my Committee and I

         20  need her advice plenty.

         21                 Good morning, and welcome. I am

         22  Margarita Lopez, Chair of the Committee on Mental

         23  Health, Mental Retardation, Alcoholism, Drug Abuse

         24  and Disability Service.

         25                 Today we are having the oversight
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          2  hearing with the Committee on Governmental

          3  Operation, chaired by my colleague Deputy Majority

          4  Leader Council Member Bill Perkins, and Council

          5  Member Gale Brewer, Chair of the Select Committee on

          6  Technology in Government.

          7                 Regarding the participation of

          8  citizens, including people with disabilities in

          9  election and exercising their constitutional right

         10  to vote freely and independently. This hearing will

         11  emphasize on the particular difficulties that people

         12  with disabilities face at the polls in casting their

         13  votes, and the role of new technologies, as well as

         14  the Board of Election, the City, State and federal

         15  and government respective role in ensuring the

         16  citizens can exercise their right to vote.

         17                 Last summer, the Committee and the

         18  City Council held a hearing emphasizing exclusively

         19  on the disabled community participation in City

         20  election. We are here today, as it is important to

         21  continue to listen to the concern of the disabled

         22  community and the solution that they will present to

         23  us today, particularly since all mechanical machines

         24  are not accessible to them, and new technologies are

         25  available in this regard.
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          2                 The federal law passed in October of

          3  2002 called the Help America Vote Act of 2002, will

          4  be key in moving this nation forward with regard to

          5  voting, and with regard finally to include the

          6  disabled community who has been the last community

          7  to have the right to vote in the way that the

          8  constitutional grant to everybody.

          9                 Governmental institutions must

         10  protect the rights of all of the citizens, and seeks

         11  to change how elections are conducted, so that

         12  people with disabilities will be provided with

         13  accommodation that preserve their right to vote

         14  freely and independently at polling sites, and not

         15  through absentee ballot voting, which only make them

         16  invisible. Invisibility is what make the gay,

         17  lesbian, transgendered community impossible to

         18  acquire rights, and invisibility of people with

         19  disabilities when the day of voting comes, it make

         20  impossible for people to recognize that they are

         21  empowered.

         22                 Adding to societal prejudicism and a

         23  stigma concerning people with disabilities, it is

         24  important to allow them to be visible the day that

         25  is to vote. Appropriating poll work training is also
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          2  critical, and we expect to hear about this all day

          3  today.

          4                 Thank you and I'll now turn the floor

          5  to my colleague Bill Perkins, and I don't want to

          6  lose the opportunity to make very clear that the

          7  Chairman of this Committee, not only has been

          8  listening to what I ask him in regard to the

          9  disabled community, but is a person committed to

         10  make justice when come down to the question of being

         11  able to vote like anybody else, and to him I want to

         12  give him the most incredible thank you for allowing

         13  me to proceed with the resolutions that I present

         14  forward, particularly, and I want everybody here to

         15  know this, particularly that the group of people who

         16  begin this movement in changing the polling ways in

         17  which we do voting was the disabled community

         18  nationwide, because they have been discriminated

         19  still today even when the Voting Right Act was

         20  passed.

         21                 Thank you very much.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         23  much, Councilwoman Margarita Lopez, and especially

         24  thank you for that emphasis of the role that the

         25  disabled community has played in moving our society,
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          2  not just our City but our United States toward

          3  modifying the voting equipment in such a way that

          4  all Americans would be able to have open and free

          5  access to their voting rights.

          6                 Next I'd like to hear from Gale

          7  Brewer who is the Chair of our Technology Committee,

          8  a Committee that has been making a significant mark

          9  in City government and in government in general by

         10  virtue of their vigilance and their expertise in

         11  understanding how government can become more

         12  accessible and more efficient and more effective and

         13  more democratic as we learn to use better and better

         14  the technology that's becoming available.

         15                 Gale Brewer.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you very

         17  much, Chairman Perkins. I want to thank you for your

         18  leadership on this issue. I know that you taught me

         19  what a full face ballot is, and I don't think I knew

         20  previously, and you have tirelessly put election

         21  reform at the top of your agenda, but I also want to

         22  thank Margarita Lopez. I serve on her Committee and

         23  she has changed the demographics of City Hall in

         24  trying to figure out ways that the whole City can be

         25  accessible, not just our seat here of government.
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          2                 NYPIRG has also been in the forefront

          3  of this. I see Neil Rosenstein in the audience and

          4  Gene Russianoff, and The League of Women Voters has

          5  always been a place we've looked to for election

          6  reform.

          7                 Just in terms of technology, Nick

          8  Noe, who is the policy analyst for the Committee,

          9  has worked with this Committee and Matthew to put

         10  together an incredible selection of vendors and

         11  opportunities for the future in the rotunda.

         12                 But I think what I'm here to say, and

         13  we've had some discussions over time is that it is

         14  very helpful today to see what's going on

         15  technologically in terms of the electoral process

         16  around the country. We're a very different kind of

         17  City, and I think that what we can do is learn from

         18  the pros and cons of the available technology that

         19  exists around the country. We obviously have some

         20  federal legislation to hopefully help us do that.

         21  We're all very aware, of course, of what happened in

         22  Florida, and we don't want that to happen here. But

         23  I think what we have to do is, while we are wanting

         24  to have a better machine to vote on, we have to be

         25  very sure that these are accessible machines, and
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          2  because we have a huge impact on the buying power of

          3  any kind of software or hardware, we have to make

          4  sure that it's secure, that it's reliable and, of

          5  course, accessible in all kinds of ways, physically,

          6  language, et cetera. California and other states,

          7  for example, recently demanded that any new loading

          8  machines produce a paper trail. It sounds very

          9  simple, but it's something that we need to be

         10  concerned about. Votes should be verifiable, not

         11  just as data but as a physical item, and I know that

         12  some of the vendors announced that they would in

         13  fact modify their machines to do this. So we should

         14  talk about this as we discuss some of the future

         15  today at the hearing.

         16                 Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you,

         18  again, for the work that you're doing. Now we'll

         19  hear from Chairman Kendall Stewart, the Chair of our

         20  Immigration Committee.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Good morning.

         22  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         23                 First of all, I'm glad that I was

         24  invited to be a part of this hearing this morning.

         25  I'm particularly interested in knowing basically how
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          2  we can correct any problems or inabilities that may

          3  hinder immigrants from exercising their rights.

          4                 I'm also particularly interested in

          5  to see how the federal monies are being distributed,

          6  and particular to the areas of, you know, color and

          7  areas that you have new immigrants who are now being

          8  able to exercise their rights. And I'm here to

          9  observe and to listen and to see how much we can

         10  make these changes.

         11                 Thank you very much.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         13  much.

         14                 Now we're going to begin with our

         15  first panel. I'm honored, and we are honored in this

         16  Council, to have with us today two elected officials

         17  that have been very active around voting rights

         18  issues and improving technology and accessibility,

         19  particularly with regard to the disabled, as well as

         20  all communities.

         21                 First, I want to acknowledge the

         22  presence of the honorable C. Virginia Fields, the

         23  Borough President of Manhattan, and I would like her

         24  to come forward and join. Joining her, my

         25  counterpart as the Chair of the New York State
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          2  Assembly Elections Committee, and Assemblyman from

          3  the Village of Harlem, sometimes known as the mecca

          4  of the African Diaspera, the Honorable Keith Wright,

          5  please join Borough President Viriginia Fields.

          6                 ASSEMBLYMAN WRIGHT: Good morning.

          7                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT FIELDS: Thank you.

          8  Thank you so much. Good morning. I thank you,

          9  Councilman --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Before you get

         11  started, there is a procedure that we have to go

         12  through.

         13                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT FIELDS: Sure.

         14                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Good morning.

         15  Could you please raise your right hand?

         16                 Could you both raise your right hand.

         17  Okay, sorry.

         18                 Do you solemnly swear or affirm the

         19  testimony you are about to give is the truth, the

         20  whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         21                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT FIELDS: I do.

         22                 ASSEMBLYMAN WRIGHT: I do.

         23                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Thank you.

         24  Could you please, for the record, state your name

         25  and your position.
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          2                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT FIELDS: C. Virginia

          3  Fields, President of the Borough of Manhattan.

          4                 ASSEMBLYMAN WRIGHT: New York State

          5  Assemblyman Keith Wright, Chair of the New York

          6  State Assembly Committee on Election Law.

          7                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Thank you.

          8  Please proceed.

          9                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT FIELDS: Thank you.

         10  Thank you so much. And good morning, I'm delighted

         11  once again to be back in these Chambers. I guess

         12  when you're not here on a daily basis you forget

         13  some of those procedural matters to be followed, but

         14  I'm delighted.

         15                 First of all, let me thank Chairman

         16  Bill Perkins, and Chairwoman Margarita Lopez for

         17  holding such a timely and important hearing on a

         18  matter of grave concern to all of us as we look at

         19  different ways to implement the Help America Vote

         20  Act known from here on as HAVA here in New York

         21  State. And although today's hearing is going to be

         22  focused, I understand, on several issues related to

         23  HAVA's implementation in the City, I will limit the

         24  focus of my comments to ways in which we can create

         25  ballot access for persons with disabilities through
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          2  better use of technology and some of the problems

          3  which we would talk about with respect to the New

          4  York State's full face ballot law.

          5                 So, to our chairs, and to all of the

          6  members of our Committee, thank you.

          7                 On January 29th of this year, CIDNY,

          8  the Center for Independence of the Disabled in New

          9  York and I sponsored a voter technology fair for

         10  people with disabilities, and the purpose was to

         11  provide people with physical visual cognitive and

         12  other types of disabilities, an opportunity to test

         13  new forms of voting technology. And in return we

         14  asked participants to evaluate their experiences in

         15  the use of the different types of machines so that

         16  we can all learn about what works for people with

         17  disabilities.

         18                 So, I'm pleased to announce today,

         19  and I think that you have received copies of the

         20  report called Voting Technology for People With

         21  Disabilities, we are issuing the first of two

         22  reports that analyzes that feedback which we

         23  received, and we're especially proud because we now

         24  know that this is the first report in the nation,

         25  that compares disabled access features for federally
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          2  certified voting machines and analyzes disabled

          3  users' experience testing each machine.

          4                 So based on this, we will be passing

          5  this on to the relevant agencies and to the

          6  Committee chaired by my good friend, and my

          7  Assemblyman Keith Wright. But just briefly, based on

          8  the analysis, there are several discoveries and

          9  recommendations which I'd like to address. We

         10  certainly learned more about the importance of

         11  having portable and lightweight voting machines that

         12  can be held in one's lap making it easier,

         13  obviously, for people who are wheelchair users to be

         14  able to vote.

         15                 We learned that people with limited

         16  use of their hands or arms, such as quadriplegics or

         17  people with Parkinson's Disease, obviously because

         18  they do not have the movement accuracy that is

         19  required to press small tactile buttons or use touch

         20  screen buttons, have all kinds of difficulties and

         21  need machine controls to be in a single location.

         22                 Our analysis also showed that the

         23  inclusion of an audio ballot does not necessarily

         24  ensure access for visually impaired or blind voters,

         25  human voice recordings should be used because
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          2  they're easier to understand than the computer

          3  generated voice recording, and audio ballot controls

          4  need to include color coded distinctly shaped

          5  buttons in order to facilitate visually impaired

          6  voters' ability to distinguish one button from the

          7  other.

          8                 All of these are important

          9  discoveries that were made, or I would say important

         10  statements that were made by people with

         11  disabilities to help us better understand that what

         12  the needs are.

         13                 Many of the people who participated

         14  prefer controls that have Braille labels. Visual

         15  impaired voters recommend that font size and screen

         16  contrast for standard interface voting should be

         17  available also. People who are hard of hearing with

         18  the visual disability need other types of assisted

         19  listening device for audio ballot.

         20                 We learn many things, as I said, but

         21  I think one of the most important recommendations

         22  that came out of this for us, to which I just want

         23  to conclude on, has to do with the full face ballot,

         24  and this is the type of ballot that we currently

         25  have in place here, use here in New York State.
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          2                 People with physical and cognitive

          3  disabilities are able to cast independent and

          4  private votes used in some of the other multi-page

          5  ballot machines that were demonstrated at the

          6  technology fair, and it became clear that as long as

          7  New York State continues to have a full-face ballot

          8  law, the many voting machines that are more

          9  accessible so a greater number of New York voters

         10  with disabilities cannot be certified for use in

         11  this state and that will continue to make it

         12  impossible for a number of people with disabilities

         13  to be able to vote.

         14                 Problems of full-face ballot machines

         15  are not limited, however, to people with

         16  disabilities. Full-face ballots can only accommodate

         17  a limited number of languages, and so each time an

         18  additional language is added to the ballot, the font

         19  size for the ballot's face becomes smaller and

         20  smaller and more problematic.

         21                 Another problem we found with the

         22  full-face ballot is that it encourages undervoting.

         23  For example, returns from the 2000 general election

         24  showed that in New York State 45.8 percent of those

         25  who voted in the presidential contest, did not vote

                                                            28

          1  GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS, MENTAL HEALTH, TECHNOLOGY

          2  on a referendum for the transportation

          3  infrastructure bond act of 2000, which is also

          4  located on that full-face ballot, but in the lower

          5  right-hand corner of the ballot.

          6                 Multi-page ballot machines on the

          7  other hand, requires voters to view every contest

          8  that is part of the election and these machines

          9  provide a summary of the voter selection after a

         10  person has viewed every contest and reminding voters

         11  of what they have not voted upon.

         12                 So, essentially, despite along with

         13  all of the recommendations which are outlined in the

         14  report, the number one recommendation really centers

         15  on the full-face ballot, which is the type of ballot

         16  we use here in the City, and this was enacted in law

         17  in 1909, it has not been changed since that time,

         18  and if we are going to talk about access and access

         19  to the ballot for all people, and certainly people

         20  with disabilities, that is the number one

         21  recommendation that comes forth from our report that

         22  we need to look seriously at what we do about that,

         23  if we really want to ensure that people with

         24  disability have the right to vote.

         25                 I would just conclude by saying, Mr.
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          2  -- Chairpersons, that I have learned so much going

          3  through this process and working with people who do

          4  not have access to the ballot, and I think it's

          5  something that we all take for granted, and until we

          6  engage in processes such as these, we forget so much

          7  about how others are restricted or limited and are

          8  not enjoying the benefits that all of us have worked

          9  so hard to ensure that we have the right to vote.

         10                 Certainly as a woman of color, and

         11  African-American, being a part of the Civil Rights

         12  Movement, being a part of efforts to fight for the

         13  right to vote, that was done on the basis of the

         14  color of one's skin, and while it was certainly an

         15  important effort and has changed so much in our

         16  society, it is non-less important for all of us to

         17  fight for people with disabilities because they,

         18  too, must be able to vote privately, they should

         19  have the right to do it confidentially, and they

         20  should not be limited because of our failure to make

         21  the right technology available. It is inexcusable in

         22  today's society, so I really call upon you to act

         23  wisely and to support the work of Assemblyman Keith

         24  Wright so that we can once and for all really live

         25  up to our commitment of making the right to vote and
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          2  giving access to those who are without it, and make

          3  it work for everyone, and certainly people with

          4  disabilities are high on that list.

          5                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and Madam

          6  Chairman.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

          8  much, Madam Borough President.

          9                 Assemblyman Wright.

         10                 ASSEMBLYMAN WRIGHT: Thank you,

         11  Councilman.

         12                 Good morning. I'm Assemblyman Keith

         13  Wright, Chair of the State Assembly Standing

         14  Committee on Election Law. The purpose of my

         15  testimony here today is to bring a couple of

         16  concerns I have with the Help America Vote Act.

         17                 Before I begin my comments, I want to

         18  thank the Borough President for her very thorough

         19  comments, good comments, and I want to thank our

         20  chairs today, Chairman Perkins and Chairperson

         21  Lopez, for their invaluable participation in this

         22  effort to help New York votes certainly, as we in

         23  the State of New York move forward to try and

         24  implement this legislation throughout the City and

         25  throughout the State.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: May I just

          3  interject also? I know you would want to acknowledge

          4  as well, Chairwoman Brewer, from our Technology

          5  Committee.

          6                 ASSEMBLYMAN WRIGHT: Absolutely.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: And Chairman

          8  Kendall Stewart as well.

          9                 ASSEMBLYMAN WRIGHT: We have a lot of

         10  chairs down at the City Council.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Well, this is a

         12  complex issue, and we do have chairs that represent

         13  the various aspects of this.

         14                 ASSEMBLYMAN WRIGHT: No question. And

         15  I do want to acknowledge all chairs.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: There you go.

         17  Thank you very much.

         18                 ASSEMBLYMAN WRIGHT: Absolutely.

         19                 And I do so on behalf of the Borough

         20  President as well. All right.

         21                 Overall I think this legislation can

         22  help ensure our voting systems in America is

         23  tremendously improved. HAVA provides federal funding

         24  to states to update and replace the voting machines

         25  and will alter the process by which we vote.
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          2                 The legislation mandates that states

          3  go through a planning process to develop a plan to

          4  meet minimum federal voting standards.

          5                 HAVA is intended to do many positive

          6  things. However, the question is whether these

          7  changes will be easy or hard in franchising or

          8  disenfranchising.

          9                 Will this legislation open the door

         10  to democracy or will it unintentionally, or

         11  intentionally close them?

         12                 I am concerned that most New Yorkers

         13  are unaware of how this legislation might affect

         14  future elections. In particular, there are three

         15  substantive areas of this legislation I would like

         16  to bring to your attention: Voting system reform,

         17  and statewide voter registration, and identification

         18  requirements, and finally the planning process that

         19  has taken place to date.

         20                 First, voting system reform. HAVA

         21  requires states to move towards voting technologies

         22  that are accurate, user-friendly, and fully

         23  accessible to persons with disabilities.

         24                 This requirement grew out of the

         25  debacle in West Palm Beach in Miami Dade County,
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          2  where we saw election officials ponder over hanging

          3  chads on punchcard ballots and arguing over whether

          4  mispunched ballots should count.

          5                 We must all understand that for

          6  democracy to be meaningful, voting must be accurate,

          7  secure and fully accessible.

          8                 As New York moves to implement HAVA,

          9  we must embrace voting technologies that accomplish

         10  these goals.

         11                 Second, statewide voter registration

         12  database and ID requirements. HAVA mandates that

         13  every state have a statewide voter registration

         14  database for federal elections. The wellspring of

         15  this requirement is also the 2000 election. After

         16  the 2000 Presidential Election we learned that more

         17  than 57,000 people were directed to be purged from

         18  the locally maintained voting rolls in Florida.

         19  Prior to the election, in an effort to move felons

         20  and others who were ineligible to vote, the problem

         21  is many voters purged in Florida were not felons at

         22  all and were improperly removed from local voting

         23  rolls because they had a name, a birth date or an

         24  address similar to or in common with that of a

         25  felon. This disenfranchisement was wrong. A little
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          2  history lesson most of us remember well.

          3                 Vice President Al Gore officially

          4  lost Florida by 537 votes. Many, including myself,

          5  believe that if Florida had not improperly purged

          6  voters, a disproportionate number of whom were

          7  minority and also democrat, the results of that

          8  election might have been a little different.

          9                 Here is the issue now. Regardless of

         10  one's political philosophy, we all must recognize

         11  that election results should not be shrouded in

         12  doubt by shoddy election-related procedures, lest

         13  democracy's legitimacy might be eroded.

         14                 Realizing this, Congress mandated

         15  that every state have a statewide voter registration

         16  database. While moving forward with this

         17  legislation, we must be careful not to

         18  unintentionally restrict the voting rights of

         19  citizens. A second and but related point, HAVA

         20  requires certain first-time voters, certain

         21  first-time voters who register by mail to present

         22  identification at the polls in order to vote on the

         23  voting machine.

         24                 One way, the easiest way a person

         25  avoids this requirement, is if his or her driver's

                                                            35

          1  GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS, MENTAL HEALTH, TECHNOLOGY

          2  license number provided on his or her voter

          3  registration form, matches the State Department of

          4  Motor Vehicle's record.

          5                 One concern is that many New Yorkers

          6  do not have driver's licenses, and these voters must

          7  take advantage of alternative means of

          8  identification.

          9                 Fortunately, HAVA gives the state

         10  much latitude in deciding how to sufficiently

         11  identify voters, but we must make the right choices

         12  to make certain the identification process does not

         13  become a disenfranchisement process.

         14                 We must accomplish the goal of making

         15  sure registrations are accurate, while also doing

         16  everything in our power to ensure that registering

         17  to vote and voting on Election Day are not

         18  burdensome.

         19                 Finally, I turn to the HAVA planning

         20  process. The process began with a partisan powerplay

         21  when Governor Pataki appointed my friend Peter

         22  Kusinski the Deputy Director of the New York State

         23  Board of Elections to convene a HAVA Planning Task

         24  Force.

         25                 In so doing, the Governor improperly,
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          2  and in my opinion illegally purported to remove Tom

          3  Wilke, the Executive Director of the Board of

          4  Elections, chosen by the Bipartisan Board of

          5  Elections, from his role as Chief State Election

          6  Officer.

          7                 While I contended then and contend

          8  now that the Governor did not have the power to do

          9  this, we agreed to participate in the HAVA planning

         10  process, despite our grave misgivings.

         11                 Let me just say that I have no

         12  personal animus or personal quarrel with Mr.

         13  Kusinski, whom I consider a friend, but I sincerely

         14  believe that he is improperly in charge of the HAVA

         15  planning process.

         16                 The HAVA task force has met five

         17  times, but only four of the meetings were on

         18  substance. Each meeting was essentially a briefing

         19  session. The task force made no formal

         20  recommendations as a group and never cast a single

         21  vote, not one. Notably, HAVA required in Section 255

         22  of the Act that the State HAVA implementation plan

         23  be developed through a committee of appropriate

         24  individuals. It is my opinion that the task force

         25  was neither comprised of all appropriate
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          2  individuals, and nor is the plan being developed

          3  through a committee. Although I support the HAVA

          4  legislation, I recommend that we work diligently

          5  with the Governor and push him to ensure that all

          6  New Yorkers have adequate and efficient access to

          7  the American democracy.

          8                 And let me just say, today is April

          9  4th, this is the day that Martin Luther King was

         10  killed, this is the day that our great Congressman

         11  Adam Clayton Powell, Jr., died in 1972. Two men who

         12  really wanted to make sure that folks were

         13  enfranchised to vote and who worked very hard for

         14  full voter participation, let us not let their

         15  dreams die.

         16                 Thank you, Mr. And Madam Chairs.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         18  much, Assemblyman Wright and Madam Borough

         19  President.

         20                 I have a few quick questions, and I

         21  think my colleagues have some as well.

         22                 Madam President, in your survey which

         23  we just received, were you able to look at the

         24  technology and more or less determine those that

         25  comply with the concerns that you have?
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          2                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT FIELDS: I'd like to

          3  ask my staff who work more directly on this.

          4                 We had at the fair, of course,

          5  various machines, and what we asked the participants

          6  to do, again, was to use them and based on their

          7  experiences, what would they recommend as perhaps

          8  being most helpful, depending on a nature of one's

          9  disability. And, so, while we didn't select any

         10  particular one, we basically reported the findings,

         11  but in direct response to question, Julie Hyman and

         12  Naomi Feldman.

         13                 MS. FELDMAN: Hi. I'm Naomi Feldman,

         14  and I'm a Policy Analyst for the Manhattan Borough

         15  President.

         16                 We asked the participants at the

         17  Voting Technology Center to fill out evaluation

         18  forms which were designed to examine on a

         19  quantitative level the user ability or the

         20  accessibility of each of the voting machines, and we

         21  also asked them to provide feedback or comments that

         22  they could write down.

         23                 The first report that you have,

         24  actually what you have in front of you is the

         25  executive summary, and I have full copies of the
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          2  report which I shall also give to you. But this

          3  looks at just the qualitative comments or just the

          4  feedback that people gave. And as you can see on the

          5  back of that report, or that handout that you have,

          6  there are four tables. Each table specifically

          7  addresses a different type of disability.

          8                 The first table addresses the

          9  wheelchair access; the second one visual disability

         10  access; the third is -- or excuse me -- the second

         11  one is about access via using your hands or your

         12  arms; the third is about visual access; the fourth

         13  is about hearing access. And each of those tables or

         14  the matrices that you see in front of you, have

         15  different types of accessibility characteristics or

         16  requirements that we were looking for in each of the

         17  machines.

         18                 As you see, there were eight machines

         19  demonstrated at the fair, and as you see in each

         20  table there were a variety of different access

         21  features. So we were able to compare the different

         22  accessibility levels of the machines.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: So I guess this

         24  chart evaluates these various vendors' equipment

         25  according to these values, and those that get the
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          2  most yeses would probably get the highest ranking;

          3  is that how I can read this?

          4                 MS. FELDMAN: Yes, we tried to design

          5  it so --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: One, two, three,

          7  four, five, six, seven, eight, nine, ten values, and

          8  --

          9                 MS. FELDMAN: Affirmative was a

         10  positive.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Whoever got

         12  affirmative, the most affirmatives out of ten would

         13  be the one recommended; is that the way to read it?

         14                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT FIELDS: Not

         15  recommended by this office or this center, but based

         16  on the participants used to say this we found more

         17  favorable in terms of creating access for us.

         18                 ASSEMBLYMAN WRIGHT: They weren't

         19  subjected to HAVA recommendations.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: They were not

         21  subjected to HAVA recommendations.

         22                 And, so, and in that regrad, I assume

         23  you did kind of look at those that had more yeses

         24  than others?

         25                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT FIELDS: Absolutely.
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          2  But I think we want to stress --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: And I wanted to

          4  just ask one question in that vain.

          5                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT FIELDS: Okay.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: So, the

          7  full-face ballot machines ranked the lowest, would

          8  you say, that would be consistent with the

          9  legislation that you are proposing? Did you notice

         10  that at all? Can one say that based on your survey,

         11  those machines that were full face ballots were

         12  rated by the users as the least accessible, et

         13  cetera?

         14                 MS. FELDMAN: Well, this report was

         15  not necessarily about rating but really just

         16  providing feedback about their experiences. The

         17  full-face ballot machines seemed to have the least

         18  number of accessible features.

         19                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT FIELDS: Very good

         20  response.

         21                 The point is, is that we did not get

         22  into rating vendors, nor what would be the best or

         23  least, but, again, based on the responses from the

         24  participants, full-faced was the least desirable

         25  technology in terms of creating access.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: And could tell

          3  us of those on this which are the full-face ballots?

          4                 MS. FELDMAN: There were two full-face

          5  ballot machines demonstrated at our fair. One was by

          6  Sequoia Voting Systems, it's called the ADC

          7  Advantage.  The other one was designed by Encrypted

          8  Voting Machine Systems. Their machine, the last one

          9  --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: What was the

         11  second one? I'm sorry, what was the second one?

         12                 MS. FELDMAN: I'm sorry, it's

         13  Encrypted Voting Machine Systems. At that time it

         14  was not a federally certified machine.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay, since then

         16  do you know if it's been federally certified?

         17                 MS. FELDMAN: I do not, but I believe

         18  its president, the president of the company is here

         19  today.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay. All right,

         21  thank you very much.

         22                 I just wanted to get some

         23  appreciation of the value of the report, and I want

         24  to express our appreciation for what you've done.

         25                 I believe my colleague, Councilwoman
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          2  Margarita Lopez, has a question on this area.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: I am concerned

          4  about the testimony that you provide, in terms of

          5  some clarification, Assemblyman.

          6                 You indicated that the organization

          7  that is in charge, or the structure that is in

          8  charge to organize these changes have met five

          9  times, no voting has taken place, but you didn't

         10  give me or the public here any information in regard

         11  of the composition of that group of people, and I am

         12  very, very curious to know how many with

         13  disabilities belong to that particular organization?

         14                 ASSEMBLYMAN WRIGHT: I don't know the

         15  exact number but very few. There were some who

         16  belonged to the task force, but I would just like to

         17  say that I was the only person of color on this task

         18  force. Very few women.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Well, how large

         20  is the task force?

         21                 ASSEMBLYMAN WRIGHT: About 19 folks.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you.

         23                 ASSEMBLYMAN WRIGHT: And many

         24  representatives of the Governor were on this task

         25  force, from his various agencies were on this task
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          2  force, and the New York Times even in an editorial

          3  commented as to how clandestine, how closed, how

          4  secretive this task force has been. So, it's been a

          5  struggle, to say the least. I'd like to say, I've

          6  said on many times, the task force is too pale and

          7  too male and it's convened about four or five times

          8  so far.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: The reason I'm

         10  curious about this.

         11                 ASSEMBLYMAN WRIGHT: And not

         12  reflective of the population and the diversity, the

         13  wonderful diversity that the State of New York has.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: The reason I'm

         15  curious about this particular issue is because since

         16  last year I have been working on this issue with the

         17  disabled community and we have hearings in here on

         18  this.

         19                 ASSEMBLYMAN WRIGHT: Yes.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Prior to the law

         21  being passed in the federal government, and I have

         22  never received an invitation to be part of this or

         23  to receive --

         24                 ASSEMBLYMAN WRIGHT: I barely do too.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: -- The minutes of
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          2  the meeting or anything like that.

          3                 ASSEMBLYMAN WRIGHT: Well, it's funny

          4  you should talk about minutes, Madam Chair. The

          5  hearings were not transcribed until I guess we in

          6  the Assembly had I guess urged rather definitely

          7  that they be transcribed.

          8                 It's been a very closed process. It's

          9  been a very closed process, and not particularly

         10  open, and we've had meetings, I guess successive

         11  Wednesdays for about four and five hours, each up in

         12  Albany, in the State, in the Capitol, and it has not

         13  been open, it has not been open to public review.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: All right.

         15                 ASSEMBLYMAN WRIGHT: As a matter of

         16  fact the Committee has stated that no public hearing

         17  were necessary, that's why I'm glad you're having

         18  this public hearing today, and I, in fact, am having

         19  a public hearing today as well at 12:00 over at 250

         20  Broadway. So, this is, I guess you could say all of

         21  us are trying to help New York vote right now, and

         22  it doesn't seem like the task force is helping New

         23  York to vote.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: I want to close my

         25  questioning with a question for both of you.
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          2                 I am very preoccupied about the

          3  requirement of the ID requirement to be able to

          4  vote, and in the resolution that I introduced I am

          5  against that. I was against that, I continue to be

          6  against that, and I'm asking for the repeal of that.

          7  And what I want to call the attention to the both of

          8  you is to the following:

          9                 In New York City we passed a law when

         10  the homeless population sued the City to be able to

         11  vote because they didn't have a place to live, and

         12  due to address, they were not allowed to register.

         13  They were able to win that and then they were

         14  allowed to vote and put as a resident a bench in

         15  Central Park, is that's the place where they work.

         16                 I used to be an average worker, and I

         17  used to register homeless people in Central Park and

         18  gave the address as a bench, and they got

         19  registered. With this new piece of item, of ID, not

         20  only this affect the immigrant population, but it

         21  also affect the ladies in my district who are

         22  Latinos who don't drive, never would drive, and

         23  don't have no ID from the Driver's Bureau. Then what

         24  is your position in regard to this?

         25                 ASSEMBLYMAN WRIGHT: Well, my position
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          2  is that it is somewhat restrictive. I'm sorry to say

          3  it can only be repealed through federal legislation.

          4  There is some latitude but an ID requirement is part

          5  of the legislation that we in the state have to

          6  follow.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: You mean to tell

          8  me that it's nothing that we can do in this state?

          9                 ASSEMBLYMAN WRIGHT: We can do it on

         10  the federal level of government. That's my

         11  understanding.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Then I guess that

         13  the state is going to be paying for a lot of IDs for

         14  people who don't have money, to pay for those ideas,

         15  and by the way the minimum cost of it is over $15 a

         16  piece.

         17                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT FIELDS: We do

         18  support your resolution to repeal that aspect of it,

         19  and I just believe that whatever we can do to remove

         20  barriers to people voting and registered we should

         21  do it all costs and that is an important step.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: And the other two

         23  resolutions that are in the floor, what is your

         24  position?

         25                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT FIELDS: We are in
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          2  support of those two resolutions, all of the

          3  resolutions that you have put forward, the three of

          4  them, we do support it and encourage your acting

          5  upon them in the City Council.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Thank you for your

          7  support. Same thing. Thank you to both of you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: There are other

          9  members that want to ask a question or two.

         10                 Chairman Stewart.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Thank you,

         12  Mr. Chair.

         13                 I want to continue on the question of

         14  the identification, and do you see any method as a

         15  unified method that can be used? Because I know that

         16  some countries, they issue a photo ID as a voting

         17  card, for the ID voting card, and what kind of

         18  problems do you see with that?

         19                 We were talking about identification

         20  and having some sort of identification for voting,

         21  I'm asking, right now, using driver's license and

         22  all of that, some people don't have -- we have that

         23  problem already. I'm asking, looking at some

         24  countries that use one voting, photo ID voting card

         25  that they issue to every voter with their ID picture
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          2  on it, and I'm asking if there is any problem, right

          3  this is a national thing, but I don't know if it can

          4  be done in New York, but I'm asking, what kind of

          5  problems do you see with that?

          6                 ASSEMBLYMAN WRIGHT: Well, let me just

          7  say this: There is some latitude in terms of what

          8  kinds of identification can be shown.

          9                 For example, a person let's say who

         10  lives in public housing can show a lease or a rental

         11  agreement of some sort.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: It doesn't have to

         13  be a photo?

         14                 ASSEMBLYMAN WRIGHT: No, it doesn't

         15  have to have a photo. Doesn't have to have a photo,

         16  from my knowledge. It does not have to have a photo.

         17                 A person can show a student

         18  identification card. So there is some latitude. You

         19  can show a Medicare or a Medicaid card before you go

         20  in and vote.

         21                 I think someone told me you can show

         22  a utility bill before you go -- so there is some

         23  latitude. Is it somewhat restrictive? I think so,

         24  but there is some latitude that the State of New

         25  York will be able to utilize.
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          2                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT FIELDS: And I would

          3  just elaborate, you know, when we look at the many

          4  ways where people have to show some form of

          5  identification to access a variety of benefits, a

          6  variety of other things that we use, we need just

          7  look at what works. So, I don't think it's something

          8  that we cannot come to some reasonable conclusions

          9  or resolution, we just need to focus on it and say

         10  this is what we want to happen, including the

         11  homeless population.

         12                 So, I think that with a bit more

         13  research and investigation we can come up with a

         14  response.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: There are some

         16  other members that have questions. Are you finished,

         17  Chairman?

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: There was one

         19  other question I wanted to ask about, the Borough

         20  President.

         21                 You spoke about paper ballots.

         22                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT FIELDS: Full-face.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Full-face

         24  paper ballots. And I wanted to know if any

         25  suggestion has been made to have it done in several
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          2  different languages. For example, if you speak

          3  Spanish, then it's done in Spanish, and you only

          4  will have that one that is in Spanish, instead of

          5  having one that has everything on it with all the

          6  different languages.

          7                 MS. FELDMAN: A full-face ballot

          8  limits the number of languages that you can show the

          9  candidates and the contest named with, and the more

         10  languages you have on a full-face ballot, the

         11  smaller the print is going to be, which for any

         12  senior citizen or people with visual disabilities,

         13  that's actually an access problem.

         14                 The thing about the electronic

         15  technology is that most of those types of machines

         16  are designed where you can select from a variety of

         17  different languages in the beginning, so we wouldn't

         18  have to limit a precinct to just the majority voting

         19  languages in that district. We could actually have

         20  the whole variety of languages that represent the

         21  City with these types of electronic machines.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Councilwoman

         23  Gale Brewer, and then Council Member Yassky.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you very

         25  much for your excellent testimony. My first question
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          2  is for the Borough President. Were there any states

          3  or municipalities around the country that are using

          4  some of this technology?

          5                 MS. HYMAN: Julie Hyman from CIDNY.

          6  All of the machines, most of the machines that we

          7  tested at the voting technology fair and that are

          8  featured in the report are being used in various

          9  parts of the country.

         10                 I know Texas is using some of the

         11  machines, New Jersey is using some of the machines,

         12  and there are a number of states that are using a

         13  lot of the machines, some with very positive

         14  results. But, again, the machines that are in these,

         15  not all of them are universally accessible.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay. Thank you

         17  very much.

         18                 And for the Assemblyman, I was just

         19  reaching through the bill but I didn't find it.

         20                 The purpose of the Task Force is to

         21  produce regulation, and is there, you know, many of

         22  the commissions that we have here in the City of New

         23  York of course are advice and consent membership

         24  with the City Council, and I assume that the federal

         25  legislation doesn't say that the members are
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          2  appointed with the advice and consent of the

          3  Assembly or Senate. I guess it's just a

          4  gubernatorial. And that's something, on the federal

          5  level, we'd like to change, although that would be

          6  challenging, but exactly what's the purpose of this

          7  commission?

          8                 ASSEMBLYMAN WRIGHT: From what I

          9  understand, the purpose of the task force is

         10  advisory, advisory to Mr. Peter Kusinski who was

         11  appointed by the Governor to head this task force.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: But it would be

         13  of course preferable if the commission members were

         14  appointed with the advice and consent of the

         15  Legislature.

         16                 ASSEMBLYMAN WRIGHT: Oh, absolutely.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you very

         18  much.

         19                 ASSEMBLYMAN WRIGHT: Always when the

         20  Legislature is involved.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Particularly on

         22  this topic.

         23                 ASSEMBLYMAN WRIGHT: Absolutely.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: It seems

         25  relevant.
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          2                 ASSEMBLYMAN WRIGHT: No question about

          3  it.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Given what you

          5  just stated.

          6                 ASSEMBLYMAN WRIGHT: No question.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you very

          8  much.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: All right, I

         10  just want to ask a quick question.

         11                 So, according to the chart, the only

         12  machine that has visual voting high rating

         13  so-to-speak, or yes, there's only one, I won't

         14  mention it per se, but there's only one. All other

         15  machines, in terms of visual value have a no or not

         16  available. This was in your conversation about the

         17  full-face ballot, the problems of the full-face

         18  ballot. There's only one according -- am I accurate

         19  in reading that here?

         20                 MS. HYMAN: I'm sorry, repeat that.

         21  Are you just referring to the two full-face ballot

         22  machines?

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: No, I'm

         24  referring to the chart.

         25                 You mentioned that the full-face
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          2  ballot machines were problematic because of the

          3  visual problem, that is that --

          4                 MS. HYMAN: No, full -- oh, that's one

          5  element, you're correct. Yes, you're correct. One

          6  element.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Yes, one

          8  element.

          9                 And, so, I'm just looking on the

         10  chart and noticing that all of them on this chart

         11  have a problem with visual element, except for one.

         12  The others, there's a no and a not available. I

         13  won't mention, but I'm just noticing that.

         14                 MS. HYMAN: Yes.

         15                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT FIELDS: What's the

         16  question?

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I just want to

         18  be clear that that's what this chart is saying.

         19                 MS. HYMAN: The chart is saying that

         20  each machine had a different level of accessibility

         21  in terms of visual access.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay, thank you

         23  very much.

         24                 I just want to get clear,

         25  Assemblyman, is it accurate to say that you're
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          2  supporting the resolution proposed by the Borough

          3  President with regard to the full-face ballot?

          4                 ASSEMBLYMAN WRIGHT: I haven't seen it

          5  in total right now, but I will be examining it and

          6  getting back to Borough President and this

          7  Committee.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

          9  much.

         10                 Council Member Yassky.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you,

         12  Chairperson.

         13                 I just want to commend you and Chair

         14  Lopez and Brewer for your leadership on this. I

         15  think this is as important an issue as we're facing

         16  in government, the foundation of government, is

         17  democracy foundation, that's the right to vote, and

         18  the sad fact is that we're denying to some people

         19  the full right to vote. And I believe that the Shupe

         20  machines, I mean I used to serve on the New York

         21  City Bar Association Election Law Committee and

         22  there were a number of problems with the Shupe

         23  machines. The purpose of this hearing isn't going to

         24  go into all of them, it's folks with access, people

         25  with disabilities, but I think it's, to me, I
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          2  believe now that we violate the Americans With

          3  Disabilities Act by continuing the Shupe machines.

          4  That may not have been true when that was the best

          5  out there, but now there are technologies that make

          6  voting fully accessible to people with disabilities.

          7  I think we're required to do it, and even if we

          8  weren't it's the right thing to do.

          9                 So, I really just want to thank you

         10  for your efforts on behalf of this, and for the

         11  Chair's as well. Thank you for convening this

         12  hearing.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Council Member

         14  Nelson.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Thank you for

         16  your indulgence, Mr. Chair. As you know, I scheduled

         17  a speaking engagement in my district prior to

         18  notification of this meeting, and I'm quite late for

         19  that, so I appreciate you allowing me to vote in

         20  this much overdue, I believe, legislation, something

         21  that the City should have had a long time ago.

         22                 So, I'm pleased to vote aye for Reso

         23  443, Reso 444 and Reso 445.

         24                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you, and
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          2  so noted for the record, and I appreciate the fact

          3  that you were able to be here. I want to say to the

          4  panelists, thank you very much for your

          5  extraordinary testimony. I especially want to extend

          6  my appreciation to my Assemblyman, Keith Wright, the

          7  Chair of the New York State Assembly Committee on

          8  Election Law for taking the time to be here.

          9                 I know that you have a similar

         10  hearing taking place across the street at 250

         11  Broadway starting, I assume, around 12:00, and would

         12  encourage folks to participate in that one, as well.

         13                 Madam Borough President, thank you

         14  for your extraordinary report. I want to thank your

         15  experts for their interpretation and I'm sure their

         16  diligent work in that vain and your continued work

         17  on behalf of the people of the Borough of Manhattan

         18  and the City of New York.

         19                 We're now going to go to our next

         20  panel. This panel is going to bring forward on the

         21  State level, Mr. Peter Kusinski, who is the Deputy

         22  Executive Director of the New York State Board of

         23  Elections, and I believe is the Chair of the Task

         24  Force, the HAVA Task Force.

         25                 And I also want to acknowledge the
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          2  presence of the Executive Director, Mr. Thomas Wilke

          3  of the New York State Board of Elections. And let me

          4  just take a moment to publicly extend my great

          5  appreciation for the work of Mr. Wilke. I have known

          6  him almost 100 years now in a prior life and have

          7  been the beneficiary of his extraordinary commitment

          8  to the electoral process in the State of New York,

          9  and obviously his commitment especially to the

         10  people of the City of New York, in recognizing the

         11  importance of that involvement, and I also know the

         12  leadership that he has played, not only in the State

         13  but in the nation in trying to develop the HAVA Act.

         14                 And in fact, I should point out that

         15  when we as a Council in this particular Committee

         16  started on this journey to understand on behalf of

         17  the people of the City of New York the HAVA Act,

         18  that originally we had been in touch with his

         19  office, and in fact had scheduled a hearing with my

         20  colleagues from the respective chairs, then things

         21  changed but we're very happy to see that he's with

         22  us today finally, along with his colleague Peter

         23  Kusinski.

         24                 So, we'll now begin hearing your

         25  testimony, but first we'll have you sworn in by our
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          2  Counsel.

          3                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Good morning.

          4  Could you please raise your right hand.

          5                 Do you solemnly swear or affirm the

          6  testimony you're about to give is the truth, the

          7  whole truth and nothing but the truth?

          8                 MR. KUSINSKI: Yes.

          9                 MR. WILKE: I do.

         10                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Thank you.

         11  Could you each for the record state your name and

         12  affiliation?

         13                 MR. KUSINSKI: My name is Peter

         14  Kusinski, I'm the Deputy Director of the New York

         15  State Board of Elections.

         16                 MR. WILKE: And I'm Tom Wilke,

         17  Executive Director of the New York State Board of

         18  Elections.

         19                 MR. KUSINSKI: Thank you, Councilman,

         20  I appreciate the invitation today to appear here

         21  with my good friend Tom Wilke, and we just have a

         22  few brief remarks we'd like to make to the Council

         23  and then we're available for any questions that you

         24  may have.

         25                 I have been appointed, as was noted
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          2  earlier, the Chief Election Official for New York

          3  State for purposes of implementation of HAVA.

          4  Following my appointment to that post, I appointed a

          5  task force, which has been noted as well, which has

          6  been put together to implement the plan for New York

          7  State to make sure that New York State properly

          8  receives its fair share of federal money under HAVA.

          9                 It's important to keep in mind that

         10  the primary purpose that the plan serves for

         11  implementation purposes is to ensure that the State

         12  of New York receives its proper share of federal

         13  money. As again was noted earlier, the federal

         14  government has authorized 3. -- Or approximately $3

         15  billion over the next three years to be available

         16  nationwide for implementation of HAVA.

         17                 New York State may be eligible for

         18  hundreds of millions of dollars of that money in

         19  order to implement HAVA. The federal government

         20  requires that any state that wishes to access that

         21  money put together a plan for that purpose.

         22                 The federal dollars that are

         23  available this year are available during the federal

         24  fiscal year, and when we put the task force together

         25  it was under very time constraining circumstances
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          2  where the task force and the plan have to be done

          3  during the federal fiscal year.

          4                 Built into that process are two time

          5  frames that we're dealing with in getting the plan

          6  implemented.

          7                 One of those is that there's a

          8  mandatory 30-day public comment period, which

          9  follows the preparation of the draft plan.

         10                 Following that period there is a

         11  45-day period where the plan is to be published in

         12  the federal register.

         13                 Realizing that those two time frames

         14  take a substantial amount of time left in the

         15  federal fiscal year, it was our effort to make sure

         16  that we moved along on an expedited fashion to get

         17  the plan in place. Again, to ensure that the State

         18  of New York would receive their proper amount of

         19  funding.

         20                 There are two primary purposes that

         21  the HAVA Act serve, as far as implementation in New

         22  York. As has been noted, one is to ensure that all

         23  voting machines in New York are accessible to the

         24  disabled.

         25                 Secondly is to ensure that the State
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          2  puts together a statewide voter registration

          3  database.

          4                 The third provision of HAVA, which

          5  comes into play really revolves around provisional

          6  voting. Provisional voting is what we in New York

          7  know as affidavit voting, which has been available

          8  in New York for many, many years. So, it's

          9  fortunately New York does not have a great burden in

         10  implementing that portion of HAVA.

         11                 But clearly we do have a very real

         12  mandate under the federal law, to make sure that New

         13  York makes its voting systems available and

         14  accessible to the handicapped, and the disabled, and

         15  to make sure that the state puts together a

         16  statewide voter registration database.

         17                 I would just ask Tom if he has any

         18  comments to make to the Council. Tom has worked, Tom

         19  and I worked closely for 13 years at the State Board

         20  of Elections. Tom has worked very diligently at the

         21  national level in relation to putting together the

         22  HAVA bill at the federal level, and I would ask if

         23  he has a few comments to make, if he'd like to do

         24  so.

         25                 MR. WILKE: Thank you, Peter, and Mr.
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          2  Chairman. I need to first thank you for your

          3  comments, and to say that over those hundred years

          4  that I've known you, it gives me great pride to sit

          5  here and see you sitting where you're sitting today,

          6  along with my old friend Councilwoman Gale Brewer.

          7  Good to see you, too.

          8                 I'd like to take a couple of minutes,

          9  if I could, to comment on some of the earlier

         10  testimony, and first let me make it very clear that

         11  some of the testimony touched on the fact that what

         12  happened at the task force level, and I need to tell

         13  you that the fact that I'm sitting here today with

         14  my colleague of 13 years, says where I am in this

         15  process.

         16                 I take a paycheck from the state

         17  government, which I have taken at both the state and

         18  county level for 34 years, and as long as I take it,

         19  I'm going to serve the people of the State of New

         20  York, and that's what I intend to do.

         21                 Now, first of all, on the comments

         22  related to the accessibility requirements for voting

         23  assistance, in addition to my duties as Director of

         24  the State Board of Elections, in my spare time I

         25  chair a national committee which for the past eight
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          2  years, it is the Committee of the National

          3  Association of State Election Directors, and we

          4  began a process of qualifying and testing voting

          5  systems about eight or nine years ago, and I've been

          6  privileged to serve as the Chair of that Committee.

          7                 In addition, we have been actively

          8  involved in the development of the federal voting

          9  system standards going back to 1988, which I was

         10  involved then and right up until 2002 when I spent a

         11  number of months in Washington working on the

         12  revisions to those standards, which went into effect

         13  in 2002.

         14                 I can tell you that both HAVA and

         15  those standards have come a long way in the

         16  development of the necessary pieces that need to be

         17  done for the disabled community. I'm not fully

         18  satisfied with that and I don't think every member

         19  of the panel, both all of the people who serve on

         20  that Committee, and they come from technology, they

         21  come from technology, they come from local

         22  government, they come from a wide variety of

         23  jurisdictions throughout the United States. We need

         24  to do more. Certainly we are grateful to the efforts

         25  of Senator Chris Dodd of Connecticut, who was
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          2  primarily responsible for many of the disabled

          3  provisions that you see in HAVA and he was

          4  unwaivering in that commitment, all through the

          5  negotiation process on this bill.

          6                 Certainly while we have these new

          7  standards in place, and while we're putting all of

          8  this equipment that you see out there through this

          9  testing process, we know we need to do more, and in

         10  that vain, our Committee will be turning over that

         11  responsibility to the new Federal Election

         12  Assistance Commission, and a lot of that work in the

         13  area of standards and the development in what we

         14  hope to see in the future of standards, not just for

         15  the disabled community but for everyone, will be

         16  turned and will be done by the National Institutes

         17  of Standards and Technology and we are working now

         18  closely with them to transition our program into a

         19  brand new program.

         20                 I can tell you that there is

         21  unanimity in the members of that committee, that

         22  everything to be done to assure the full

         23  participation and access by the disabled community

         24  in future voting systems, and I've taken an oath and

         25  you can take my word for that.
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          2                 Secondly, I'd like to comment on some

          3  of the discussions, some of what was touched on by

          4  the Chairman I believe and in terms of the ID

          5  requirements.

          6                 As some of the people in this

          7  audience know very well, I was very actively

          8  engaged, with our own Senator, I might add, who was

          9  tremendously helpful in trying to change the

         10  position of certain senators with regard to this ID

         11  requirement. We worked very hard and we lobbied and

         12  we spent many, many long hours in the halls of the

         13  Longworth and the Russell Senate Office Building,

         14  trying to reach some compromise on what is now part

         15  of the HAVA in terms of ID requirements for

         16  first-time voters who register by mail, and we have

         17  to keep that always in the back of our mind.

         18                 We were not successful. Senator

         19  Schumer lead the fight on the floor of the Senate to

         20  try to allow, for example, and we were joined by

         21  Senator Whieden of Oregan, and Senator Bayman of New

         22  Mexico and others who worked with us to try to allow

         23  us here in New York to use the digitized signature

         24  verification process that we use now, and that was

         25  not acceptable to the Chief sponsor of that
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          2  requirement.

          3                 What we did manage to do over many

          4  months of work was to at least try the best we could

          5  to get the requirements for these ID, the ID

          6  situation, dealt with up front rather than the

          7  polling place.

          8                 My argument all the way along, before

          9  the House and the Senate, was I represent a state

         10  with a very diverse community and with a community

         11  in which there are a large number of homeless

         12  populations, and in which our polling places today

         13  are very busy and very full. And to have to ask

         14  certain people for ID and not others was going to

         15  create a significant operational problem at the

         16  polling place.

         17                 However, that went on deaf ears. What

         18  we did manage to get was the requirement to allow us

         19  to use the last four digits of the Social Security

         20  Number, the Driver's License, and, I might add, any

         21  other governmental database that we can hit for

         22  verification of that voter, so that when that voter

         23  goes to the polling place, we've been able to up

         24  front, through any source, get that information,

         25  then they won't have to show ID. And we had to work
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          2  very hard to get that piece.

          3                 Secondly, we did manage to get them

          4  to expand upon the list of things that will be

          5  acceptable, documents that will be acceptable for ID

          6  at the polls, and I know that -- we even tried at

          7  some point to sneak in our little signature

          8  verification process but they caught us and we

          9  weren't able to do that, but I think we got a

         10  significant amount of documents that are there in

         11  the bill and it's certainly that we can expand upon

         12  that weren't known about by the authors of this

         13  legislation.

         14                 I can tell you that we've already had

         15  discussion with our boards across the State,

         16  particularly here in New York City, and I think we

         17  need to make every effort to work very hard to get

         18  that information up front, to do a massive public

         19  education campaign so that those who at the very end

         20  get caught with this requirement, that, again, even

         21  though they will be able to vote an affidavit

         22  ballot, and our state process kicks in, and that

         23  vote will be verified and counted, we still need to

         24  do as much as we can up front to try to alleviate

         25  that problem at the polling place, and you'll have
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          2  my assurance as long as I sit in the chair that I

          3  presently occupy, I will do everything I can to make

          4  that happen. It was an unfortunate thing. We worked

          5  very hard to try to get that provision narrowed

          6  down, but we just were unable to do it. This bill

          7  had many twists and turns. It was a wing and a

          8  prayer that it passed when it passed in October. My

          9  feeling is that if it hadn't passed in October,

         10  given what happened in November, it probably

         11  wouldn't have passed at all.

         12                 But what it does do is it makes a

         13  significant federal dollar contribution to states.

         14  This is the first time in the history of our

         15  republic that federal dollars are flowing directly

         16  into the hands of the 13,000 election jurisdictions

         17  in this country. That's a good thing, and that's

         18  something that if states take that money and use it

         19  well, and develop a process that has a lot of

         20  foresight that it will be good for everyone. It will

         21  be good for the election jurisdiction and the

         22  election of the community, but it will also be very,

         23  very good for the voters.

         24                 So, those are my two comments, and I

         25  know Peter and I will be glad to take any questions

                                                            71

          1  GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS, MENTAL HEALTH, TECHNOLOGY

          2  you have.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

          4  much.

          5                 Let me first, you know, I love to

          6  flatter you because of our longstanding

          7  relationship, but you are really a great example of

          8  a public servant, and I say that not just to you

          9  personally but because we can't do this if there's

         10  not a unity up there in Albany on this, so the fact

         11  that you have asserted publicly that you're working

         12  together assures us in the City that there's a

         13  potential that will be done right.

         14                 If, on the other hand, you had

         15  testified that you were not working together, or you

         16  somehow allowed it to appear as if you were not

         17  working together, it would have assured us that

         18  things would not work out well for New York City.

         19                 So, I'm glad to hear that there's a

         20  team up there with you two.

         21                 And I want to say to you, Mr.

         22  Kusinski, that I want to express publicly my

         23  appreciation and this Committee's appreciation for

         24  your responsiveness to our requests. There was no

         25  himming and hawing and negotiating. You were asked
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          2  and you responded quite readily, and I know that

          3  there was conflict in terms of the Assemblyman

          4  rights, and you nevertheless are here and I'm sure

          5  you'll be there, and we know that we have limited

          6  jurisdiction, but nevertheless great responsibility

          7  to make sure that the well being of the people of

          8  the City of New York is taken care of in the

          9  implementation process that you have responsibility

         10  for. So I want to thank you for your responsiveness

         11  in that regard.

         12                 My opening remarks basically posited

         13  the major concern that I have, that we have, and

         14  that is that New York City get its fair share in

         15  recognition of the challenges and the possibilities

         16  of the HAVA Act. This is not to diminish the

         17  significance of any other jurisdiction, but we

         18  represent the people of the City of New York, we

         19  have jurisdiction oversight over the Board of

         20  Elections of the City of New York, and we know that

         21  the City of New York is the biggest constituency

         22  that you have to address in your implementation and

         23  would like to be assured that you appreciate that

         24  and how you will sort of show that.

         25                 MR. KUSINSKI: Well, let me just say,
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          2  Councilman, that first of all we in Albany clearly

          3  recognize that New York City is our largest

          4  jurisdiction.

          5                 Tom and I spend more time in New York

          6  City than any other jurisdiction in the State, other

          7  than Albany itself. We recognize that the City

          8  Board, as well as the City itself, has unique

          9  problems, unique interests, and we intend fully to

         10  be responsive to those.

         11                 I mean, let me just say, my main goal

         12  at this juncture is to ensure that the State of New

         13  York get its fair share of federal dollars.

         14                 I understand then after that kind of

         15  money is accessed from the federal government, that

         16  it becomes necessary for the State to ensure that

         17  its jurisdictions get their fair share of the

         18  federal dollars that fall into New York State.

         19                 Clearly New York City has the largest

         20  number of polling sites in the State of New York, we

         21  recognize that. It has the largest number of voting

         22  machines in the State of New York, we recognize

         23  that. It has the largest number of registered voters

         24  in the State of New York. We recognize all of that.

         25  And certainly in response to that we will try as
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          2  best we can to make sure that New York City gets,

          3  and we can ensure it will get its fair share of

          4  State help, we just want to make sure it gets its

          5  fair share of federal help as well.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

          7  much.

          8                 I want to -- I'm not going to pin you

          9  down on the specifics in the dollars and cents at

         10  this point in time, but obviously it's a concern

         11  that we're going to have to come back to as we get

         12  closer to the time to really look at the resources

         13  that are going to come into the City to be

         14  successful.

         15                 MR. KUSINSKI: Let me just, if I can

         16  just speak to that, Councilman.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Sure.

         18                 MR. KUSINSKI: In others, I know

         19  there's a lot of interest, and, frankly, we've had

         20  this same concern raised across the State from other

         21  county governments as to the kind of money that is

         22  going to be available to New York. I wish we could

         23  give a definitive answer on that question. At this

         24  point in time we don't have a definitive answer on

         25  that question.
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          2                 I'm not trying to be vague, or to

          3  avoid that issue, it's simply a matter that at the

          4  federal level they have not yet given us an

          5  indication of exactly how much money will be

          6  available to New York, we fully expect that there

          7  will be significant monies available to New York,

          8  but at this point we just can't give those kind of

          9  specific numbers.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Is there a

         11  formula being used to make those determinations?

         12                 MR. KUSINSKI: There is a formula

         13  being used, there's what they call Title 1 money,

         14  which is the initial money that the State is

         15  eligible to receive, and that is money that is

         16  available to states like ours that use lever

         17  machines, and that is being based on a formula, the

         18  number of precincts, or as they call them precincts,

         19  in our case election districts, that a particular

         20  state has, and there's a pot of money, $325 million,

         21  that's available at the federal level, and actually

         22  what's going on right now is the federal government

         23  is computing the number of election districts

         24  throughout the country that meet the requirements of

         25  Title 1 and then they're going to pro-rate that
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          2  money amongst the different states. That formula has

          3  not yet been devised, so we don't have a hard figure

          4  on how much we're going to receive.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Before I ask my

          6  next question I just want to acknowledge Council

          7  Member Helen Foster, Council Member Phil Reed, and I

          8  thought I saw Council Member Christine Quinn. As

          9  always looking over me. Thank you very much, I

         10  appreciate that support.

         11                 So, do you have any idea when this

         12  Title 1 money formulation will be finalized and the

         13  money will be sent to the states?

         14                 MR. KUSINSKI: Tom may actually have a

         15  better handle on that than I. He was in Washington

         16  last week and can maybe give you a better --

         17                 MR. WILKE: The Title 1 money which we

         18  refer to a the "quick and dirty" money, the interest

         19  of Congress at the time was that the first thing

         20  they wanted to do was get rid of punch card and

         21  lever machines, and they also wanted to offer to the

         22  states what they called some early money that had no

         23  strings attached that would jumpstart the planning

         24  process and the implementation process for the

         25  things they were required to do in Title 2. And, so,
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          2  they appropriated $325 million for a buyout of lever

          3  and punchcard systems and $325 million for what they

          4  call early implementation goals, that is using the

          5  money for your state planning process, using money

          6  as we would be doing to begin our process for

          7  statewide voter ed system, voter education campaign,

          8  any number of things to get the process moving, as

          9  Peter indicated, and that formula was based on the

         10  number of precincts that were in place for the

         11  November 2000 election.

         12                 And, so, there is presently a

         13  discrepancy about the set of figures that came from

         14  a private survey company that did it, and also

         15  through my association, the State Directory's

         16  Association, we surveyed our states.

         17                 There is a discrepancy on the total

         18  number of precincts, in which they were divided into

         19  this pot.

         20                 This does not assure, for example,

         21  that we will get what we will ask for, and that

         22  money is administered through the General Services

         23  Administration. They have made it very clear that

         24  they don't intend to stay in this forever, even

         25  though they're getting half a million dollars to
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          2  administer it.

          3                 It will be, it will be a quick

          4  application process. It will be via the Internet,

          5  the application will be done over the Internet, will

          6  be up supposedly by the end of this week, middle of

          7  next week. It will shut down at the end of the

          8  month, I believe April 29th. They will then take all

          9  of the requests from all of the states, and they

         10  will recalculate based upon the number, the pot of

         11  money that is available. So, we will know then how

         12  much everyone gets, depending how much everyone asks

         13  for.

         14                 Then there is the second pot of

         15  money, which is in Title 2 money, and that is done

         16  on the basis of the State Planning process, and the

         17  State Plan that the Chief State Election official,

         18  Mr. Kusinski, will oversee, and that process is for

         19  implementing the other provisions in the Act,

         20  provisional voting, statewide voter registration

         21  system, all of the new requirements for voting

         22  machines.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Can I just ask a

         24  quick intervention?

         25                 MR. WILKE: Yes, sir.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: That 325, the

          3  $325 million, the "quick and dirty" money, is that

          4  part of the 3.9 billion?

          5                 MR. WILKE: Yes. Yes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay.

          7                 MR. WILKE: That's part of it. And

          8  just for the buyout piece, 325.

          9                 And we really don't know. I've talked

         10  to people, a lot of punchcard jurisdictions, they

         11  don't even know whether they're going to apply yet,

         12  because they don't know what they want yet.

         13                 We have basically said to everyone

         14  apply, you don't have to decide what you're going to

         15  buy immediately. Take the money, put it in the bank,

         16  and as long as you have that system in place by

         17  11-2006, you're going to be fine, and that's what

         18  you have to do.

         19                 There is a provision in the law,

         20  however, that if you take the money for the buyout,

         21  that buyout money that you must replace every single

         22  voting machine, you have to replace the total

         23  system. That was the deal.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: So, in other

         25  words, there is one string attached to the "quick
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          2  and dirty" money, which is that if you take it,

          3  you've got to spend it on new voting equipment.

          4                 MR. WILKE: And you have to replace

          5  everything.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: And you have to

          7  replace all of it.

          8                 MR. WILKE: Yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: So, for

         10  instance, if New York State were to take it, then

         11  New York City would have to replace all of its lever

         12  voting machines.

         13                 MR. WILKE: That's right.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: And by what date

         15  would they have to replace?

         16                 MR. WILKE: 11-2006.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: It's all 2006?

         18                 MR. WILKE: Yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay.

         20                 And do you have any idea when that

         21  money becomes available?

         22                 I know you just described the process

         23  of applying for it, et cetera, but when do they

         24  anticipate ideally for that money to start to flow

         25  for those jurisdictions that might want to take
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          2  advantage of it?

          3                 MR. WILKE: Immediately. They tell us

          4  immediately. They tell us once they shut down the

          5  application process at the end of the month, now

          6  this is for the early months.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: The end of the

          8  month.

          9                 MR. WILKE: Yes, the end of April.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Of April, okay.

         11                 MR. WILKE: The money will flow to the

         12  State within two weeks.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Just one final

         14  question then I'll go to my colleagues.

         15                 So, are there any requirements in

         16  place to address the concerns that are handicapped

         17  with that quick and dirty money?

         18                 The one condition that you mentioned

         19  was all equipment had to be replaced, but would that

         20  equipment have to be handicap accessible?

         21                 MR. WILKE: Absolutely.

         22                 MR. KUSINSKI: Yes.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay. Thank you.

         24                 Council Member Brewer.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you very
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          2  much. Nice to see you, Tom, as always.

          3                 I have a couple of questions. One is

          4  that when the meetings take place, I guess there are

          5  now minutes of these meetings, are they up on the

          6  Internet?

          7                 MR. KUSINSKI: Yes. Yes, they are.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Are there New

          9  York City meetings, or are they all being held in

         10  Albany?

         11                 MR. KUSINSKI: All the meetings were

         12  held in Albany.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Is there a

         14  possibility of one taking place here?

         15                 MR. KUSINSKI: Let me maybe take you

         16  through the process as to how I anticipate this

         17  happening. Is that once the plan is put in place

         18  then there is this public comment period that has to

         19  occur under the federal law, a 30-day comment

         20  period.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: When does that

         22  start?

         23                 MR. KUSINSKI: That has not started.

         24  The plan has yet to be finally written. Once that's

         25  done and the public comment period begins, we do
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          2  anticipate having public hearings.

          3                 Clearly one of those public hearings

          4  will be in New York City. That would provide the

          5  public with an opportunity to comment on the plan

          6  itself.

          7                 I would just add, by the way, in

          8  relation to those task force meetings that were held

          9  in Albany, those were all open meetings. These were

         10  not closed meetings by any means of just task force

         11  members. These are open to the public. In fact, a

         12  goodly, you know, number of the public attended. I

         13  see, you know, a number of the people in the room

         14  here today attended our task force meetings, as

         15  well.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: It would be great

         17  to have, you know, like an e-mail list so people

         18  know. That's another way you could do it. You know,

         19  you could just do it through members, Council, but

         20  some suggestions.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Let me just ask

         22  a question that's on this line.

         23                 It was described as "too male and too

         24  pale," what about New York City? Is New York getting

         25  its representation on this task force? According to
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          2  its size --

          3                 MR. KUSINSKI: I can't say that the

          4  task force was necessarily done on a geographic

          5  basis. There was a requirement in the federal law

          6  that the two largest jurisdictions in each state be

          7  represented on the task force. Commissioner Kellner,

          8  from the City Board of Elections, and John Ravitz,

          9  the Executive Director, were both on the task force

         10  from the City, the second largest jurisdiction being

         11  Suffolk County. Other than that there was no

         12  geographic requirement, but there were those two

         13  members from New York City on the task force.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Is there any

         15  other jurisdiction with more than two members?

         16                 MR. KUSINSKI: Not that I am aware of.

         17  But I would say that most of the membership were not

         18  representing jurisdictions, they were representing

         19  other interests. For example, the Department of

         20  Motor Vehicles was there because there's a

         21  requirement under the law that the new State Voter

         22  Registration System be matched up with Department of

         23  Motor Vehicle Records.

         24                 The Office for Technology, for

         25  example, is on there because of the great
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          2  technological needs. The Division of the Budget was

          3  on there for that reason. Other, there were two

          4  other election Commissioners that were on this task

          5  force for that reason. There were four members of

          6  the State Legislature that were on this Commission

          7  for that reason.

          8                 So, the groups that were represented,

          9  it wasn't a geographic distribution, really, it was

         10  individuals who represented entities that are

         11  important to developing the process and actually

         12  implementing HAVA in New York State.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: So these are

         14  more like stakeholders I guess you would say?

         15                 MR. KUSINSKI: Well, the term in the

         16  law was stakeholders and certainly that's the way we

         17  interpreted, or I interpreted that term

         18  stakeholders, people who had a direct need and

         19  interest in getting this particular statute up and

         20  running in New York State.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: What about the

         22  criticism of it being too male and pale?

         23                 MR. KUSINSKI: Well, again, I can't

         24  say that there was any, certainly there was no

         25  intention of making it any particular make-up in
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          2  that sense. As I say, the make-up was devised based

          3  upon the need to have certain people at the table

          4  who were involved because of their expertise in a

          5  particular area, and that was what drove really

          6  determining who was going to be on the task force.

          7                 Again, however, I just want to make

          8  mention that I don't think there was any intention,

          9  nor was it anticipated, that the task force would

         10  represent every possible group that is interested in

         11  this legislation. We fully understand that. That's

         12  why we made those meetings open to the public, we

         13  allowed the public to speak at those meetings. There

         14  was time set at the beginning and at the end of each

         15  meeting where the public had an opportunity to have

         16  input.

         17                 In addition, there is the comment

         18  period, once the plan is put together for public

         19  input, and all of those comments that are made

         20  during that process will be taken into account when

         21  the plan is finally sent to Washington.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Councilwoman

         23  Brewer.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you.

         25                 I wanted to ask about the fact, when
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          2  this identification goes into effect, is that in the

          3  fall? And the reason I ask is, I understand it's a

          4  federal mandate, and I understand that Tom Wilke and

          5  others try to change it and were successful,

          6  although they were able to expand it, but I must

          7  admit, even folks just coming from another event who

          8  don't have, they've been at work, they've been at

          9  school, they don't have their ID, even that's going

         10  to be problematic in our City where you run to get

         11  there before 9:00 and you are frazzled from your

         12  different activities during the day.

         13                 How is that, is it going into effect

         14  this year?

         15                 MR. KUSINSKI: The federal law only

         16  affects federal elections.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Right.

         18                 MR. KUSINSKI: So the requirements

         19  under the federal law kick in for the 2004 federal

         20  election.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay, so, that's

         22  where the ID will be required?

         23                 MR. KUSINSKI: That's correct. You

         24  know, and if I could just spend a minute myself on

         25  the ID issue, because I think it is important to
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          2  understand this, I know Tom spent some time on it,

          3  but you should understand that this ID requirement

          4  is a very limited requirement.

          5                 First of all, it only applies to

          6  persons who have registered by mail.

          7                 Secondly, it only applied to those

          8  people who have never previously voted in the

          9  federal election.

         10                 Third, it only applies to those

         11  people who do not provide either a driver's license

         12  number or the last four digits of their Social

         13  Security number.

         14                 Even then if in fact you don't meet

         15  any one of those and you do have to provide ID,

         16  there's two ways to do it: One is when you register,

         17  which as Tom indicated is certainly our preference,

         18  is that we do this up front and not at the time that

         19  you're voting. And, you know, secondly, you can do

         20  it when you're voting. But thirdly, if you end up at

         21  your polling site and you need ID but you failed to

         22  bring it, you are still allowed to vote. You are

         23  allowed to vote on a paper ballot and that paper

         24  ballot is still counted, as long as you're a

         25  qualified voter.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay, I

          3  understand all that. I would just say, I'm sure

          4  you've been in a polling booth in our City.

          5                 MR. KUSINSKI: Yes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: And I'm sure you

          7  know it's very confusing.

          8                 MR. KUSINSKI: Yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: And that's just

         10  putting it all very mildly.

         11                 And also I can tell you that the buzz

         12  out there will be, you know, one in which young

         13  people in particular, those people whom we're trying

         14  to get to vote, you sort of listed them, those are

         15  the non-prime who are harder to get to the polls,

         16  and if we don't do the advertising that Tom

         17  mentioned correctly, which I hope will be much

         18  discussed as to how to make the best advertisement.

         19  I have no idea what funds.  Marketing in this City

         20  is very tight, given our budget, it will be a, hey,

         21  man, we can't vote because we don't have ID.

         22                 That's just one of the things that

         23  we'll have to confront. And it is really a problem.

         24                 MR. KUSINSKI: Well, again, if I can

         25  just say, I think that's why it's very important
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          2  early on for people to understand what the scope of

          3  this ID requirement is. I don't want people to feel

          4  that there's a huge number necessarily of people who

          5  need it.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: I'm saying it's

          7  confusing --

          8                 MR. KUSINSKI: I understand.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: And to break it

         10  down in a public campaign is going to be

         11  challenging.

         12                 Then finally this database. You

         13  mentioned that two purposes, one is the machines to

         14  be accessible and the other is the database; what do

         15  you mean by database? I spend my whole life with

         16  databases.

         17                 MR. KUSINSKI: I'm sorry. It's a

         18  statewide voter registration database. In essence,

         19  right now in the State of New York all voter

         20  registration information is contained at the county

         21  level or in the City of New York at the City level.

         22  What this federal law mandates is that from now on

         23  all states maintain their voter registration

         24  information at the state level, so that there will

         25  be one statewide database that will contain every
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          2  registered voter in the State of New York.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: I never know what

          4  a registered voter is. Is there somebody who hasn't

          5  voted in a few years? How do you define registered

          6  voter?

          7                 MR. KUSINSKI: Well, a registered

          8  voter is a person who is registered to vote, and has

          9  not lost that right to vote through, you know, a

         10  number of processes. Probably the most common

         11  process is where you move and then you fail to vote

         12  in two consecutive federal elections, and then

         13  ultimately under the NVRA which is another federal

         14  act, you can be purged from the system. At that

         15  point you would have to register.

         16                 But other than that, you know, right

         17  now the State of New York has over 11 million

         18  registered voters, and that total number of

         19  registered voters will have to be maintained at the

         20  state level.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay. So, if you

         22  go to jail, then you are checking the list against

         23  the Correction Department?

         24                 MR. KUSINSKI: Correct.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: What are you
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          2  doing about that?

          3                 MR. KUSINSKI: Well, right now, in

          4  fact that's happening right now.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Not well.

          6                 MR. KUSINSKI: That may be. But at

          7  this point there is an obligation in New York State

          8  Law that anybody who is convicted of a felony and is

          9  sent to prison and loses their right to vote must be

         10  purged from the system.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: One thing, just

         12  as an aside, I know that Council Member Perkins

         13  feels strongly about this and so do I. I want to

         14  make sure that people who get out of jail, who serve

         15  their time, who have completed everything, are told

         16  by the world that they can reregister and they have

         17  the right to vote. I can't tell you how many people

         18  tell me on the street and judges in fact tell people

         19  you'll never be able to vote again. That's something

         20  that I want to have as part of this campaign.

         21                 Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.

         22                 MR. KUSINSKI: Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Let me ask one

         24  final question, then we'll hear from Councilwoman

         25  Lopez.

                                                            93

          1  GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS, MENTAL HEALTH, TECHNOLOGY

          2                 I asked you with regard to the

          3  composition of the Task Force if it was in terms of

          4  stakeholders, and as I read the law, on the process

          5  for development and filing of plan, publication by

          6  commission, stakeholders is defined to include

          7  representative groups of individuals with

          8  disabilities and other citizens appointed that have

          9  a stake, and I'm just wondering, other than the

         10  disabled community, I would assume that communities

         11  of color, women, et cetera, would be considered

         12  amongst those stakeholders. According to this law.

         13                 MR. KUSINSKI: I understand. And as

         14  you can see, Councilman, you know, the term

         15  stakeholder is not defined other than to say that

         16  people with disabilities are to be represented on

         17  that task force.

         18                 And, again, I don't expect and never

         19  expected that that task force would represent every

         20  possible portion of the community that is interested

         21  in this bill. Certainly when it comes to voting

         22  there's a huge interest, as it should be, but we did

         23  try, or I tried to put together a task force that I

         24  felt represented the people that needed to be there,

         25  and then by opening up those meetings to other
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          2  people from the community who wished to attend, who

          3  wished to speak, that we could include those people

          4  into that task force function.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Is this a task

          6  force like in the process that can be fixed,

          7  corrected? If you have discovered needs and

          8  criticisms that have some legitimacy? Or is this a

          9  task force that has not gone to, you know, be

         10  responsive to certain types of criticisms and

         11  concerns that will give it more credibility?

         12                 MR. KUSINSKI: Well, I certainly think

         13  they're being responsive to criticism. You know, one

         14  of the reasons I'm here today is not only to speak

         15  to the Council, also to listen, and I intend to go

         16  to the Assembly hearing as well, to listen, because

         17  I think that's important.

         18                 But, you know, I think that the task

         19  force is being responsive to any member of the

         20  community that wishes to have input into this plan

         21  and wishes to express any interest.

         22                 As I said, we have had any number of

         23  persons from the community come and speak at those

         24  task force meetings. You know, the problem that we

         25  have, if there is one, is that the time constraints,
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          2  as I indicated under the federal law, are so severe,

          3  that it is difficult to maybe extend the process

          4  beyond a certain point in time. In order for us to

          5  ensure that we receive our fair share of federal

          6  dollars, we must get this plan to Washington during

          7  the current federal fiscal year. And in order to

          8  ensure that that happens with the time frames that

          9  are built into the statute, it's necessary to move

         10  forward and to get the plan written, and to get the

         11  plan out for public comment, and then to get the

         12  plan published in the federal register and then make

         13  sure that Washington has our plan in a timely

         14  fashion.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Well, you're my

         16  guests, and I appreciate your attendance, so I won't

         17  push this at the moment. But I think I'm clear to my

         18  concerns. I love John Ravitz, and I love Doug

         19  Kellner, but two white guys representing New York

         20  City does not, you know, measure up to what might be

         21  the best representation of the stakeholders in New

         22  York, with all due respect to them and respect to

         23  you, I just want us to evolve to the point where we

         24  can feel real, like confident and like cheerleaders

         25  for this task force, because of, you know, it's so
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          2  important.

          3                 MR. KUSINSKI: Well, let me just

          4  mention one thing, that Doug Kellner was the

          5  appointment of Chairman Farrell of the democratic

          6  party.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Right.

          8                 MR. KUSINSKI: So it was Chairman

          9  Farrell that chose Mr. Kellner --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: No, I

         11  understand. I love them both, as I said, but I just

         12  want to see us try to make this even more reflective

         13  of the stakeholders.

         14                 Councilwoman Lopez.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: I have a friend

         16  whose name is Cajola Brown, believe it or not, and

         17  she is one of the vice presidents of Unite, and

         18  besides being the vice president of Unite, she's a

         19  doctor. She diagnosed a very deep illness that our

         20  society have, which is called PMS, too pale, too

         21  male, too much testerone, and that's the illness

         22  that we're talking about here.

         23                 Then I'm going to call Cajola Brown

         24  to ask her to come and treat this particular task

         25  force, because she will cure it very quickly. It
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          2  happen to be that she is an African-American woman,

          3  too. Then I am reading the instruction under what

          4  this particular task force needed to be created for

          5  structure. It said the Chief State Election Official

          6  should develop the state plan under this pattern

          7  (sic) through a committee of appropriate

          8  individuals, including the Chief Election Officials

          9  of the two most popular jurisdictions within the

         10  state, or the local officials, stakeholders

         11  (including representatives of groups of individuals

         12  with disabilities), and other citizens appointed for

         13  such purposes by the Chief State Election Official.

         14                 If I am not mistaken, and you need to

         15  correct me, how many people with disabilities are in

         16  this task force currently that reside in the

         17  metropolitan area of New York City?

         18                 MR. KUSINSKI: There were two members

         19  of the community with disabilities that were

         20  appointed to the task force. I'm frankly not sure

         21  where they reside.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Then we don't know

         23  if they are part of this area, whatsoever?

         24                 MR. KUSINSKI: No.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: What kind of
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          2  disability do they have?

          3                 MR. KUSINSKI: Well, one person

          4  represented the Independent Living Centers, and he

          5  is the executive director in Albany, and the other

          6  member is the -- he's the advocate for the disabled

          7  for the City of New York.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: How many people of

          9  color are in the task force at this point?

         10                 MR. KUSINSKI: Well, Chairman Wright

         11  is on the task force. As I mentioned, Chairman

         12  Farrell had an appointment to the task force and

         13  chose Doug Kellner.

         14                 I'm not sure of all the appointees

         15  who might be of color.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: How many women are

         17  in the task force?

         18                 MR. KUSINSKI: Offhand I'm not sure.

         19  I'd have to go through the list and that would take

         20  me a few --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: One, two, three,

         22  four? Zero?

         23                 MR. KUSINSKI: No, no, no, no, it's

         24  not zero. I'm sure of that.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: We are very easy

                                                            99

          1  GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS, MENTAL HEALTH, TECHNOLOGY

          2  to identify not by name, just by gender. Are we one,

          3  two, three, four? How many? How many?

          4                 MR. KUSINSKI: I think three.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Three?

          6                 MR. KUSINSKI: I think three.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: I thank you very

          8  much for that information. My last point, I am

          9  curious to know --

         10                 MR. KUSINSKI: Four, maybe four.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  -- In New York

         12  City we have the lawsuit that I mentioned before in

         13  regard of people who are homeless.

         14                 MR. KUSINSKI: I'm sorry, let me just

         15  correct you, there are five women on the task force.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Five women.

         17                 MR. KUSINSKI: I'm sorry.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: That's getting

         19  very good. It's growing very nicely.

         20                 MR. KUSINSKI: I just wanted to be

         21  correct.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Okay. None of them

         23  are women of color, right?

         24                 MR. KUSINSKI: No, I don't believe so.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Okay, thank you.
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          2                 I mentioned before that in New York

          3  City we have a lawsuit so many years ago that

          4  resulted in the courts deciding that homeless people

          5  have the right to be registered.

          6                 MR. KUSINSKI: Right.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: How are you going

          8  to deal with that situation when -- I happen to know

          9  a lot about that population because I used to work

         10  in there, and I know for a fact that they don't have

         11  identification, that they don't have bills, because

         12  they don't pay phones, they don't pay rent, how we

         13  going to deal with that particular population in

         14  order to be able to get them registered to vote?

         15                 MR. KUSINSKI: Well, I know, you know,

         16  those people are already registered to vote or many

         17  of them are, and the ID requirements will not affect

         18  those people who are presently registered and have

         19  been voting. So, you know, that will not be a

         20  concern to those people who meet that particular

         21  qualification.

         22                 As far as how the state is going to

         23  implement the ID requirements for people who do not

         24  meet, you know, the HAVA issues, that is not fully

         25  determined yet.
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          2                 Just understand what this plan that

          3  is being put together right now will do, it will

          4  really merely provide a framework for where the

          5  State has to be by 2004, as far as implementing HAVA

          6  which is the first year that the State is going to

          7  be required to implement some of these provisions,

          8  for example, the ID requirements. I can't say to you

          9  that that plan intends or will identify, you know,

         10  specifics as to exactly how certain members of the

         11  population are going to be accommodated in

         12  particular ways like this, and certainly you raise a

         13  good issue. That there is that population that will

         14  not have the needed, possibly needed identification

         15  for voting purposes, and there will have to be some

         16  effort and some availability within the state to get

         17  proper identification for those people if they need

         18  it in order to continue them eligible to vote.

         19                 You're right, we're fully aware that

         20  there's a federal court case that mandates that

         21  homeless persons be allowed to vote like everybody

         22  else, and certainly we have to be in compliance with

         23  that. And part of that now will be ensuring that

         24  those people have identification if they need it in

         25  order to be eligible to vote at the polling place.
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          2                 I would say that as I indicated to

          3  you earlier, that if a person comes to the polling

          4  place and they do not have identification, they will

          5  not be denied the right to vote, what they will be

          6  asked to do is vote on an affidavit ballot.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: I understand that.

          8                 MR. KUSINSKI: So it is not really a

          9  denial of the right to vote, it at that point

         10  becomes then whether they vote on the voting machine

         11  or they vote on a paper ballot.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: The problem with

         13  that is going to be the training and without these

         14  regulations in New York City, we constantly had to

         15  go through the process in which the polling workers,

         16  and the training that they receive some time is not

         17  as accurate as should be. Many people get turned

         18  away from their right to vote.

         19                 We're going to have a challenge here

         20  to make sure that the polling workers are going to

         21  know clearly what the new regulations are.

         22                 In closing, I just want to say this:

         23  I trust my colleague in government, John Ravitz,

         24  without question I will work with him hand-to-hand,

         25  but in that context hand-to-hand, I need to be
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          2  present at the table also to make sure that he and I

          3  can represent our constituency very accurately. And

          4  I know that he will feel the same thing, if I had

          5  been the only representative in there. He will not

          6  feel so comfortable unless we work hand-to-hand.

          7                 Then I think that the problem with

          8  the Commission is clear, and I invite you, with all

          9  the love I can invite you, to fix the problems that

         10  are beginning to be very clear questionable in terms

         11  of representation, equality, and fairness.

         12                 Thank you.

         13                 MR. KUSINSKI: Thank you. And let me

         14  just make one other comment as it relates to your

         15  issue of training, and I think that is a very

         16  important issue that the City faces as we implement

         17  these new programs throughout the state. We're very

         18  hopeful that there will be significant federal

         19  dollars available as we go through this process, and

         20  I might add this program on the federal level is a

         21  three-year program, ending in 2006. But that we're

         22  very hopeful that if the federal government

         23  appropriates their funding for this project, that

         24  there will be funding available from the federal

         25  government to assist the state in training its poll
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          2  workers, in educating its voters to make sure that

          3  they understand the new systems and that they know

          4  how to work with the new systems so that the local

          5  jurisdictions like the City of New York will not be

          6  left on its own to have to fund the necessary

          7  components of a training program and an education

          8  program as we go through purchasing new voting

          9  machines and implementing these new aspects of HAVA.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         11  much. I again want to thank you for your

         12  responsiveness and for your presence.

         13                 I want to let you know that we see

         14  this as the beginning of a working relationship and

         15  we'll be in touch with you to help you make sure

         16  that New York City gets its fair share.

         17                 One last comment and question I

         18  believe from Council Member Peter Vallone, Jr.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Thank you.

         20  It's not a question, don't worry. I would just like

         21  you gentlemen to know that this entire committee

         22  does not agree with the sentiments which were just

         23  echoed by Chairman Perkins regarding two white guys.

         24  If anyone ever came before this Committee and my

         25  Committee or any place in the Council and said that
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          2  two black guys were not qualified solely based on

          3  their skin color, I would not allow that to happen,

          4  and I will not allow this to happen either.

          5                 I assume my esteemed colleague meant

          6  that diversity is a worthy goal and we should strive

          7  for it, and with that he and I can agree.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Of course I

          9  didn't say they weren't qualified. Quite the

         10  opposite. I said I love them it's just that the City

         11  is more diverse than that and we should try to have

         12  that task force reflect that kind of diversity. But

         13  I appreciate your participation, and as always, your

         14  comments.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: I believe you

         16  said we may not be best represented by two white

         17  guys, and that I take issue with.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay, you're

         19  entitled to that, for the record.

         20                 Thank you very much, again. And look

         21  forward to continuing to work with you.

         22                 MR. KUSINSKI: Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Our next panel

         24  will be representatives for the New York City Board

         25  of Elections. Please come forward.
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          2                 While they're coming forward, we're

          3  going to take a vote for some of the members who

          4  have to leave.

          5                 We'll start with Council Member Phil

          6  Reed.

          7                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Resolution No.

          8  445 has changed and been amended. The new title is

          9  Resolution Supporting the Provisions of the Help

         10  America Vote Act of 2002, United States Public Law

         11  107252, which mandates that access to voting be

         12  provided for all people with disabilities and

         13  establish national standards for machine and polling

         14  place access, but calling on Congress to repeal

         15  subsection B of Section 303 of the Help America Vote

         16  Act 2002 which requires that first-time voters

         17  present a photo identification or a certain type of

         18  document that shows the name and address of the

         19  voter as a condition for casting their vote in

         20  person under certain circumstances.

         21                 COUNCIL CLERK: Reed.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Aye.

         23                 COUNCIL CLERK: Quinn.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Aye.

         25                 COUNCIL CLERK: Vallone.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: I vote aye on

          3  all except Resolution 445-A, which seeks to repeal

          4  that section of the HAVA Act requiring

          5  identification. I do not believe it is too much to

          6  ask to have people present identification at the

          7  voting booth.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

          9  much.

         10                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Good afternoon,

         11  members of the panel. Could you raise your right

         12  hand?

         13                 Do you solemnly swear or affirm the

         14  testimony you are about to give is the truth, whole

         15  truth and nothing but the truth?

         16                 MR. RAVITZ: I do.

         17                 MR. RICHMAN: I do.

         18                 MR. GONZALEZ: I do.

         19                 MS. GREEN-PERKINS: I do.

         20                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Could you

         21  please, for the record, state your name and your

         22  affiliation?

         23                 MR. RAVITZ: John Ravitz, Executive

         24  Director of New York City Board of Elections.

         25                 MR. GONZALEZ: George Gonzalez, Deputy
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          2  Executive Director, Board of Elections.

          3                 MS. GREEN-PERKINS: Pamela

          4  Green-Perkins, Administrative Manager, New York City

          5  Board of Elections.

          6                 MR. RICHMAN: Steven Richman, General

          7  Counsel for the Board of Elections.

          8                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Please proceed.

          9                 MR. RAVITZ: Thank you very much.

         10                 Thank you, Chairmans Perkins, Lopez,

         11  Brewer.

         12                 Since becoming the Executive Director

         13  of the Board of Elections, a top priority for my

         14  senior staff and I have been developing strategies

         15  for implementing the complex new federal law to

         16  American Vote Act, HAVA, for the City of New York.

         17                 The Board of Elections anticipates

         18  that this body will work with us as we begin this

         19  journey to implement the new HAVA legislation. This

         20  landmarked legislation will create new challenges

         21  for the Board and the voters of the City.

         22                 During the past few months we have

         23  begun to develop plans to ensure that as we upgrade

         24  the City's voting machine, provide better access for

         25  voters with disabilities and limited English

                                                            109

          1  GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS, MENTAL HEALTH, TECHNOLOGY

          2  proficiency, and requiring identification at the

          3  poll sites for first-time voters who register by

          4  mail, we do everything in our power to give voters

          5  as much information as soon as possible.

          6                 Under HAVA a state task force has

          7  been created, which on the record on numerous

          8  occasions has already been mentioned that I am a

          9  member, that is writing the state plan on how New

         10  York will implement HAVA.

         11                 While waiting for the plan to be

         12  adopted and precleared by the US Department of

         13  Justice, the Board has undertaken planning to

         14  effectively manage our responsibilities under HAVA.

         15                 In addition, we have taken some steps

         16  that will enable us to move forward when that plan

         17  is approved.

         18                 Funding implementation is a major

         19  question to be answered, specifically how much money

         20  the City of New York will receive for two major

         21  provisions of HAVA, one, purchasing new voting

         22  machines; and, two, educating voters and election

         23  inspectors on the new identification procedures that

         24  they will have to comply with.

         25                 Even as we wait for the answers to
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          2  those questions as well as many others, it is

          3  important for your Committees to know that there are

          4  proactive steps that the Board has taken in key

          5  areas.

          6                 The Commissioners and the staff of

          7  the Board have had the opportunity to see new voting

          8  machines in several forums over the last few years.

          9                 In August of last year, the

         10  Commission has directed our Electronic Voting System

         11  Department to begin scheduling demonstration of

         12  machines at the Commissioners' Tuesday meetings.

         13                 We contacted about 30 vendors, both

         14  national and international, and invited them to come

         15  to the board, and to date about a dozen machines

         16  have been demonstrated at Board meetings and both

         17  members of the Board and members of the public

         18  attending those meetings were able to try the

         19  machines and discuss their features with the

         20  vendors.

         21                 We have seen a variety of machines.

         22  Some machines continue to utilize the printed

         23  ballot, others display the ballot electronically, a

         24  feature that allows a choice of ballot and a choice

         25  of language to be made, like an ATM, and some give a
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          2  single-page presentation of the ballot, the full

          3  face.

          4                 Others present the ballot on

          5  successive pages. All of the machines include

          6  features that facilitate voting without assistance

          7  and with confidentiality for persons with

          8  disabilities.

          9                 The City has over 6,000 election

         10  districts. It is too soon to provide a cost

         11  analysis, but some estimating can be done.

         12                 If we continue to be restricted to

         13  the large full-face ballot machine, prices range

         14  approximately from $5,500 to $7,000 per machine. We

         15  would need about 7,000 machines, one for each

         16  election district, plus doubles and spares.

         17                 The smaller touch screen machines are

         18  in the range of 2,000, to 2,000, 3,000 dollars each,

         19  but more than 7,000 machines would be needed.

         20                 Voting time estimates are longer, so

         21  additional machines are needed at each poll site, as

         22  well as ancillary equipment.

         23                 In addition to the approximately $45

         24  million estimated for the machines themselves, at

         25  least another 20 to 30 percent, 9 to 13 million, may
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          2  be estimated for additional cost that will be

          3  incurred.

          4                 Such costs are for items such as

          5  related computer development, vendor support during

          6  initial implementation, training of both our staff

          7  and at least 30,000 poll workers, and educating the

          8  voting public about the new technologies.

          9                 We at the Board are beginning to put

         10  together a responsible plan that will provide that

         11  the use of the new machines be implemented in phase

         12  segments. Starting in only a part of the City allows

         13  us to provide concentrated support and tighter

         14  management and control.

         15                 It also gives us the opportunity to

         16  evaluate our experience. We then have the chance to

         17  adjust procedures, enhance training for Board

         18  personnel, and information to voters, and generally

         19  improve everything for the next expanded

         20  implementation.

         21                 It's the Board's opinion that at

         22  least three steps of implementation are needed to

         23  meet a 2006 deadline for full implementation.

         24                 We need to start in one or two

         25  boroughs in the general election in 2004, expand in
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          2  2005 and be fully implemented Citywide for the 2006

          3  primary election.

          4                 This means that a machine must be

          5  identified, and once that is done, we must begin the

          6  development of our training and public information

          7  programs, ready our warehouse facilities and

          8  complete related computer interfaces in 2003.

          9                 HAVA sets out the initial framework

         10  within which all the states will make choices.

         11                 New York State is establishing a plan

         12  that determines how the requirements of the federal

         13  law will be met in New York. Realistically speaking,

         14  because of the large volume of machines needed in

         15  the City and the scope of the transition for us, we

         16  expect that the Board of Elections here in the City

         17  will have to play a key role in the process as it

         18  relates to new voting machines.

         19                 HAVA sets forth ID requirements,

         20  which have been mentioned already today, for the

         21  first-time voters who register to vote by mail.

         22                 The new ID requirements is effective

         23  for new registration of voters who have not yet

         24  voted in New York State as of January 1st, 2003.

         25                 In order to comply with the law, the
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          2  Board developed new procedures to process code voter

          3  registration. These new processing procedures enable

          4  the Board to identify and track voter registration

          5  applications received by mail and registrations

          6  received in person.

          7                 Since January 1st of this year we

          8  have and continue to identify in code all voter

          9  registration forms to distinguish between those

         10  mailed to the Board or delivered by other means.

         11                 With this information, we will be

         12  able to communicate to those voters who will be

         13  asked to provide us with additional information

         14  required by HAVA for the period of January 1st

         15  through April 3rd, 2003.

         16                 For the period of January -- let me

         17  just finish that statement. For the period of

         18  January 1st through April 3rd, 2003, the Board has

         19  received over 10,000 mail registration forms for new

         20  voters. It is our understanding that these mail

         21  registrants will be subject to the new

         22  identification requirements imposed by HAVA.

         23                 At the same time, the Board staff has

         24  begun planning on the changes needed to our poll

         25  books, to flag those voters who will be asked to
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          2  provide identification when they come to their

          3  polling places in 2004.

          4                 Educating both the City voters and

          5  our employees regarding the HAVA legislation will be

          6  one of the Board's major tasks over the next few

          7  months.

          8                 It's our responsibility to make sure

          9  that all our poll workers have a clear understanding

         10  about the new identification requirements for

         11  first-time voters who register by mail.

         12                 Last year the Board produced a

         13  training video to address certain recurring problems

         14  or mistakes made by a small number of poll workers

         15  at elections. Marsha Kramer from Channel 2 News

         16  narrated the video.

         17                 Ms. Kramer has agreed to assist us

         18  again by adding a new section on the HAVA

         19  requirements. As we will be doing this year with the

         20  existing video, next year it is the Board's

         21  intention to have our updated video aired on

         22  numerous cable stations over at least a three-week

         23  period before Election Day.

         24                 We will also be using the video to

         25  reinforce the training received by our poll workers
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          2  during their classroom sessions. The Board hopes to

          3  have federal dollars to distribute the video to all

          4  poll workers.

          5                 In addition to our video, the HAVA

          6  requirements will be taught in the traditional

          7  classroom poll worker training course, which is

          8  currently three hours long and will probably be

          9  needed to be expanded.

         10                 A section on HAVA will be included

         11  both in the training and poll site addition on the

         12  poll workers manual, as well as a page dedicated to

         13  HAVA in the poll worker and NYPD versions of Vote

         14  Notes, which is the Board's Quick Reference Guide.

         15                 The new HAVA requirements will be

         16  reinforced in numerous mailings to poll workers and

         17  voters, as well as placed on the Board's IVR system

         18  and website.

         19                 The Board will also host Town Hall

         20  meetings in each borough to educate voters on the

         21  HAVA legislation.

         22                 The bottom line is that we are

         23  committed to doing whatever it takes to make sure

         24  that the City voters have a clear understanding of

         25  these new requirements.
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          2                 City and State elected officials can

          3  help their constituents by dedicating a section of

          4  their newsletter to the new HAVA requirements. As a

          5  result each of your constituents will have another

          6  opportunity to understand the changes that will

          7  occur on Election Day 2004.

          8                 Finally, I want to reiterate a key

          9  point I raised in my March 14th testimony to the

         10  City Council's Committee on Governmental Operations,

         11  that due to the complexity of HAVA and the fact that

         12  New York City has more registered voters than any

         13  other jurisdiction in the State, I must alert you

         14  all that the Board is going to have to spend

         15  additional funds to ensure that we comply with this

         16  new federal legislation.

         17                 Please know that the Board of

         18  Elections in the City of New York looks forward to

         19  working cooperatively with you and your colleagues

         20  and all interested groups to ensure that we

         21  implement HAVA in an effective and fair and

         22  responsible manner.

         23                 I thank you for the opportunity to

         24  appear before you today and know that my team and I

         25  are ready to answer the questions you have to the
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          2  best of our ability.

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

          5  much to you and your team, for your presence, and

          6  I'm glad to see that you're on the task force, and

          7  representing, at least trying to help represent the

          8  City of New York; I wish you had more help in that

          9  regard that would reflect the diversity of our City.

         10                 I'm concerned, maybe you can assure

         11  us that that task force has an appreciation of New

         12  York City, and the challenges and opportunities and

         13  needs, particularly in terms of resources, the

         14  diversity, in terms of especially the immigration

         15  community, the disabilities community, et cetera,

         16  what can you report to us from that point of view?

         17                 MR. RAVITZ: Well, I can tell you, Mr.

         18  Chairman, that I certainly have not been a quiet

         19  voice at the task force and in phone conversations

         20  with both Mr. Wilke and Mr. Kusinski. New York City,

         21  as has been stated many times this morning, has the

         22  largest jurisdiction of voters in the State of New

         23  York and we face so many different challenges, with

         24  many of the groups that you just mentioned, that are

         25  going to have to be educated and really comforted
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          2  into the fact that their right to vote and their

          3  right to facilitate for them to be able to vote will

          4  be done. So, I am going to do everything in my power

          5  and work with my former colleague in the State

          6  Legislature Keith Wright, to ensure that New York

          7  City gets our fair share and the help that you and

          8  your members of the City Council can do to give us

          9  will be greatly appreciated, but we are going to

         10  have to spend some serious dollars, dollars not just

         11  on the technical side for the machines, which I gave

         12  you some best guesstimate figures, but also on the

         13  education piece, which is going to be so important.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: And are you

         15  receiving a responsive audience in terms of your

         16  advocacy on behalf of -- because I know that the

         17  Board has always challenged these and under normal

         18  circumstances, and now with this new effort I just

         19  want to make sure that you're getting the kind of

         20  response or appreciation for what lies ahead?

         21                 MR. RAVITZ: Well, obviously the proof

         22  will be in the final dollars, but in the interim, as

         23  I said, I'm not shy, and I think that one of the

         24  things that I have a responsibility now to all, to

         25  my agency and to the voters of the City of New York,
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          2  is to make sure that, again, not to pit upstate

          3  versus downstate, but to remind the people of the

          4  task force, again, just the shear number of voters

          5  that we have in this City that are going to be

          6  affected by this new legislation, those numbers

          7  aren't going to change. In fact, they might only

          8  increase between now and 2004.

          9                 So, when you have those type of

         10  numbers that you can use in your arsenal, to make

         11  the argument, I think that can be very powerful.

         12                 But I would hope that I would have

         13  again the support of all of the elected officials on

         14  the Council as we move forward to help continue to

         15  do that.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Needless to say,

         17  let me ask you a question: In your testimony you

         18  make note of the restrictions of the full, large

         19  full-face ballot machine, and you make note of the

         20  price, ranging from 5,500 to 7,000 per machine, and

         21  then you compare that to the smaller touch screen

         22  machines, ranging from 2,000 to 3,000, suggesting

         23  that it's cheaper to get the smaller ones, but then

         24  on the other hand, you would need more of them. So,

         25  in balance does it matter? Are you suggesting that
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          2  the price is the same?

          3                 MR. RAVITZ: It is the same.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay.

          5                 MR. RAVITZ: But as we've gone through

          6  this process of looking at these different

          7  technologies, I wanted on the record to be able to

          8  show this Committee what the Board has already seen

          9  and the prices that we've been given.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: So, on balance,

         11  to use the less expensive machine would ultimately

         12  cost as much as the more expensive machine, because

         13  you would need more of the less expensive ones?

         14                 MR. RAVITZ: Correct.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: So, it's not the

         16  full face ballot issue, per se, that you were trying

         17  to address, in a sense that you are not advocating

         18  the elimination of the full-face ballot.

         19                 MR. RAVITZ: No.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay, I just

         21  wanted to make sure that that was not a point that

         22  was a part of your testimony, because I know that

         23  there are those who have testified before.

         24                 Have you had any opinions about the

         25  types of machine that you think would be best?
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          2                 MR. RAVITZ: As I said, Mr. Chairman,

          3  the Commissioners have asked our Director of

          4  Electronic Voting Systems to really scan the world

          5  to give us, like those companies who have put forth

          6  the technology that is going to be needed as we move

          7  forward under the HAVA legislation, and so it's

          8  really going to be Commissioners' decision on what

          9  we finally move forward on doing as well.

         10                 If I could, Mr. Chairman, if Lucille

         11  Grimaldi, could just come up? She is our Director of

         12  Electronic Voting Systems, and I think it would be

         13  important for her just to answer any of those

         14  technical questions.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: While she's

         16  coming, I want to ask you, in your testimony you

         17  point out that voting time estimates are longer with

         18  the smaller machines. Do you have a study to that

         19  effect?

         20                 MS. GRIMALDI: No. We get that

         21  information from the vendors who have seen these

         22  machines out in other jurisdictions, and because the

         23  voters are paging through one page after another, it

         24  takes them longer.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Can you give us
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          2  an estimate? I'm not challenging you, I'm really

          3  just trying to learn.

          4                 MS. GRIMALDI: Well, I've heard

          5  different estimates. Some of them say you would need

          6  one machine for somewhere between 300 and 400, 500

          7  voters.

          8                 So, in other words, in the course of

          9  the day, you would expect that one machine could

         10  serve about 300 to 450 voters that come in.

         11                 So, when we replace lever machines,

         12  it wouldn't be a one-to-one replacement, in some

         13  cases we would need more of paging machines.

         14                 But you also have to keep in mind

         15  with that, is that on those kind of machines,

         16  because it's an electronic display, you can display

         17  more than one ballot. You can display the ballot for

         18  each ED in that poll site. So, you change the

         19  logistics of the poll site. A voter would not

         20  necessarily have to vote on only one machine. A

         21  voter could step up to any machine and the ballots

         22  for their election district could be displayed to

         23  them.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: So, one machine

         25  can display more than one election district's

                                                            124

          1  GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS, MENTAL HEALTH, TECHNOLOGY

          2  ballot. Okay, I just wanted to get -- I thought

          3  maybe you were trying to say that voter A takes a

          4  minute on one type of machine and two minutes on

          5  another type of machine. Are you saying something

          6  like that?

          7                 MS. GRIMALDI: The general

          8  understanding is that voters take longer on a paging

          9  machine?

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay. All right.

         11  But we haven't time to give some sort of idea, what

         12  the difference in time, but it's a difference enough

         13  to require more machines. Okay, thank you very much

         14  for that clarification.

         15                 Council Member Gale Brewer.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: John, I just want

         17  to understand something, that the identification

         18  mandate would go into effect in 2004, and it's

         19  primarily for federal elections, but, of course, we

         20  vote in many elections, federal just being one of

         21  them.

         22                 So, when you go to the booth, you

         23  obviously would be voting different types of

         24  elections, presumably, but because it's a federal

         25  election, you'd need identification.
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          2                 MR. RAVITZ: Correct.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: This fall, of

          4  course, is more local elections, so you won't need

          5  ID; is that correct?

          6                 MR. RAVITZ: Correct. The only way

          7  this would kick in early is if we had to have a

          8  special election for federal.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: For federal,

         10  okay. So, in the future if it's just local elections

         11  you wouldn't need identification?

         12                 MR. RAVITZ: Correct.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: The public is

         14  going to be confused. Okay.

         15                 The other thing I want to mention is,

         16  in terms of the technology, is there possibility for

         17  using some of the funding to have an on-site voter

         18  database computerized?

         19                 You know, we obviously now only have

         20  the opportunity sometimes to call or if there's a

         21  problem, is there any kind of on-site that could

         22  help funding?

         23                 MR. RAVITZ: That's an interesting

         24  possibility, that as we access some of these federal

         25  dollars for, what would be the technology/education
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          2  component, both of Title 1 and Title 3 of the

          3  legislation, that might be something that we can

          4  look into doing.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Right. It would

          6  help us I think just in terms of time on site.

          7                 MR. RAVITZ: Yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: And then finally,

          9  again, just to help me with the process, obviously

         10  there's a tight framework on making application for

         11  I guess what was called the "quick money," then what

         12  is the timing for accessible machines, if all went

         13  well? How would that work timewise?

         14                 MR. RAVITZ: Well, as I said in my

         15  testimony, Councilwoman, what I hope we can do for

         16  the City is do this in a phased-in process so that

         17  if the money, as Mr. Kusinski said in his testimony,

         18  is available fairly soon, and we can agree on the

         19  machines, the Commissioners agree on the machines

         20  that we are going to have, then we can at least

         21  begin to try this in a small voting area in boroughs

         22  and then use that as a test model.

         23                 If we do it in the three-phased

         24  implementation plan, I think that's the most

         25  responsible way, because obviously we're going to
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          2  want to review it, we're going to want to have

          3  feedback from the public, as well as from the

          4  elected officials, and so it's going to be important

          5  for us to not just even begin to think that we can

          6  do this all in 2006.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Does the

          8  Commission decide on machines for the whole state,

          9  or would the City want to have different ones?

         10                 MR. RICHMAN: What happens right now

         11  is, under the Election Law, in the case of the City

         12  of New York the City buys, elsewhere in the State,

         13  with the exception of a few counties, either the

         14  town or villages buy different voting machines, and

         15  they own them.

         16                 One of the issues that has to be

         17  resolved now is who is going to be responsible for

         18  the purchasing of these new machines. I think it's

         19  still debatable, there may be a single statewide

         20  purchase, the local options to remain in place, but

         21  if it's a local option, it's restricted to those

         22  machines that have received approval of the State

         23  Board. Again, so that process hasn't been clarified

         24  yet, and there has been some discussion that there

         25  may be savings in buying in volume and having a
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          2  uniformed statewide machine. But, again, Council

          3  Member, that hasn't been decided yet, and I think

          4  that's going to be the next step after the plan is

          5  produced and gets preclearance then the state will

          6  have to decide how it will actually allocate and

          7  appropriate the monies that it gets from the federal

          8  government and what process they want to do.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Wow. And then the

         10  other question is, finally, the paper tracking

         11  system; is that something, that type of technology

         12  that has come to some of your board meetings as

         13  you've been reviewing?

         14                 MS. GRIMALDI: A paper trail that is

         15  external of the machine so that a voter can look at

         16  it and say, yes, this is indeed the way I voted,

         17  that is not on any of the machines yet.

         18                 However, most of the vendors have

         19  said that they can add that feature.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you, Mr.

         21  Chairman.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Councilwoman

         23  Lopez.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: I just have one

         25  question that perhaps have two attached to it.
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          2                 How many times the task force have

          3  met?

          4                 MR. RAVITZ: Five times. But I can go

          5  to my calendar and -- I believe, five, Council

          6  Member.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Five times?

          8                 MR. RAVITZ: Yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: And have you been

         10  there every time?

         11                 MR. RAVITZ: I have been there for

         12  three of the five meetings. Two of the meetings I

         13  sent a representative from our Department, our

         14  Agency, who really needed to be there. One was Ms.

         15  Grimaldi, and Mr. Steve Ferguson, who is the

         16  Director of our MIS Unit, because it was the task

         17  force meeting on the issue of the new technology and

         18  I needed them to be there so that they really could

         19  have input into what was being said at the task

         20  force.

         21                 And then on the issue of funding,

         22  because I had, we had a conflict with another agency

         23  meeting, I sent our Finance Officer to be part of

         24  that task force.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Where these
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          2  meetings took place?

          3                 MR. RAVITZ: Some of the meetings

          4  were, the first two meetings were held in the State

          5  Board of Elections Office in Albany. The last three

          6  meetings have been held in the Legislative Office

          7  Building, in Albany.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: My last question:

          9  Had you raised, or had you been concerned about the

         10  lack of appropriate representation of the population

         11  of this City in that particular body?

         12                 You are a New Yorker and you know who

         13  live here, the same way I know who live here, then

         14  had you raised that issue in the meetings about the

         15  lack of diversity in there, or anybody had raised

         16  this issue in there?

         17                 MR. RAVITZ: I know that Commissioner

         18  Kellner did raise that issue.

         19                 Council member, I can tell you that I

         20  have a new hat now. I am now not in the political

         21  life, I am in now the business of trying to

         22  facilitate elections for all New Yorkers, so by me

         23  being at that table, I have only one objective and

         24  one goal and that is to make sure that every person

         25  in the five boroughs in this City who wants to be
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          2  able to vote in an election is able to do so. And

          3  with this new federal law, we have a major

          4  responsibility in the New York City Board of

          5  Elections, and we are going to, as I hope I have

          6  been able to demonstrate in our testimony, we are

          7  being proactive now in 2003 on many ways so that

          8  when the law does kick in and the State plan has

          9  been written, that we could implement many of the

         10  action plans.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Then with more

         12  reason, if you are committed to what you just

         13  described, in totality, I will say to you that

         14  precisely that's the principle, the mandate, the

         15  ethics of why that task force needed to be

         16  diversified. Because if your intention is to make

         17  sure as a member of the Board of Election to get the

         18  City to be representative in this place, and more

         19  important than anything that our City have absolute

         20  trust in the Board of Election that is a body that

         21  is not there to manipulate elections, but to make

         22  sure that elections reflect the will of the people

         23  of this City, then more and more reason I expect

         24  your voice to be raised to deal with this issue of

         25  diversity, in regard of people with disability, in
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          2  regard in women, in regard of people who are

          3  immigrants, in regard of people who are people of

          4  color. Then it's something very troubling to me that

          5  New York City has not put in the table in uncertain

          6  terms that this task force is unacceptable in the

          7  composition as it is right now.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Let me ask

          9  another question then.

         10                 I notice that the task force to some

         11  extent has been moving around Upstate; has there

         12  been any consideration of it having a meeting in

         13  that area where most of its challenges will be, like

         14  New York City, like the Board of Elections of New

         15  York City, or something like that?

         16                 MR. RAVITZ: Well, obviously, by the

         17  fact that Assemblymember Wright who is on the task

         18  force is having a Committee meeting today, it was

         19  his way of hopefully bringing the focus here to the

         20  City.

         21                 I believe Mr. Kusinski stated in the

         22  testimony that during the public review period there

         23  will be public hearings and there most certainly

         24  will be a public hearing here in the City of New

         25  York once that plan has been written for people to
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          2  not only study but to critique and review.

          3                 We were presented at the task force

          4  of a time frame, and the time frame was that the

          5  plan really wanted to be written by no later than

          6  the end of this month, early next month, and that's

          7  why there were five set meetings set in Albany for

          8  the Task Force to meet on specific subjects in each

          9  area.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: There are no

         11  more task force meetings?

         12                 MR. RAVITZ: As of now, no.

         13                 I believe Mr. Kusinski I believe

         14  wants to have the task force members to have the

         15  report for two weeks before it goes to public

         16  review, so there is a possibility, and, again, I

         17  cannot speak for him, but there is a possibility

         18  that there could be another task force meeting, once

         19  the task force members actually have the plan in

         20  place.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: My understanding

         22  of the hearing taking place at 250 Broadway is that

         23  it's not really a task force hearing, that it's an

         24  assembly election law committee hearing. Though it's

         25  appreciated that, obviously, the Assemblyman is
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          2  being responsive to some concerns that New York City

          3  have opportunity to represent itself through his

          4  committee.

          5                 Would it be inappropriate for you to

          6  request that there be a task force meeting in the

          7  City of New York that you represent?

          8                 MR. RAVITZ: I would have no problem

          9  doing that. I mean I believe now the time frame is

         10  that people are beginning to put the plan, the state

         11  plan, which will be a framework of what we're going

         12  to have to see into action over the next few days,

         13  but the Board of Elections certainly could host, or

         14  would have no problem co-hosting with this body, or

         15  this Committee, or these Committees, if we wanted to

         16  have a public hearing here in the City.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: So, should we

         18  coauthor, cosign a request to that end?

         19                 MR. RAVITZ: I'm willing to do that if

         20  you are.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Are we getting

         23  married?

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: We'll talk some

         25  more about it.
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          2                 I think it would be hopeful if you

          3  say there's at least possibly one more meeting, and

          4  it may be the meeting the sort of discusses the

          5  ultimate, the implementation plan, the pre-final

          6  plan meeting kind of a thing, it might help giving

          7  New Yorkers, you know, an opportunity to have some

          8  input at that point, especially since it's the last

          9  opportunity and it's the biggest jurisdiction.

         10                 What else can we do in the City

         11  Council to be helpful?

         12                 MR. RAVITZ: Again, let me just take

         13  one step back. Again, and I think Mr. Kusinski

         14  touched on this, too, the plan that we submit are

         15  just going to make sure that we are in -- we make

         16  sure we get access to those federal dollars. If we

         17  do not have a plan and miss that deadline, then we

         18  miss the dollars, and I would hate for it to go to

         19  another state.

         20                 So, the full plan I think we won't

         21  see in the next few weeks, but I think it's just to

         22  make sure that we've covered all the subjects and

         23  need to be sent to Washington so that we can be

         24  eligible for that money.

         25                 To answer your question, and it's
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          2  such an important question, I think I dedicated most

          3  of our testimony today to what we're going to be

          4  doing to educate our employees, and most

          5  importantly, the poll workers who are the last

          6  people that people see before they vote on Election

          7  Day about these new requirements, and the voters of

          8  the City of New York.

          9                 We are going to update our video, and

         10  we are going to hopefully have the federal dollars

         11  to send that video out to every poll worker. We are

         12  going to have that video on as many cable stations

         13  as possible three weeks prior to the election. It's

         14  possible. We are going to have town hall meetings

         15  working with the President of CUNY. He has offered

         16  us space to have town hall meetings in every

         17  borough, in which we can again walk people through

         18  this process. Where you as elected officials can

         19  come in to play a key pivotal role is to help us

         20  educate your constituents. Once we know exactly what

         21  is going to be required for first-time voters in a

         22  federal election in terms of the ID requirement, it

         23  will be very important as many times as possible is

         24  that they get that information, information from us,

         25  and even more importantly, because we are going to
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          2  try again to think outside of the box and be a

          3  little creative in our mailings, because most times

          4  when people get something from the Board of

          5  Elections, it might go into the garbage, we're going

          6  to have to really be creative in trying to let

          7  people know this is new vital information for them.

          8                 But I think more people look at their

          9  Council members, State Assembly members, State

         10  Senators newsletters, because it's had something to

         11  do with what's happening in their community, and

         12  hopefully if you can, all of you will dedicate a

         13  section to one of your newsletters on the HAVA

         14  regulations, that would also be very helpful to us

         15  as well.

         16                 We just need to continue to again and

         17  again -- repetition is not too strong a word to use,

         18  in what we're going to have to do, so as Council

         19  Member Brewer said, we don't confuse people at the

         20  polling sites.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         22  much. I especially appreciate your focus on

         23  inspectors.

         24                 The Board of Elections are the

         25  inspectors from the perspective of the public.
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          2  They're the first and the last experience that they

          3  have. With all due respect to you and your team,

          4  from the perspective of the voter, you're irrelevant

          5  because they don't deal with you that morning or

          6  that afternoon or whenever they go to vote. And, so,

          7  I think it's very, very smart on your part to

          8  recognize that HAVA succeeds or fails in New York

          9  City by virtue of how well informed and how well

         10  trained and how well appreciated the inspectors are.

         11  So, thank you very much, I appreciate that.

         12                 MR. RAVITZ: And, Mr. Chairman, if I

         13  could just add one point to that, and I appreciate

         14  your comments; our new management team at the Board,

         15  Mr. Gonzalez, and Ms. Perkins and I, that is one of

         16  our top priorities. And we are trying to raise the

         17  level of performance of the poll workers, because we

         18  have heard that criticism.

         19                 That's why we are working with CUNY

         20  and we are working SUNY and the independent colleges

         21  and the good government groups to try to get as many

         22  new people who want to be involved in this process.

         23  Yes, they will be paid, but also, I think if we go

         24  that route, we also are having individuals who want

         25  to be involved in public service. And being a poll

                                                            139

          1  GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS, MENTAL HEALTH, TECHNOLOGY

          2  worker is a public service, so we are going to

          3  continue to try to get as many new poll workers

          4  throughout this City in place for the September

          5  election. Ginger Bouste (phonetic), who runs our

          6  Election Day operation, had a booth yesterday at a

          7  CUNY job fair, and we got how many applications?

          8  Two-hundred applications for 200 new poll workers

          9  from the CUNY system. So, again, I think that

         10  hopefully is going to, like as I said, raise the

         11  level of performance that all of us see on Election

         12  Day in our poll sites.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         14  much.

         15                 MR. RAVITZ: Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I appreciate it.

         17                 We're now going to have a panel.

         18  We're going to call forward Ms. Rose Marie

         19  McCaffrey. Myrna Votta; Christopher Baum; Suman

         20  Raghunathan,  Immigrant Mobilization Coordinator.

         21                 Forgive me if I say anyone's name

         22  incorrectly. Ludovic Blain, Demos Poll Worker

         23  Training. And Debop Adegbile, Counsel NAACP. And

         24  Commissioner Doug Kellner -- I'm sorry, Commissioner

         25  Jane Kalmus, please, from the Voter Assistance
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          2  Commission.

          3                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Good afternoon,

          4  members of the panel. Could you raise your right

          5  hand.

          6                 Do you solemnly swear or affirm the

          7  testimony you're about to give is the truth, the

          8  whole truth and nothing but the truth?

          9                 Could you each for the record state

         10  your name, the organization you're affiliated with

         11  and your position.

         12                 MS. VOTTA: I do.

         13                 MR. BLAIN: I do.

         14                 MS. RAGHUNATHAN: I do.

         15                 MR. BAUM: I do.

         16                 MR. ADEGBILE: I do.

         17                 MS. KALMUS: I do.

         18                 MS. VOTTA: I'm Myrna Votta, and I

         19  represent Lighthouse International. I am a Senior

         20  Assistive Technology Specialist there.

         21                 MS. KALMUS: I am Jane Kalmus, Vice

         22  Chairman of the Voter Assistance Commission.

         23                 MR. BAUM: I am Christopher Baum, Vice

         24  President Public Sector, Gartner.

         25                 MR. ADEGBILE: I'm DEbop Adegbile,
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          2  Assistant Counsel of the NAACP Legal Defense Fund.

          3                 MS. RATHUNATHAN: I'm Suman

          4  Raghunathan, with the New York Immigration

          5  Coalition.

          6                 MR. BLAIN: And I'm Ludovic Blain,

          7  Associate Director of the Democracy Program at

          8  DEMOS.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Commissioner

         10  Kalmus, can you begin, please?

         11                 MS. KALMUS: Thank you very much,

         12  Chairman, all Chairmans.  May I acknowledge all the

         13  chairs, and I'm delighted to be here at this timely

         14  and important hearing.

         15                 I'm here as the Vice Chairman of the

         16  New York City Voter Assistance Commission, as a

         17  non-partisan resource that can offer a unique

         18  opportunity to assist in addressing the critical

         19  need for voter education and information that

         20  compliance with HAVA requires specifically for new

         21  registrants.

         22                 As you know, in 2000 VAC was

         23  chartered to coordinate the dissemination of Voter

         24  Registration forms through 21 New York City

         25  agencies, Local Law 29, as a means of reaching New
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          2  York City citizens who on the whole do not drive,

          3  and thus do not access the motor voter registration

          4  program or the built-in advantage of driver's

          5  license identification.

          6                 Local Law 29 and the Voter Assistance

          7  Commission can provide a valuable mechanism for HAVA

          8  compliance and with the health of the Select

          9  Committee on Technology In Government and the

         10  Department of Information Technology who have done

         11  an exceptional job in upgrading our New York City

         12  government websites, I would like to suggest the

         13  following as outreach that we could put in motion.

         14                 Tom Wilke spoke about expanding the

         15  information on web sites, specifically we would

         16  recommend that VAC include specific information on

         17  and instructions for obtaining the required

         18  identification for first-time voters. And as Gale

         19  Brewer so well informed us, make these web pages

         20  available to the 21 City agencies already mandated

         21  to provide registration forms and registration

         22  information through Local Law 29 to their clients,

         23  applicants and vendors.

         24                 The on-site database which Gale

         25  Brewer described, could be worked out with our

                                                            143

          1  GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS, MENTAL HEALTH, TECHNOLOGY

          2  sister agency, the New York City Board of Elections,

          3  which can be a resource of great value.

          4                 Thank you for giving me the

          5  opportunity to bring this to your attention, it will

          6  not have been for the first time today. And thanks,

          7  also, to the Coalition for energizing the groups

          8  that appear before you today of which I am proud to

          9  be one. Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         11  much.

         12                 Next.

         13                 MS. VOTTA: First I want to thank all

         14  the Chairmen for this hearing and for the

         15  opportunity to testify. On behalf of Lighthouse

         16  International, a leading resource worldwide on

         17  vision, rehabilitation and vision impairment, I am

         18  pleased to have the opportunity to represent here

         19  today the more than 5,000 New Yorkers who we serve

         20  each year who are blind or partially sighted.

         21                 Americans who are blind, like me, or

         22  partially sighted, historically have never been able

         23  to exercise the simple citizen's right and privilege

         24  which you as sighted people take for granted, the

         25  right to a secret ballot executed independently and
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          2  without assistance.

          3                 New Yorkers who are blind must take

          4  with them into the polling booth a relative, a

          5  friend or true poll watchers representing the two

          6  main parties.

          7                 I have personally had this experience

          8  and someone had mentioned this morning that many

          9  people do not vote on the referendums. I am one of

         10  these people because when you ask the poll workers

         11  who go in with you to read them, most often they

         12  can't read them, they say the print is too small,

         13  and so many times I have not voted on the

         14  referendums. Also it is very uncomfortable. I have a

         15  guide dog, so there is a guide dog, me, and two poll

         16  watchers in that booth.

         17                 Not only is it unconscionable to

         18  allow this situation to continue, it also

         19  disenfranchises growing millions of Americans and

         20  New Yorkers.

         21                 In New York State more than 1 million

         22  people aged 45 and older report vision impairment

         23  that cannot be corrected by glasses, lens or medical

         24  intervention. More than a half million New Yorkers

         25  of that same age are blind or partially sighted.
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          2                 In 2010, when all the baby-boomers

          3  are age 45 and older, 20 million of them nationwide

          4  will report some sort of vision impairment, and for

          5  more than half of them, their impairment will be

          6  severe.

          7                 These figures are based on the

          8  Lighthouse Harris Study on People With Vision

          9  Impairment, adjusted for the latest US Census

         10  information.

         11                 The time is long overdue when people

         12  with vision impairment must be enabled to enter the

         13  polling booth independently and vote as most

         14  citizens have been able to do since our Constitution

         15  was written.

         16                 Just as computers with assistive

         17  technology have leveled the playing field for people

         18  with vision impairment, to enter competitive

         19  employment, so can new voting machine technology

         20  level the playing field in the voting booth.

         21                 We urge the City to move swiftly to

         22  select new voting machines with audio read-outs from

         23  among the array of optical scan in ATM voting-style

         24  machines currently available. These machines should

         25  be purchased with the federal monies made available
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          2  under the Help America Vote Act, HAVA. In New York

          3  City much of this equipment has already been tested

          4  and surveyed by people who are visually impaired on

          5  at least two occasions, one sponsored by the

          6  Citywide Coalition for Voter Participation, and one

          7  sponsored by the Office of the Manhattan Borough

          8  President.

          9                 Our collective voice should weigh

         10  heavily in the choice of appropriate new machines.

         11  Some of these new voting machines are on display and

         12  available for your review today right here in the

         13  rotunda.

         14                 It is crucial that the voting

         15  machines selected be universally accessible across

         16  all disabilities. It is time to rid the state the

         17  burden of antiquated full-face ballot requirement,

         18  which would preclude consideration of some of the

         19  best new voting machines.

         20                 It should be required that

         21  sufficient, accessible machines be purchased so that

         22  there is at least one polling place. Ideally, of

         23  course, all voting machines in the City should be

         24  uniformed and universally accessible.

         25                 It is equally imperative that people
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          2  who are blind or partially sighted and people with

          3  other disabilities be involved in the final process

          4  to select accessible voting machines. Indeed, people

          5  with disabilities should be involved in the creation

          6  of the New York State Board of Elections three-year

          7  state plan, and should be involved in the

          8  certification process that the State Board of

          9  Elections will use to verify the accessibility of

         10  the voting machines.

         11                 Once accessible voting machines are

         12  purchased, vision rehabilitation centers, such as

         13  Lighthouse International, can play a role in helping

         14  to train blind and partially sighted New Yorkers in

         15  their use.

         16                 In addition, older New Yorkers, as

         17  well as those of us who are blind and partially

         18  sighted will need materials in the readable print,

         19  and other accessible formats such as Braille,

         20  electronic files and cassettes for information about

         21  voter registration, the elections and the voting

         22  process.

         23                 Poll workers, especially the older

         24  workers, will also need materials in readable print

         25  for training purposes.
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          2                 Lighthouse International Research

          3  Institute has some guidelines to offer including

          4  suggestions for type size, type style, contrast

          5  spacing and layout.

          6                 I am pleased to share our guidelines

          7  with you today and assure you that we stand ready to

          8  provide whatever technical assistance and training

          9  is needed to make voting independently and with

         10  dignity a reality for all New Yorkers.

         11                 Many of you have already experienced

         12  the changes envisioned that aging brings, or have

         13  family or friends with macular degeneration,

         14  glaucoma diabetic retinopathy, or cataracts.

         15                 You were well aware of the burgeoning

         16  senior population in our City. The new voting

         17  machines will be helpful to older New Yorkers, as

         18  well. Therefore, for the Presidential primary in

         19  2004 and all elections thereafter, we ask the City

         20  to making voting machines accessible to everyone,

         21  older New Yorkers, those who are blind and partially

         22  sighted, and people with other disabilities.

         23                 Thank you for your consideration.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Next.

         25                 MR. BAUM: Members of the Committee,
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          2  ladies and gentlemen, it is an honor to be here

          3  today to testify. I was invited by members of the

          4  Select Committee on Technology In Government and

          5  Chairperson Gale A. Brewer.

          6                 I grew up next door, bred and born in

          7  New Jersey. We would come to the City on school

          8  trips when I was younger, and later when I traveled

          9  the country and the world, I could always turn on

         10  the television and quickly find an image of the

         11  skyline and always feel a little closer to home.

         12                 So I'm here as a concerned neighbor.

         13                 Following the American Civil War,

         14  Senate and House were places where votes were

         15  colluded and traded. Most flawed in all of this was

         16  the voting process.  It could take almost an hour to

         17  record the voice vote in the Senate. And as the

         18  Senators watched how the vote was going they would

         19  trade votes on different bills.

         20                 An enterprising young inventor was

         21  issued his very first patent for a voting machine

         22  that would record the vote electronically in a

         23  matter of minutes. This is back in the 1860s. That

         24  inventor, Thomas Edison, had hoped his invention

         25  would revolutionize voting.
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          2                 Congress rejected it. Of course, many

          3  years later such a device was installed and we hear

          4  Edison did okay, too.

          5                 But when we look at the process of

          6  voting, it is the apex standing on the foundation of

          7  the rest of democracy. It is supported by five

          8  pillars. Registration of potential voters,

          9  authentication of voters at the polling place,

         10  casting of ballots, tallying ballots, and reporting

         11  election results.

         12                 If any pillar is weak, then the

         13  entire structure is unsound. And should a pillar

         14  crumble, the entire structure may collapse. Voting

         15  is not just one day every four years, it is a

         16  continuous process, dependent on the flawless

         17  execution of all five activities.

         18                 Many people today will talk about

         19  technology. They will compare the benefits and

         20  challenges of optical scan machines, and digital

         21  recorder electronics, and they will vilify punch

         22  card systems and mechanical lever machines. They

         23  will use facts and figures and speak with passion

         24  and conviction. Mostly they will be correct, and

         25  mostly they will miss the point.

                                                            151

          1  GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS, MENTAL HEALTH, TECHNOLOGY

          2                 Certainly good technology can make

          3  voting process better, but only if used properly.

          4  Voters and poll workers must be taught. Procedures

          5  must be developed and verified. Access must be

          6  expanded.

          7                 We cannot have situations where

          8  voters are turned away from the polling place

          9  because of problems with registration. We cannot

         10  have situations where ballot boxes are found

         11  floating in the bay. We cannot have situations where

         12  poll workers take data recording devices home with

         13  them because they don't know what else to do with

         14  them.

         15                 We cannot have situations where

         16  polling places open late because it takes four hours

         17  to start the voting machine.

         18                 We cannot have situations where

         19  citizens cannot vote in secret because of physical

         20  challenges. Yet, all of these things have happened.

         21                 Currently there is a growing demand

         22  for requiring paper receipts from voting machines.

         23  These receipts allow voters to verify that a machine

         24  actually recorded their intent and to provide a

         25  paper trail in case a recount is needed.
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          2                 The issue is far from decided at this

          3  point, but all of the electronic voting machine

          4  vendors can reasonably add this feature should it be

          5  required.

          6                 Also, we would be remiss if we

          7  neglected to mention the talent that New York has in

          8  this area. As well all know, September 11th was

          9  Election Day here. The Board of Elections Office in

         10  Manhattan was a scant six blocks from Ground Zero,

         11  although the office was off limits for a week the

         12  Board was able to regroup and hold a new election on

         13  September the 25th.

         14                 Clearly this is a group that can

         15  perform miracles, but even they need proper tools

         16  and training.

         17                 The full name of this Act is the

         18  Martin Luther King Help America Vote Act. It is

         19  fitting and proper that we meet here on this day to

         20  discuss it.

         21                 New York has a unique opportunity to

         22  upgrade its voting technology and related systems.

         23  Congress has appropriated $1.5 billion this fiscal

         24  year to assist the State and local authorities

         25  across the United States with the effort.
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          2                 The citizens of New York deserve

          3  their fair share for new accessible machines, as

          4  well as better processes to support them.

          5                 Respectfully submitted, and thank

          6  you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

          8  much, all of you, for your testimony, and we

          9  purposely planned this hearing today in light of

         10  Martin Luther King, and what he has done in terms of

         11  civil rights, voting rights, et cetera. And, so,

         12  appreciate your acknowledgment of that.

         13                 Chairman Kalmus, let me ask you,

         14  you've had an opportunity to look at the task force

         15  and more or less in how it's operated, do you have

         16  any concerns that you want to share that -- do you

         17  sense that they really appreciate the role of New

         18  York City and the City Board of Elections?

         19                 MS. KALMUS: I would like to, first of

         20  all, commend Chairman, Chairwoman Margarita Lopez

         21  for her ability, in a few words, thank you, to

         22  describe the feelings that so many of us in this

         23  room have experienced. We have been working, not

         24  only the Voter Assistance Commission, with who you

         25  all are, very familiar, but with the Coalition for
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          2  Citywide Voter Participation, in trying to get this

          3  train back on track. It is seriously, the task force

          4  is seriously flawed. I don't have to go into the

          5  who, what, when, where and how, but because we've

          6  all heard some of it expressed today, I think what I

          7  would like to say is, and now I'm speaking as a

          8  private citizen, not as Vice Chairman of the Voter

          9  Assistance Commission, which is a nonpartisan

         10  commission chartered in 1989, but as a private

         11  citizen I would like to refer to the New York Times

         12  editorial on it's a hell of a way to expend federal

         13  funds because their feeling was this was Help

         14  America Vote Republican Act, and I stand on that

         15  statement, chairman.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         17  much. Councilwoman Lopez.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: I am concerned

         19  with many issues in regard to this and I have said

         20  before, I have been looking at this for a year and a

         21  half already, and in regard of the disabled

         22  community, that I continue to repeat this issue,

         23  it's not that that's the only concern I have, I have

         24  a lot of concern about this, it goes back and forth.

         25                 I want to go back to the disabled
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          2  community because one of the main reasons why we

          3  needed a radical revision of the way we vote was

          4  because people with disabilities were --

          5                 MS. KALMUS: Yes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:-- Excluded from

          7  the process of voting. Then I just want to

          8  understand, how did the disabled community feel in

          9  the lack of inclusion, the lack of inclusion of the

         10  task force that has been put in place?

         11                 Can the representative for the

         12  disabled community answer that for me, please.

         13                 MS. VOTTA: We feel the way that you

         14  feel. Very often what happens in other situations is

         15  that people who are not disabled make decisions for

         16  people who are disabled. They think they know what's

         17  best for us, and that we don't get to make

         18  decisions.

         19                 I'm really afraid that this is going

         20  to happen with the voting machines, that we are the

         21  ones who are going to be using them.

         22                 Of course, all of you who are

         23  non-disabled are going to be using them as well, but

         24  we are the ones who are going to be using them, and

         25  it really needs to be a machine that's easy to use,
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          2  with clear instructions, and if you're using audio

          3  that it's understandable, and, of course it needs to

          4  be a machine that people in wheelchairs are going to

          5  be able to use quite easily, and people with

          6  impaired motor skills are going to be able to use

          7  quite easily, and it really needs to be the disabled

          8  community, I think, that needs to be the people who

          9  make the decision as, you know, which is a most

         10  comfortable to use, which is a most accessible

         11  machine to use, which means machine is going to be

         12  universally accessible.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: How do you feel in

         14  regard of the issue of identification process when

         15  -- I mean, let's get real here, how many people

         16  with disabilities drive a car?

         17                 MS. VOTTA: You can get, in fairness,

         18  you can get a non-driver's driver's license, which I

         19  have and many of us who have this who are not

         20  driving cars.

         21                 However, a point was brought up that

         22  it costs $15 to get it and there are going to be

         23  people who are going to be disenfranchised, possibly

         24  not from the disabled community, but people who just

         25  can't afford $15 to do that.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: But isn't it true

          3  that people from the disabled community more often

          4  than not live on a fixed income, and that fixed

          5  income in many, many cases is SSI, and SSI is a

          6  level of income that is peaked in no more than $600

          7  a month; therefore, isn't that going to affect the

          8  disabled community also in terms of the capacity to

          9  pay for an ID?

         10                 MS. VOTTA: Yes, of course it would.

         11                 If there could be other forms of ID

         12  -- for example, those of us who are disabled and

         13  use public transportation, we have our half fare

         14  MetroCard. So, we do have some form. Somebody who is

         15  on SSI is going to have a Medicaid card or a

         16  Medicare card. So, if that could be the form of

         17  identification, of course it would make it wider,

         18  and, of course, one who, you know, would not have to

         19  pay for that kind of card.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Do you think that

         21  absent of your voices in this task force will make

         22  decisions made that are not in sync with the needs

         23  and who you are because right here you and I are

         24  having a conversation about certain idiosyncracies

         25  that you have in your community that these people
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          2  who are sitting in this task force right now don't

          3  have a clue.

          4                 MS. VOTTA: Yes, I agree with you

          5  whole-heartedly, and that's what really are my

          6  fears. Because as I said before, in the past, we

          7  have just been told this is what's going to happen,

          8  this is where you're going to go, this is the

          9  equipment you're going to get, this is what you're

         10  going to do, because we think it's best for you. And

         11  I think that time has passed.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Okay, I thank you.

         13  And I'm sorry that I continue to insist on the issue

         14  of people with disabilities, again, I clarify that's

         15  not the only issue that I'm concerned here, but it's

         16  one that I am appalled about the way that this is

         17  being handled by the federal government and by the

         18  state government.

         19                 MS. VOTTA: Well, I am very happy that

         20  you're insistic. I am very happy that you're

         21  insistic.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         23  much.

         24                 Mr. Baum, let me ask you, as an

         25  expert with regard to voting technology and

                                                            159

          1  GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS, MENTAL HEALTH, TECHNOLOGY

          2  machines, are there measurable differences per vote

          3  for a voter in using one machine versus another

          4  machine, in terms of time frame? Are you familiar

          5  with any studies in that regard?

          6                 MR. BAUM: Yes, I am. And there is a

          7  trade-off versus the full face and the paging

          8  machines. It is quicker to vote on the full-face

          9  ballot machines because you can see the entire

         10  ballot.

         11                 I could argue, though, that the tests

         12  that have determined that are flawed because they

         13  have not looked at the undervoting capacity on the

         14  people that voted on the full-faced machines.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Well, is there

         16  undervoting on the other machines?

         17                 MR. BAUM: There is but it seems to be

         18  less.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Significantly

         20  less?

         21                 MR. BAUM: It's difficult to say

         22  because we've never had an election where both types

         23  of machines were used at the same time, and to my

         24  knowledge there has not been a controlled test of

         25  people going up to the machines and voting on both
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          2  machines to see what the response is or having a

          3  control group and a test group to go to the machines

          4  and see what the test is.

          5                 It does seem that undervoting is less

          6  on the paging machines. That would make sense

          7  because you've got to go through all the pages

          8  before you get to the end to cast your vote.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Well, why would

         10  I go through all the pages if all I wanted to do was

         11  vote for president?

         12                 MR. BAUM: Because you can't get to

         13  the part where it says cast your vote until you've

         14  been through the pages. It's typically not set up so

         15  you can skip through other parts of the ballot.

         16  You've got to look at the Governor's race, the

         17  Senator's race, the local --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I can skip the

         19  Governor's race and I can skip all the other races

         20  and go --

         21                 MR. BAUM: Yes, you can.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: There's no

         23  guarantee that I'm going to vote on every race.

         24                 MR. BAUM: Absolutely. Nor should

         25  there be.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay.

          3                 MR. BAUM: You might have very strong

          4  reasons why you don't want to vote for one of the

          5  candidates from one of those offices.

          6                 However, it is more likely that you

          7  can make the choice to do so when you won't be

          8  limited by your ability to reach them, and you will

          9  at least have to acknowledge that you saw them

         10  because you've got to page through them.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         12  much.

         13                 I want to ask you one final question.

         14  Are you familiar with the Borough President's

         15  report?

         16                 MR. BAUM: I am familiar that it

         17  exists and have already made arrangements to obtain

         18  a copy of it.

         19                 I am familiar with the different

         20  technologies that are used by the disabled to access

         21  loading systems, however. And with most of the

         22  systems by most of the manufacturers.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Do you have an

         24  opinion with regard to the full-face ballot versus

         25  any other type of technology that is significant or
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          2  that is different, in terms of what's best from a

          3  democracy point of view so-to-speak?

          4                 MR. BAUM: In my opinion, and I do

          5  want to make clear that this is an opinion, sir, the

          6  time for the full-face ballot is past. It is too

          7  limiting and making decisions limits the ability to

          8  have multiple languages, it limits the ability to

          9  have multiple ballots on one system, it's more

         10  expensive. Although it is true that you don't really

         11  get a one-to-one replacement because it does take

         12  longer to vote on the page machines, that's not the

         13  only consideration because once you have these

         14  machines, you have to maintain them, you have to

         15  restore them, you have to transport them, and the

         16  multi-page machines tend to be lighter, smaller and

         17  more rugged.

         18                 So, overall the life of the machines,

         19  I do not believe that you could demonstrate that it

         20  is a cost replacement for the full-face versus the

         21  multi-page machines.

         22                 However, it does require a state

         23  level legislative change for the state to buy

         24  multi-page machines. There is a state level

         25  requirement that there is full-face ballot at this
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          2  point.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

          4  much.

          5                 I do also know that time is a very

          6  big concern in the voting process.

          7                 MR. BAUM: Yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: The public is

          9  very critical of having to wait, and, so, I haven't

         10  myself taken a position per se with regard to one or

         11  the other, I'm just very concerned that we try to

         12  get what's going to work best.

         13                 MR. BAUM: With regards to that

         14  respectfully, sir, I said a test hasn't been done. I

         15  didn't say you couldn't do one. Every manufacturer

         16  is out there.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: They'll be

         18  coming up next.

         19                 MR. BAUM: I'm aware of that. I would

         20  recommend that you run such a test.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: That's a good

         22  idea. Thank you very much.

         23                 Councilwoman Brewer.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you very

         25  much, Mr. Baum, for being here, and say hello to
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          2  your friend Bill Keller.

          3                 My question is, on the paper tracking

          4  system, and I must admit, until I came in here today

          5  I didn't realize it was mandated by the Act.

          6                 MR. BAUM: It is not mandated by the

          7  Act.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Requires that

          9  voting machines produce a paper trail, no? Okay.

         10                 MR. BAUM: No.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay. Well, there

         12  is an issue about whether or not we have this

         13  system. Do you -- I know you mentioned it in your

         14  testimony, and do you think it makes sense to have a

         15  paper trail?

         16                 MR. BAUM: I think it makes sense to

         17  have an audible trail. Whether or not that happens

         18  to consist of a piece of paper or some other kind of

         19  technology, there are alternatives, technologies

         20  that can be written to and not erased. I think that

         21  makes perfect sense.

         22                 Whether or not it needs to be a piece

         23  of paper I have concerns about particularly because

         24  that makes it much easier for me to sell my vote.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Right, I would
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          2  agree with that.

          3                 MR. BAUM: All I need to do is take a

          4  scanning pen, and I can scan my receipt, take it out

          5  and say, yes, I voted the way that I promised to

          6  vote, where is my $50.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Right, I agree

          8  with that.

          9                 All right, so that clarifies that.

         10  Thank you very much.

         11                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Let me ask a

         13  question. You say a paper trail is not required or

         14  is required?

         15                 MR. BAUM: My understanding of the

         16  Act, it is not required as the Act reads now.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay, I think

         18  there is a different interpretation that it is

         19  required. But there's so many details in this that

         20  I'm sure, to clarify the record --

         21                 MR. BAUM: There is a requirement that

         22  there is an audible trail. The requirement is not

         23  that it's made out of paper.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: That there is

         25  what kind of a trail?
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          2                 MR. BAUM: An audit, a trail that can

          3  be audited.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: An audit trail?

          5                 MR. BAUM: Right.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: "The voting

          7  system shall produce a permanent paper record with a

          8  manual audit capacity for such systems." So it is a

          9  paper record.

         10                 MR. BAUM: Record. See, and that's the

         11  difference. It has to have a paper record, but it

         12  doesn't have to have a paper receipt, and that's a

         13  big difference. If the record is maintained within

         14  the machine that means the requirements of the Act,

         15  but it is not a receipt that the voter gets.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Well, we're

         17  going to obviously need lawyers around.

         18                 MR. BAUM: That's a very subtle

         19  difference.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: All of you

         21  election lawyers, I guess happy days are here again.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: I just want to

         23  add that that is something that will have to be

         24  clarified. I agree with you, you walk out -- I have

         25  a disabled son, he walks out with that piece of
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          2  paper, he is not going to know not to give it to the

          3  next person who asks him for it, and that's

          4  something to be of tremendous concern.

          5                 MR. BAUM: Well, the typical plan is

          6  not that they walk out with that piece of paper,

          7  that they drop it into a separate ballot box, and

          8  that is supposed to be part of the voter education.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Mr. Chairman, we

         10  have a lot of work to do on this issue.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Yes, we do. And

         12  thank you very much for your participation, and I'm

         13  sure you have provided us with some intriguing ideas

         14  and some work that obviously on all scores we'll

         15  have to pursue.

         16                 Thank you very much.

         17                 MS. VOTTA: Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: We're going to

         19  call forward the balance of that panel.

         20                 Let's see, maybe we'll include with

         21  this panel the Chairman of the Citizens' Union

         22  Robert Abrams; Mary Lou Urban, The League of Women

         23  Voters. Is Ms. Urban here? Urban like Urbane or

         24  Urban like -- I'm sorry, someone misspelled it here.

         25  Someone is going to have to get fired. And Ms.
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          2  Rosenstein. Gail Rosenstein, are you here? Neil, I'm

          3  sorry. That's why it's important to have not only

          4  voting equipment for those of us who are disabled,

          5  but also printed material.

          6                 So, you can begin as soon as you're

          7  sworn in.

          8                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Good afternoon.

          9  Raise your right hand, please.

         10                 Do you solemnly swear or affirm the

         11  testimony you're about to give is the truth, the

         12  whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         13                 Thank you. Could you each for the

         14  record state the organization you're affiliated with

         15  and your position.

         16                 (Witnesses sworn.)

         17                 MS. URBAN: Mary Lou Urban, League of

         18  Women Voters, New York City.

         19                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Could you hit

         20  the red button on the speaker?

         21                 MS. URBAN: The League of Women

         22  Voters, New York City.

         23                 MR. ADEGBILE: Debop Adegbile, from

         24  the NAACP Legal Defense and Educational Fund.

         25                 MS. RAGHUNATHAN: Suman Raghunathan,
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          2  Immigrant Voter Mobilization Coordinator with the

          3  New York Immigration Coalition.

          4                 MR. BLAIN: Ludovic Blain, Associate

          5  Director of the Democracy Program at Demos.

          6                 MR. ROSENSTEIN: Neil Rosenstein,

          7  Government Reform Coordinatory for NYPIRG.

          8                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Please begin.

          9  Could we start from the right and move left.

         10                 MR. BOYD: I'm sorry, could I just add

         11  my name to this panel? Dennis Boyd.

         12                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: I think we're

         13  going to bring you on the next --

         14                 MR. BOYD: You're going to call me

         15  afterwards.  Okay.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Yes, it was

         17  suggested by your colleagues that perhaps you might

         18  join on a separate panel after this.

         19                 It's up to you, though. It's up to

         20  you.

         21                 Okay, will the Sergeant-At-Arms

         22  provide us with a few more chairs so they can go

         23  now? Thank you.

         24                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: We're going to

         25  have you now so I'll swear you in.
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          2                 Raise your right hand, please.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I'm glad to see

          4  that the New York City Board of Elections has stayed

          5  around to hear from others, and I think that's a

          6  very, very helpful sign.

          7                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Okay, for those

          8  of you who didn't swear in, raise your right hand,

          9  please.

         10                 Do you solemnly swear or affirm the

         11  testimony you're about to give is the truth, the

         12  whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         13                 MR. BOYD: I do.

         14                 MS. MATHIEU: I do.

         15                 MS. FISHER: I do.

         16                 MR. ROSS: I do.

         17                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Thank you.

         18                 Could you please, for the record,

         19  state your name and organization?

         20                 MR. BOYD: I am Dennis Boyd, I am

         21  Senior Staff Attorney at New York Lawyers for the

         22  Public Interest.

         23                 MS. MATHIEU: Emily Mathieu of Common

         24  Cause/New York.

         25                 MS. FISHER: Amy Sandrom Fisher,

                                                            171

          1  GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS, MENTAL HEALTH, TECHNOLOGY

          2  Citizens Union Foundation.

          3                 MR. ROSS: Adam Ross on behalf of the

          4  Century Foundation.

          5                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Thank you.

          6                 Please start from the Century

          7  Foundation.

          8                 MR. ROSS: You want her to start?

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: You call can

         10  decide for yourselves.

         11                 MS. FISHER: Why don't you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: This is a team

         13  of some sort. So, you decide how you want to

         14  represent yourselves. Thank you.

         15                 MR. ROSS: Good morning. A lot of our

         16  groups here have been members of the Citywide

         17  Coalition for Voter Participation and the New York

         18  Citizens Coalition on HAVA Implementation and I

         19  think all of us have been working together in a lot

         20  of different ways, and a bunch of us, at least five

         21  of us here have some group testimony, I think the

         22  others share similar feelings, but I think they'll

         23  also be giving testimony on their own.

         24                 So, the tome you have of 21 pages we

         25  will not be reading, you'll be happy to know, but
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          2  just briefly want to go over that.

          3                 The Coalition is an ad hoc collection

          4  of groups that represent a voting rights, disability

          5  rights, language rights organizations, youth groups,

          6  and academics who are concerned about the way in

          7  which New York implements HAVA.

          8                 We're committed to protecting voting

          9  rights and improving the electoral process in New

         10  York and the testimony we provide today on HAVA

         11  represents the collaborative efforts of many of the

         12  coalition groups, some of whom are over at the

         13  Assembly hearings right now and couldn't be there,

         14  and those are all mentioned in the testimony itself.

         15                 First we just I think collectively

         16  want to thank and applaud the Council, each of the

         17  individual committees and committee chairs for

         18  holding these hearings today on a crucial issue of

         19  concern for New Yorkers, and I just am briefly going

         20  to second and saying many folks in the coalition

         21  have been going up and attending the task force

         22  meetings in Albany and share the concerns which have

         23  been expressed here today by panel members.

         24                 The Coalition has been critical of

         25  the Governor for his very establishment in the way
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          2  the task force was established, and it's a body that

          3  neither reflects the diverse voting population of

          4  New York, nor seeks to reassure us in the way

          5  they've been operating, if they'll implement this

          6  legislation in a manner that will protect all of our

          7  rights to vote.

          8                 Besides the lack of disability,

          9  adequate disability representation on that task

         10  force, there are no representatives of youth, there

         11  are no representatives of the protected class under

         12  the Voting Rights Act language provisions, no

         13  members of the Civil Rights community who are

         14  protected under the Voting Rights Act, civic

         15  organizations, and it also suffers from a severe

         16  lack of diversity demographically in the parts of

         17  the state which it represents, as well as in its

         18  partisan make-up.

         19                 We've been dismayed at the work of

         20  the task force chaired by Mr. Kusinski who testified

         21  earlier, by the lack of substance, which is

         22  characterized, there is meetings, and as well as the

         23  process the body has followed at its creation, and

         24  for that reasons, your leadership weighing in on

         25  these issues is particularly critical.
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          2                 I'm just going to wrap up and turn it

          3  over to my colleagues who will address some of the

          4  specific areas of HAVA, and once again this

          5  represents in a sense the collective wisdom or

          6  opinions of many more groups that are here today.

          7  And we'll focus on key areas of concern to us as New

          8  Yorkers, as urban voters, as young voters, voters of

          9  color, new citizens voters, and all those voters who

         10  are less likely to hold driver's licenses, the key

         11  form of ID called for under HAVA.

         12                 So with that I'd just like to turn it

         13  over to one of the main topics of the day, voter

         14  identification.

         15                 MS. RAGHUNATHAN: Good afternoon. I'm

         16  here today representing the New York Immigration

         17  Coalition, which is a member of the New York State's

         18  Citizens' Coalition on HAVA Implementation, which,

         19  you know, and we've been doing a ton of work for a

         20  very long time now in concert and in concertation

         21  with many of the good government civil rights,

         22  voting rights and immigrant rights groups that you

         23  see here in addition to representatives of the

         24  disability community.

         25                 And I can say that we are
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          2  particularly concerned that while HAVA provides

          3  states with much needed funding to establish

          4  national voting systems standards, buying new voting

          5  machines, computerized voter registration rolls, as

          6  practitioners, as the largest voter registration

          7  project in New York State that's registered over

          8  200,000 new citizens to vote, and as a group that

          9  has a longstanding commitment encouraging the

         10  state's newest New Yorkers to participate in the

         11  political process and to provide them the means and

         12  the information to be able to do so, we know that

         13  HAVA will significantly disenfranchise and place a

         14  disproportionate burden on new citizen and other

         15  voters, whether they're people of color, whether

         16  they're young people, whether they're working class

         17  voters, who by imposing this regressive proof of

         18  photo identification and Social Security number

         19  requirement on first-time voters.

         20                 Requiring these individuals to

         21  furnish personal information will suppress voter

         22  registration and turnout in these communities, and

         23  in fact these measures are reminiscent of the past

         24  when poll taxes and literacy tests were used to deny

         25  ineligible individuals their right to vote. And
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          2  distinguishing between new and long-time voters will

          3  only create more poll worker misinformation,

          4  widespread confusion at the polls, and will

          5  ultimately result in disenfranchisement of more

          6  first-time immigrant and people of color young

          7  people urban voters.

          8                 The most grievous civil rights

          9  violations caused by HAVA will occur when its photo

         10  identification or government document provisions and

         11  database verification provisions are implemented at

         12  polling sites on Election Day, and I can tell you

         13  that we expect many more voters, whether we register

         14  them or not, who in fact are not first-time voters

         15  being required to present identification on Election

         16  Day because they look or sound foreign.

         17                 The Asian-American Legal Defense and

         18  Education Fund has significantly and sustainly

         19  documented that at least one in six Asians in last

         20  year's election were illegally asked for proof of

         21  identification by poll workers.

         22                 And this is a trend that continues

         23  across the board in many immigrant communities and

         24  many new citizen voters where people feel the brunt

         25  of whatever -ism you want to call it, racism,
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          2  classism, or the sort of variety of ethnic

          3  boundaries that are crossed by poll workers.

          4                 I'd like to go into who is actually

          5  affected by the photo identification provisions of

          6  HAVA very briefly.

          7                 There are more details about this in

          8  the large testimony that all of you have. But with

          9  respect to voter ID there are two overlapping groups

         10  of voters who are subject to these new

         11  identification requirements, and they're first-time

         12  registrants in New York State who may or may not

         13  have voted in a prior federal election at some

         14  point; and number two, first-time voters who

         15  register by mail.

         16                 HAVA's driver's license or Social

         17  Security number requirements should not be a basis

         18  for rejecting registration applications in New York

         19  State, and in fact, the Social Security

         20  Administration is on record saying that they

         21  themselves are very worried about using the Social

         22  Security database to verify people's identities,

         23  because it was not a system that was designed to be

         24  cross-referenced with voter rolls. So, already you

         25  have folks on the other implementation side who are
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          2  telling you that there are going to be problems

          3  coming down the pike.

          4                 If the State does a good job,

          5  however, of implementing the registration process,

          6  including database matches, any of the adverse

          7  affects of HAVA's identification requirements on

          8  immigrant, urban and youth voters, and other

          9  communities of color can be lessened, and I'm going

         10  to get into that later with respect to the long

         11  list, or the hopefully long list of documents and

         12  identification that can be used to qualify under

         13  HAVA.

         14                 The second group of voters that are

         15  subject to new identification requirements are those

         16  who have registered to vote by mail after January

         17  1st, 2003 and have not voted previously in a federal

         18  election in the State and do not fall within certain

         19  important exceptions.

         20                 These voters shall be permitted to

         21  vote on a machine only after presenting one of the

         22  following items to election officers at their

         23  polling place, which include a current invalid photo

         24  identification, utility bill, bank statement,

         25  government check, paycheck or government document
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          2  that shows the voter's name and address, and if a

          3  first-time voter casts his vote by mail, he must

          4  submit a copy of one of these documents with his

          5  mail-in ballot.

          6                 The folks, or the people that these

          7  requirements do not apply to are, number one, those

          8  who are entitled to vote otherwise and in-person,

          9  under federal law; number two, those who register by

         10  mail and submit as a part of their registration a

         11  driver's license number or the last four digits of

         12  their Social Security number, and whose information,

         13  this is key, whose information the Board of

         14  Elections or other election officers match with an

         15  existing identification record in a state database

         16  or file.

         17                 Take note that there have been many,

         18  many documented problems with the Board of Elections

         19  database with respect to many immigrant voters and

         20  other people for -- from China whose often first

         21  names and last names get switched in the voter

         22  registration process. So when they try to vote, they

         23  aren't found in the book because their first name

         24  and last name have gotten switched with their middle

         25  name or their family name, so there's a whole
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          2  another host of problems that come into here, into

          3  the case here.

          4                 Lastly, those who register to vote,

          5  and these are exemptions, those who register to vote

          6  by mail, and submit as part of their registration a

          7  current invalid photo identification, utility bill,

          8  bank statement, government check, paycheck, or

          9  government documents.

         10                 In addition, in the case of a voter

         11  who desires to vote but does not meet these

         12  identification requirements, and does not fall

         13  within one of these exceptions that I just noted, he

         14  or she may cast an affidavit ballot in-person or

         15  vote by mail and the ballot shall be counted.

         16                 With that in mind, we know that the

         17  disproportionate impact of ID provisions is

         18  dramatically illustrated by the vast demographic

         19  difference in the State's population that hold

         20  driver's licenses, the key form of ID called for

         21  under HAVA. New York City, only 53 percent of those

         22  over 18 and over possess a license, and outside of

         23  the City that number jumps astronomically to 93

         24  percent of the population over 18.

         25                 If you add to that there are 1.2
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          2  million eligible immigrant voters statewide, again

          3  folks who often don't have access to driver's

          4  license or other government issued forms of

          5  documentation or identification and that there are 1

          6  million of them in New York City and that at any

          7  given election at least 500,000 of them are voting,

          8  and these are people who are coming from a different

          9  election system, who are not necessarily familiar

         10  with voting machines, and who are not necessarily

         11  familiar with the electoral and voter registration

         12  process in New York City, let alone in the US.

         13                 Since immigrants, and, you know, as I

         14  stated earlier, since immigrants, young people and

         15  other urban and communities of color statistically

         16  less likely to have access to these forms of

         17  identification, narrowly defining the forms of

         18  identification they must present to register and

         19  vote will erase the impact of federal measures like

         20  the Civil Rights and the Voting Rights Act, which

         21  were designed to stop, not continue, decades of

         22  communities being excluded from the franchise. And

         23  if New York State does not develop the broadest

         24  possible list of acceptable identification or

         25  documents voters can present at the polls when they
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          2  do first vote, the result will open a pandoras box

          3  of Election Day problems and voter registration

          4  problems and could erect a huge barrier to vote for

          5  hundreds of thousands of the State's newest voters.

          6                 And I think that's a main concern

          7  that we've stated over and over with the State task

          8  force, where we've been attempting to have them

          9  broaden the list, and, again, you know, this can be

         10  reduced if it's implemented properly, but if not,

         11  can seriously and inequitably deprive eligible

         12  voters of a right to vote, if New York State

         13  implements these identification requirements without

         14  adequate sensitivity and safeguards and

         15  understanding of what people's situations are in New

         16  York City. Whether they're coming from an immigrant,

         17  from a disability, from a young, from a youth

         18  background, these people don't have access to the

         19  system in the same way that many others in the rest

         20  of the state do.

         21                 With that I'd like to actually go

         22  over a long list of documents that we'd like to

         23  include under the identification requirement, and

         24  these are again in your testimony, but these should,

         25  but not be limited to, voter registration cards,
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          2  electronic benefit transaction or EBT cards, public

          3  housing lease and rent statements and agreements,

          4  including rent statement agreements provided

          5  pursuant to subsidized housing programs, public

          6  housing identification cards, Social Security

          7  Administration check statements, student

          8  identification cards or tuition statements or bills

          9  from public colleagues and universities, insurance

         10  cards issued pursuant to government-administered or

         11  subsidized health insurance programs and they go on.

         12                 Again, the point that we're trying to

         13  make is that the most concerted effort needs to be

         14  made on the part of the state task force to include

         15  the broadest list of documentation that many normal

         16  New York City residents are going to have on them in

         17  the process of living their lives, and that these

         18  need to be delineated as distinctly as possible in

         19  the State Statute to make sure that people are able

         20  to present documents that they already have access

         21  to in order to be able to vote.

         22                 Three, a few other points that I'd

         23  just like to make briefly is that, obviously, poll

         24  workers need to be trained on the new changes in the

         25  law and with adequate poll worker training and voter
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          2  education, including education for new citizen

          3  voters who are new to the US electoral system and

          4  may be limited English proficient, the onerous

          5  impact of the laws identification requirements can

          6  be reduced. Based on our past experience, we know

          7  that this law will be most likely implemented by

          8  many poll workers in a discriminatory fashion,

          9  unfortunately, and this is based on many years of

         10  the ways that elections have been conducted.

         11                 And we continue to work very closely

         12  with the New York City Board of Elections and do

         13  welcome their recent efforts to increase and address

         14  poll worker training, as well as to recruit folks

         15  that are bilingual in many of the languages spoken

         16  in New York City to address the needs of New York

         17  City's newest voters.

         18                 The Legislature and the City Council

         19  should work to make sure that the Legislature

         20  outlines a specific program of poll worker training

         21  and voter education on these requirements, and make

         22  sure that a specific procedure to ensure that

         23  adequate state and federal monies are devoted to

         24  this area, because as we stated earlier, these

         25  things are not going to happen unless there's
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          2  funding.

          3                 The training should include clear

          4  instructions and documentation for poll workers

          5  concerning the alternative forms of identification

          6  that may be accepted from new voters, and poll sites

          7  should have the identification requirements clearly

          8  posted for voters to see.

          9                 Again, one of the last points that I

         10  would like to -- one of the few last points that I'd

         11  like to raise, is that the Statewide Voter

         12  Registration database needs to be implemented at the

         13  same time as the onerous identification requirements

         14  go into place so that there is a fall-back system

         15  for individuals who are not able to present this

         16  identification to be found in the system if they

         17  have registered and are eligible to vote. And this

         18  again will hopefully mitigate some of the, you know,

         19  some of the huge ramifications are going to come

         20  down the pike after HAVA.

         21                 We are also asking that county boards

         22  of elections provide postage paid mailers to

         23  affected first-time voters who register by mail in

         24  which the voter may send a copy of his or her

         25  qualifying identification to election officers in
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          2  advance of Election Day.

          3                 And lastly, we'd like the State

          4  Statute and the Legislature to establish that only

          5  those voters who actually physically mail in their

          6  registration forms shall be subject to these

          7  requirements.

          8                 Voter registration drives, like ours,

          9  that collect registration applications from new

         10  voters in person and then deliver these applications

         11  to election officials by hand or even by mail should

         12  not be subject to these requirements under HAVA. And

         13  this is true even if mail-in registration forms are

         14  used for these registration drives.

         15                 If the voter himself registers in

         16  person, either at the Board of Elections or with a

         17  community-based organization or with a government

         18  agency, that should be sufficient regardless of how

         19  the application form reaches the Board of Elections.

         20                 With that I'm going to turn the

         21  microphone over to Ludovic.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Let me just

         23  intervene to say this: At the rate we're going,

         24  based on the last testimony especially, that panel

         25  will finish its testimony without question in two
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          2  hours.

          3                 So, with all due respect to your

          4  fellow advocates and others who are here interested,

          5  I would ask that you keep that in mind.

          6                 We don't want to curb you

          7  unnecessarily, but we might have to.

          8                 MR. BLAIN: Again, I'm Ludovic Blain

          9  with Demos.

         10                 I'm going to touch on the statewide

         11  computerized voter registry system and some of the

         12  additional DMV and Social Security number of

         13  requirements.

         14                 I did want to touch on having

         15  attended a couple of the State HAVA Commission

         16  hearings. Just a couple of clarifications, because I

         17  think especially Council Member Lopez has been

         18  asking a few questions.

         19                 First, I thought it was just an

         20  amazing travesty of democracy, the hearings, there

         21  were no votes -- sorry -- there were no motions,

         22  there were no votes. The Commission will not be

         23  voting on the plan that they submit. So, although

         24  there may be a ten- or 14-day period between the

         25  time that the plan is written and the time that it
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          2  is submitted, it is my understanding having attended

          3  a couple of the meetings that they won't be voting

          4  on the final plan. And, so, I'm not really familiar

          5  with any Commissions that submit a plan without

          6  actually voting on it.

          7                 On the Statewide computerized voter

          8  registry, as Suman said, there's supposed to be a

          9  computerized statewide voter registration list

         10  that's centralized and interactive, supposed to be

         11  in place by 2004, although there's a possibility of

         12  getting a waiver in 2006, supposed to be connected

         13  to the State DMV list. Suman listed some of the

         14  concerns with that.

         15                 We want to make sure, though, that

         16  what does happen when the State becomes responsible

         17  for this list, is that first it becomes very clear

         18  that it's the state's chief election officer that is

         19  responsible for this list. Previous to the various

         20  shenanigans that have been described before, it was

         21  Thomas Wilke, now that's Kusinski, and so Kusinski

         22  and in general the State Board of Election will be

         23  responsible for creating, maintaining, including

         24  purging, the statewide list, which at this point is

         25  really maintained on a local level. So, that will be
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          2  a huge change of responsibility from the local level

          3  to the State level, which will require, for example,

          4  the Council to do a different type of oversight,

          5  because it won't necessarily be that local agency

          6  looking at that local list.

          7                 Secondly, in terms of maintaining

          8  this database that Suman touched on, we want to make

          9  sure that both state databases and other local

         10  databases are used not really to purge registered

         11  voters but to make sure to fix any fatal flaws in

         12  their registration forms, and, so, that includes

         13  both DMV Social Service agencies, for that matter

         14  criminal justice agencies, all the agencies that

         15  have people's names, addresses, birthdays, Social

         16  Security numbers, other things, should be

         17  interacting with the Statewide Voter Registry list

         18  so that any flaws in a voter registration, whether

         19  it was from the applicant filling out the form

         20  incorrectly, or it being scanned or data entried

         21  incorrectly, can be fixed.

         22                 We want to focus on the links to

         23  various judicial and correctional agencies to

         24  confirm eligibility due to felony conviction.

         25                 It's our understanding now that
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          2  there's a widely inconsistent application of that

          3  process across the state in terms of what materials

          4  people who are registering to vote, who either

          5  self-identify or otherwise known to have had felony

          6  convictions, what they're required to actually show

          7  to the Board of Elections, I mean we want to make

          8  sure that the ineligible list, the statewide

          9  ineligible list is continuously updated so that as

         10  soon as an ex-felon becomes eligible, they are

         11  actually able to register to vote without providing

         12  any additional materials due to that felony

         13  conviction.

         14                 Due to some "All Deaf" studies, we

         15  want to make sure, as I think Suman touched on, that

         16  that database contains the names and registration

         17  information of every legally registered voter in

         18  this state.

         19                 On the point of the license and

         20  Social Security number requirement for voter

         21  registration forms, again, beginning in 2004, unless

         22  New York gets a waiver in 2006, New York will have

         23  to ask all new registrants for their driver's

         24  license number, or if they don't have a current and

         25  valid driver's license, the last four digits of
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          2  their Social Security number.

          3                 If someone does not put that number

          4  in, the State is required to create a unique

          5  identifier number. A crucial piece of that is that

          6  the driver's license number does not include

          7  non-driver's identification, so it does require an

          8  actual driver's license number. We want to make sure

          9  that the State creates specific standards for

         10  practicing registration, so that each local or

         11  county board of election doesn't have a different

         12  process or standard by which people are registered

         13  to vote.

         14                 Again, we want to make sure that the

         15  maximum number of databases interact with that voter

         16  registry list, and we want to make sure that people

         17  who don't put in their Social Security number or

         18  driver's license number, have sufficient notice to

         19  be able to fix that form and are not actually

         20  disallowed from registering to vote.

         21                 And, so, none of those requirements

         22  should really prevent someone from registering to

         23  vote.

         24                 Lastly, when the voter registration

         25  forms are updated, we want to make sure that as
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          2  happened last time they were updated, that both

          3  literacy experts and the civic community are

          4  consulted when those forms are updated to include

          5  the requests for a driver's license number or Social

          6  Security number so that it's done in a clear way and

          7  in a way that people have the opportunity to fill

          8  that out, rather than, for example, being on the

          9  back of the form and therefore people are not seeing

         10  that they're also supposed to fill out something in

         11  the back of the form. So, literacy experts should be

         12  made sure to be a part of that process so that when

         13  the form is recreated it's done in a way that will

         14  really serve to allow folks to actually fill out

         15  everything they need to fill out.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Before the next

         17  person testifies I need to so something, house

         18  business. We need to record the vote of one of the

         19  other members of the Committee that, for reasons

         20  that are out of his control. He was not able to be

         21  here during the process prior and he has to go back

         22  to his district once he vote, and his name is

         23  Addabbo, and he's one of my boyfriends in the

         24  Council.

         25                 Council Member Addabbo.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you,

          3  Madam Chair.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Your wife is not

          5  going to get upset with me.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: No, I hope

          7  the cameras aren't rolling.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Okay.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you

         10  very much. I appreciate the courtesies, Madam Chair.

         11                 And being a prime and proud sponsor

         12  of Reso 443, 444 and 445-A, it is my pleasure to be

         13  here today, and obviously deal with such important

         14  issues such as the right to vote, enabling those

         15  easier access to vote I think is also of utmost

         16  importance. So I am a proud sponsor of all three,

         17  and on all three I vote aye.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Thank you, Council

         19  member. And you see the reason why he's my

         20  boyfriend. He always vote right. Thank you.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you.

         22                 The next speaker.

         23                 MR. BOYD: Thank you, Councilwoman

         24  Lopez. My name is Dennis Boyd, I'm from New York

         25  Lawyers for the Public Interest, and part of this
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          2  Coalition, obviously.

          3                 In the interest of Chairman Perkins'

          4  suggestion that we keep our comments brief, I'll in

          5  fact do that, even though what I'm going to be

          6  talking about is probably one of the issues that is

          7  most important in certain ways and that relates to

          8  machines and the replacement of the lever voting

          9  machines.

         10                 But I wanted to also indicate, and

         11  sort of staying in the tradition of talking about

         12  the task force and concerns we had with it, one of

         13  the biggest concerns that hasn't really been

         14  mentioned yet is that the task force didn't seen to

         15  think that there was any need really for any

         16  significant amount of legislation in order to apply

         17  HAVA in New York State, and the Civic Coalition

         18  certainly felt very strongly otherwise.

         19                 So, one of the major efforts that

         20  we've been engaged in for the last week or two is to

         21  draft model legislation to propose to the Assembly

         22  and to the Senate in the hope that the whole host of

         23  very complicated issues that have been discussed

         24  here, not only by this panel but by earlier panels,

         25  is addressed in a way that formalizes and makes
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          2  clear the ways in which changes at HAVA mandate and

          3  that are otherwise ways to improve the voting system

          4  in New York State and New York City get implemented.

          5                 Our position with regard to voting

          6  machines, simply put, is that we believe that

          7  probably the best way to go about implementing a new

          8  machine system is to have a single statewide system,

          9  and our feeling is essentially that by assuring that

         10  all polling sites have the same uniformed integrated

         11  voting system for all voters, it will ensure

         12  uniformity of the voting experience and ensure the

         13  quality of voting machines and the voting systems

         14  statewide.

         15                 We are concerned not only with regard

         16  to access for people with disabilities, but also

         17  access for people's who's primary language is other

         18  than English, and a lot of the concerns that we have

         19  lead us to the conclusion that eliminating the

         20  full-face ballot is and should be of primary import,

         21  because in doing so it will allow the state to

         22  consider a whole host of new technologies that

         23  aren't otherwise available to us, and it will allow

         24  for more language diversity and it will allow for a

         25  means of ensuring that not only people with mobility
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          2  impairments, but people with hand dexterity problems

          3  and other kinds of disabilities that are hard to

          4  make, resolve and make full-face ballot machines

          5  accessible, can in fact be done more readily on the

          6  page machines.

          7                 I think the biggest concerns with

          8  regard to the full-face ballot is that in fact

          9  people who have cognitive impairment or multiple

         10  impairments find it extremely difficult to utilize,

         11  and I think it was alluded to earlier, Chinese

         12  characters really cannot fit on a full-face ballot

         13  very effectively without becoming extremely

         14  infinitesimal, and we end up when you -- and there

         15  also are limits in terms of the variety of other

         16  languages that can be included on a full-face

         17  ballot.

         18                 So, when you start looking at all of

         19  those problems collectively, the issue of font size

         20  becomes a problem not only for people who are voting

         21  with Chinese but also elderly people and people with

         22  disabilities.

         23                 So, we also have a concern about the

         24  process that seems to be going on in terms of the

         25  choice of voting machines, and there seems to be an
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          2  indication that there might not be all that much

          3  support in certain quarters for eliminating a

          4  full-face ballot, and because of concerns that we

          5  have about so-called pay to play scandals that have

          6  developed over the recent period with regard to

          7  people who are contracting with the state, we think

          8  it is important that there be a full and open system

          9  that allows for consideration at all the various

         10  machines, and that in fact the full-face ballot

         11  requirements under state law be eliminated.

         12                 Finally, and sort of related to that

         13  is the concern that there be an independent review

         14  and verification process for the hardware and the

         15  software and the source codes of whatever machines

         16  are used. To varying degrees these machines and the

         17  voting process is going to be outside of the hands

         18  of officials and in the hands of private

         19  contractors, and I think that without methods for

         20  ensuring that throughout the process, and there have

         21  been mentioned the fact that there are a whole

         22  variety of legs on this table that we're relying on,

         23  if any of those legs get kicked out from under the

         24  table, the process and the integrity of the process

         25  becomes questionable.
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          2                 Finally, I just wanted to mention

          3  with regard to something that was mentioned earlier,

          4  there is a requirement of a real paper audit trail

          5  in HAVA, and one of the ways in which at least some

          6  of the technology allows that to happen is that it

          7  doesn't create a paper trail or an actual ballot

          8  that the voter takes out with them, but it creates a

          9  duplicate paper recordation of the vote that drops

         10  into a separate box and can be maintained for the

         11  purpose of doing subsequent audits in order to

         12  determine whether or not there has been any

         13  tampering with the voting process.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         15  much. Let me just ask one quick question, then we

         16  have to finalize our vote on the three resolutions.

         17                 So, is it clear, is it correct to say

         18  that the New York State Citizens Coalition on HAVA

         19  implementation are opposed to the full-face ballot,

         20  or am I just hearing this as your point of view? Is

         21  that the position that's in this document?

         22                 MR. ADEGBILE: Yes, it is. It should

         23  be repealed to allow us to review the full range of

         24  machines. We're not wed to a full-face or a page

         25  machine, but certainly requirement needs to be
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          2  waived so all of those technologies of all their

          3  capabilities and versatilities can be looked at in

          4  their totality.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: One other

          6  question. And is it your experience, looking at the

          7  technologies that are available today, and whatever

          8  other means you may know, that there is no full-face

          9  ballot that accommodates the kinds of issues that

         10  your Coalition would be comfortable with.

         11                 MR. BLAIN: Well, I think one of the

         12  concerns is the means of providing accessible

         13  technology to people who are multiply impaired,

         14  people who may be blind and hearing impaired, and a

         15  lot of people with cognitive impairments find the

         16  full-face ballot machine much more difficult to

         17  navigate and to understand.

         18                 So, our position essentially is that

         19  many of the page machines, as they're called, tend

         20  to be more accessible than the full-face ballot

         21  machines, and we actually recommend that the report

         22  by C. Virginia Fields and CIDNY be taken seriously

         23  into consideration in determining which machines the

         24  State should go with.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

                                                            200

          1  GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS, MENTAL HEALTH, TECHNOLOGY

          2  much.

          3                 I'm going to take one quick vote. I

          4  want to thank my colleague, Joseph Addabbo, for

          5  joining us today, and we want to finalize the vote.

          6                 COUNCIL CLERK: Council Member

          7  Perkins.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I want to vote

          9  aye on all, and thank Councilwoman Margarita Lopez

         10  for presenting these resolutions to the Committee,

         11  and want to thank my members for their votes, and

         12  what is the result?

         13                 COUNCIL CLERK: All items on today's

         14  Committee meeting were adopted by a vote of six in

         15  the affirmative, zero in the negative and no

         16  abstentions, with the exception of Resolution 445-A,

         17  which was adopted by a vote of five in the

         18  affirmative, one in the negative and zero

         19  abstentions.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         21  much.

         22                 Councilwoman Lopez, you have a

         23  question?

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Yes, I just want

         25  to understand the following thing: That the people
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          2  who have taken the position to support the

          3  elimination of a full-face ballot have analyzed this

          4  issue in regard of the damage that this is going to

          5  do to communities of color in order to be able to

          6  elect people to office. Because I don't know if it

          7  has been taken in consideration that analysis when

          8  this position has been made public, and I would like

          9  to know if this body has made that analysis and the

         10  consequences that this is going to have, for

         11  example, in communities like mine, where a full-face

         12  ballot elimination is going to harm us in there.

         13                 MS. URBAN: The League of Women Voters

         14  just wants to have a chance to amend the Election

         15  Law to permit the use of a new voting technology in

         16  addition to the full-face ballots. We haven't made a

         17  decision as to doing away with it.

         18                 MS. RAGHUNATHAN: I think the same --

         19  I mean I think the same goes for the New York

         20  Immigration Coalition. We understand, of course,

         21  that there is a way that full-face ballots allow

         22  many people who are not familiar with voting

         23  machines or including systems in the US to be able

         24  to ensure that they to a certain extent vote for all

         25  the offices that they are interested in voting for.
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          2  And, so, I think we are committed to continuing to

          3  examine the different options that are available on

          4  voting machines or for voting machines to, number

          5  one, make sure that all votes that should be cast

          6  for all offices that can be cast, but at the same

          7  time while making sure that the technology that's

          8  mandated, or the updated technology that's mandated

          9  in the Help America Vote Act can be expanded to

         10  include other languages, which is one of our

         11  concerns in terms of ensuring that it can be

         12  expanded.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: The expansion that

         14  you're talking about is as a cost, a very high cost

         15  of affecting communities of color in order to be

         16  able to elect people to office and the way in which

         17  they can accomplish that task. And forgive me, but

         18  each and every one of the people who have passed

         19  through that table today, and have spoke against the

         20  full-face ballot have not mentioned once how this is

         21  going to affect in the negative context.  The

         22  community school for a long time has suffered the

         23  consequences of not being able to elect people to

         24  office, and I need very seriously to bring this

         25  issue to your attention, and as the Chair of the
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          2  Committee on People With Disabilities, I have told

          3  the community of people with disabilities that I am

          4  not in favor of elimination of a full-face ballot,

          5  because I don't believe that I need to make a child

          6  of mine naked to dress another one with clothing.

          7                 MR. ROSS: Right. I think, although

          8  someone earlier did mention, and I'm sure you're

          9  aware of it, it's hard to imagine full-face ballots

         10  that are multi-lingual without a font size that is

         11  very difficult for people to read and so in the past

         12  --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: I have hear that,

         14  but I still do not hear people who are speaking on

         15  this issue of the full-face ballot -- forgive me,

         16  and perhaps I need to say this in order for me to be

         17  understood, that we need to be very careful what

         18  we're suggesting in here, and we need to be

         19  sensitized about what is it that we're saying in

         20  here about this particular method of people voting,

         21  and I need to be reassured by you, who came here to

         22  testify in favor of the elimination of the full-face

         23  ballot, if you did I see that you don't, but whoever

         24  is taking that position, I'm asking you clearly to

         25  tell me if you took into consideration that analysis
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          2  and how do you make peace with that analysis.

          3                 MR. BOYD: Again, if I might? The

          4  Coalition has not taken the position that we favor

          5  the elimination of the full-face ballot but that we

          6  eliminate the mandate that other machines can't be

          7  utilized at all so as to broaden the prospect of

          8  considering alternate machines in New York State.

          9                 Currently the way things stand, the

         10  full-face ballot is a mandate, and what we're

         11  talking about is eliminating the mandate so as to be

         12  able to take into consideration the various

         13  technologies that are currently available. And

         14  realistically of these many modern machines, which

         15  obviously one or more of them are going to have to

         16  go into effect, very few of them are in a full-face

         17  ballot format. So what we're talking about by having

         18  a mandate of the full-face ballot is eliminating a

         19  whole lot of the possible machines that are on the

         20  table.

         21                 I don't know of any studies that have

         22  looked at the efficacies with regard to what kind of

         23  fall-off there might be for people who speak

         24  languages other than English, but we do know that a

         25  lot of the machines can allow for translation to a
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          2  whole series of other languages, and presumably

          3  would therefore increase the understanding of people

          4  who speak languages other than English of the voting

          5  system.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: But wait a moment.

          7  Isn't it true that in order for you to become a

          8  citizen you have to speak certain amount of English?

          9  That's number one. Therefore in order to be able to

         10  vote you have to be able to do that? And number two,

         11  if what we're talking about here is information that

         12  you have not had access to, taking a position as the

         13  one that you have to express in this panel is a very

         14  dangerous one, and that perhaps the way that you are

         15  presenting your position needed to be more refined,

         16  tremendously? Because you, yourself, have said here

         17  that you do not know and have not read information

         18  of the fall-out, the elimination of the mandate in

         19  regard of the full-face ballot in communities of the

         20  one that I described. And if that is the case, isn't

         21  that a good reason therefore not to ask for that

         22  elimination in a blank form? And keep in mind, when

         23  I'm looking in here is that we talking about

         24  fulfilling the need of people with disabilities to

         25  have the most accessible easy machine to work with,
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          2  and then attached to that come the question of the

          3  language.

          4                 Then isn't this issue result in a

          5  better way than eliminating the requirement of a

          6  full-face ballot by putting one machine per place

          7  where this is going to happen to make sure that it's

          8  wheelchair accessible, blind accessible, deaf

          9  accessible and language accessible in the case that

         10  that is the problem.

         11                 Isn't that a more safe way to address

         12  this issue, and more careful and the safeguard that

         13  we need in all of our communities to make sure the

         14  participation don't diminish and we don't get to a

         15  point in which we cannot elect more people to office

         16  that represent our needs?

         17                 MR. BOYD: If I might, I know a number

         18  of us has followed all the literature, academic

         19  literature that has come out which is try to analyze

         20  the different voting systems in the country. There's

         21  two which I think are particularly relevant: One is

         22  a Caltech MIT study which actually found that New

         23  York City's current use of our full-face ballot

         24  machines has led to an under vote or lost votes in

         25  New York City higher than the State of Florida in
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          2  the 2002 elections with all of their hanging chads

          3  and all of their other problems.

          4                 There was a Newsday reported

          5  investigation article as well, which quantified in

          6  2000 elections, might have been 2001, that the under

          7  votes were most prevalent on the full-face ballot

          8  machine we have right now in communities of color.

          9  Those are really the only two studies, and there

         10  have been many which have been done, which we tried

         11  to look at to gauge if there are any of these

         12  detrimental impacts, we're certainly interested in

         13  hearing if there's any other literature that we

         14  should be seeing, but I think a lot of folks, while

         15  we're not wed to a full-face or a non-full-face

         16  ballot machine, have been very concerned that the

         17  current machines have led to a very large amount of

         18  lost votes and at least based on the Newsday

         19  analysis, that a lot of those take place in

         20  lower-income communities of color in the City.

         21                 So, we are interested in hearing

         22  other things, but at this point in time I think what

         23  we've seen is that people actually, more people

         24  might be losing their votes with the current

         25  technology and that we shouldn't close off the
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          2  option of taking a look at some of these other new

          3  options that are coming --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: And how do we know

          5  that with the new technology we're going to fix that

          6  problem to begin with? When, for example, I mean I'm

          7  going to tell you this, I am petrified about this

          8  new technology in regard of the Latino ladies in my

          9  district who don't have a clue of how to program

         10  their VCR, or a clue of how to use even the teller

         11  machine. Then I am concerned also about what this

         12  technology is going to do in not allowing people to

         13  be willing to go and vote, as they have done it with

         14  this machine that is manual and that would allow

         15  them the expectation of not being scared of the new

         16  technology. Then that's another concern that I have

         17  in regard of this new initiative.

         18                 But I would like to invite you very

         19  strongly to clarify your position when you testify

         20  on this, because the impression that I got is that

         21  you want, period, the elimination of the full-face

         22  ballot from the table, and that's the impression I

         23  got from your testimony, and I did not hear no

         24  clarification on your part about the full-face

         25  ballot to keep in place, at the same time we can
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          2  have a second time we can have a second alternative

          3  to fulfill the need of the other child that has been

          4  naked, and not to make the old child naked at this

          5  point with this new initiative.

          6                 MR. BOYD: I hope I don't stray even

          7  further from the position that we meant to take, but

          8  our position really is that currently under the

          9  state law there is no way to consider anything

         10  except full-face ballot. So, the scenario in which

         11  there is a single more diverse and more accessible

         12  machine at a polling site where there are more

         13  standard machines, older machines, is not a

         14  possibility under current state law. So, our

         15  position has been that the bar to making, the

         16  possibility of considering these other machines

         17  available to those who are considering buying the

         18  machines be lifted. And, again, we don't have a

         19  position per se that says we favor the non-full-face

         20  ballot or we favor the full-face ballot, but we need

         21  to have the option of being able to purchase

         22  machines that don't have a full-face ballot.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I'm glad you

         24  clarified that because I asked very explicitly if

         25  the report that you gave us basically endorsed the
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          2  elimination of the full-face ballot, that's not

          3  being, you know, adequate, and I thought you said

          4  that that was the case.

          5                 MR. ROSS: Well, you asked about the

          6  state requirement specifically. You asked whether

          7  this group was in support of eliminating the state

          8  requirement for full-face, as opposed to --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay. I thought

         10  I asked the other question, but if, in fact, I

         11  didn't, then I'm glad you clarified it, because

         12  you're basically saying you're not against a

         13  full-face ballot, you are for opening up the options

         14  to consider more than the full-face ballot, and that

         15  the information you gave about the inability to deal

         16  with all of these different languages on the

         17  full-face ballot was not simply an observation to

         18  say the full-face ballot should go away, it was just

         19  an observation.

         20                 All right.

         21                 MS. MATHIEU: Good afternoon. My name

         22  is Emily Mathieu, I'm from Common Cause, and I will

         23  be brief, as I talk about poll worker training and

         24  voter education.

         25                 Poll worker training can make or
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          2  break HAVA implementation. Only properly trained

          3  co-workers can make a smooth transition between

          4  existing law and new HAVA requirements.

          5                 In the past our groups have

          6  documented serious problems with poll worker

          7  training, and in the future, if we do not insist on

          8  solving these problems as part of the HAVA

          9  implementation, they will only be compounded as poll

         10  workers and voters struggle with new rules and new

         11  routines.

         12                 But, fortunately, as has been noted

         13  earlier here today, HAVA provides funds that can

         14  enable New York to make the improvements that our

         15  groups have long advocated and in some cases the

         16  Board of Elections has long sought resources for.

         17                 From our perspective, these include

         18  annual training and testing for poll workers, a

         19  training video distributed to all poll workers so

         20  that they can watch it at home, and also shown on

         21  cable and public access television. Greater efforts

         22  to hire and train fine language interpreters, and

         23  better training for the trainers themselves.

         24                 And on this point the Board of

         25  Elections staff had recently created a plan for
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          2  improving trainer training, however, this plan was

          3  then withdrawn for lack of funds, and this is one

          4  clear example of how HAVA funds can be put to use to

          5  finally address well-known problems with clear

          6  remedies.

          7                 It is not enough for only poll

          8  workers and inspectors to be trained, the voters

          9  themselves, of course, will need to be educated

         10  regarding the new HAVA requirements. And voter

         11  education must be part of the state's implementation

         12  plan, especially in two areas that we've heard so

         13  much about today, machines and new identification

         14  requirements.

         15                 The requirement of HAVA to replace

         16  the machines with new more modern ones will prove a

         17  challenge to voters. Mailings, commercials and clear

         18  instructions at the polling sites will help

         19  alleviate problems. And once the state procures the

         20  new machines, many public demonstrations should be

         21  held in various locations.

         22                 As for ID, it must be made clear to

         23  voters who have been told for a long time that they

         24  do not need to show ID to vote New York, that HAVA

         25  does create new ID requirements for some voters.

                                                            213

          1  GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS, MENTAL HEALTH, TECHNOLOGY

          2                 These requirements should be

          3  explained in clear, plain language, both at the

          4  polls and in materials available and widely

          5  distributed before Election Day. We can avoid much

          6  confusion and frustration if this is made a

          7  priority.

          8                 One of the best ways to make sure

          9  that both voters and poll workers know how to

         10  protect every voters' rights, is for the state to

         11  officially adopt a voters' bill of rights, and to

         12  require that this be mailed to very voter and posted

         13  prominently in every polling place.

         14                 Other states have considered doing

         15  this and I believe Connecticut has already taken

         16  this step.

         17                 Finally, HAVA requires the state to

         18  develop procedures for review and resolution of

         19  citizen complaints when this knowledge system I've

         20  already described breaks down.

         21                 And our testimony has some details

         22  about our recommendations for this, but in the

         23  interest of being brief I'll just say these

         24  procedures need to be timely and done at the expense

         25  of the State Board, rather than the voter. They must
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          2  be accessible to voters with disabilities and

          3  limited English proficiency, and, finally, no

          4  express provision is made in HAVA for state or

          5  federal court review of such violations, but such

          6  review is not prohibited and is critical.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

          8  much, especially for your concise, in-depth

          9  testimony.

         10                 The Voters Bill of Rights, do you

         11  have a draft of such a bill or a resolution? We

         12  would, in the Council, want to take that into

         13  consideration through his Committee.

         14                 Have you pursued this any further

         15  than just a title? Or do you have any document that

         16  you could use?

         17                 MR. ADEGBILE: We'll be happy to

         18  forward to the Committee drafts. A number of our

         19  organizations have developed multi-lingual bill of

         20  rights, and we're taking a look at incorporating all

         21  the new HAVA requirement into a new version and

         22  we'll be happy to forward that larger version to the

         23  Committee.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay, the sooner

         25  the better, if you don't mind. Thank you very much.
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          2                 Any questions?

          3                 MS. URBAN: My name is Mary Lou Urban,

          4  and I am here today as the co-chair of the League of

          5  Women Voters of the City of New York.

          6                 We appreciate this opportunity to

          7  comment on the potential impact of the Help America

          8  Vote Act on our City and on efforts to encourage

          9  voting and expand voter participation in government.

         10                 The League believes that the right to

         11  vote is the foundation about which our democracy

         12  rests. The right of every citizen to vote has been a

         13  basic principle of the League of Women Voters since

         14  our founding more than 80 years ago.

         15                 In New York State we have been in the

         16  forefront of efforts to get our elected leaders to

         17  update our antiquated election system. We have

         18  consistently supported measures that ensure the

         19  integrity of all ballots and provide adequate

         20  funding and training for all election personnel.

         21                 Depending on how it is implemented

         22  the Help America Vote Act can lead to meaningful

         23  electoral reform and enhance voter accessibility or

         24  it can impede registration and further

         25  disenfranchise under-representative communities.
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          2                 While elections in New York have

          3  always subject to state law, the Help America Vote

          4  Act gives the state even more regulatory and

          5  financial authority over the electoral process.

          6                 Under this law the State is mandated

          7  to, among other things, develop an implementation

          8  plan, maintain a statewide voter registration

          9  database and determine the allocation of federal

         10  funds to localities and for the purchase of voting

         11  machines, election staff training and citizen

         12  education.

         13                 HAVA requires every state to assemble

         14  a committee of election officials, stakeholders,

         15  including representatives of groups with

         16  disabilities and other citizens.

         17                 Unfortunately, instead of a broadly

         18  representative New York State Task Force with a

         19  diverse membership, we have a group of 19

         20  individuals who narrowly represent the state

         21  population. With just one representative of the

         22  disabilities community, the only other citizen is a

         23  representative of the League of Women Voters of New

         24  York State, and despite that fact we were very vocal

         25  in protesting the fact that this panel was not
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          2  representative of the population of the state.

          3                 The City and State League, along with

          4  a coalition of 25 other organizations, called on the

          5  State Board of Elections to expand the task force

          6  and to adopt open government procedures, including

          7  public hearings, as well as an independent staff.

          8                 Despite these efforts, the task force

          9  composition remains the same. It doesn't have an

         10  independent staff. The Board of Elections did agree

         11  to have the meeting transcribed and open for brief

         12  public comment.

         13                 In New York City, one of our major

         14  concerns is the implementation of the ID requirement

         15  for first time voters who register by mail as

         16  required by HAVA. A driver's license is cited as the

         17  preferred form of identification, but in our City,

         18  many people, particularly the young, who are so

         19  poorly represented at the electorate, do not have

         20  driver's licenses.

         21                 We are also concerned about eras in

         22  matching state databases and the potential of

         23  discouraging or turning away first-time voters. It

         24  is imperative that these ID requirements are fair

         25  and nondiscriminatory.
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          2                 With foresight and full public

          3  participation, the HAVA requirements can be used to

          4  achieve long-needed improvements in the way we vote

          5  in New York.

          6                 Antiquated voting machines, which

          7  often break down, have long been the bane of our

          8  existence in New York City.

          9                 With this new source of funds, it is

         10  the optimum time to amend the New York State

         11  election laws to permit use of new voting technology

         12  in addition to the full-face ballot machines

         13  currently mandated by law.

         14                 The League supports a single

         15  statewide voting machine which ensures full access

         16  for individuals with disabilities and can

         17  accommodate other languages as required by the

         18  Voting Rights Act.

         19                 While the same machine would be used

         20  throughout the state, we recommend that ownership

         21  and maintenance of the machines remain with the

         22  localities.

         23                 The Help America Vote Act's

         24  requirement that state establish a statewide voter

         25  registration database provides an excellent
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          2  opportunity to utilize new technology to ensure that

          3  all registrants are on the rolls.

          4                 This database should be operated so

          5  that other agencies, including the Department of

          6  Motor Vehicles, can provide information for eligible

          7  voters.

          8                 Local election officials must have

          9  the ability to enter information and have the list

         10  readily available on Election Day. However, it is

         11  vital that any system adopted include

         12  state-of-the-art technological security measures to

         13  prevent unauthorized access to statewide voter

         14  lists.

         15                 Key to successful information of new

         16  elections and voting initiatives is adequate

         17  preparation and funding of statewide training for

         18  election officials and poll workers and for voter

         19  education.

         20                 We also support a comprehensive voter

         21  bill of rights to be displayed at polling places and

         22  widely disseminated to each voter and the media.

         23                 As New York City residents and

         24  voters, we have an enormous stake in how the state

         25  implements the Help America Vote Act. We urge the
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          2  Council to support efforts and state legislation to

          3  implement meaningful programs and the forms which

          4  will help every New Yorker vote.

          5                 Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

          7  much.

          8                 Next.

          9                 MR. ADEGBILE: Good afternoon. The

         10  NAACP Legal Defense and Educational Fund submits

         11  this testimony to these committees as you discharge

         12  your important responsibility in helping to

         13  implement HAVA.

         14                 I will revisit the question of voter

         15  ID, but I will do so from an LDF perspective, and

         16  hopefully in so doing attempt to cast it in a

         17  broader context.

         18                 HAVA has the potential to have

         19  significant and positive impact on New York's

         20  electoral process. However, HAVA also contains

         21  several provisions which have not implemented with

         22  sufficient care and forethought could have a

         23  discriminatory impact on New York's racial and

         24  ethnic minority, elderly and poor voters, as well as

         25  on voters with disabilities.
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          2                 Only proper implementation of HAVA,

          3  mindful of the needs and rights of all voters, can

          4  minimize, and we hope avoid discriminatory impact,

          5  fulfilling the Act's promise to reform -- of reform

          6  for the electoral process.

          7                 In light of time constraints, today

          8  we will offer a truncated oral presentation of the

          9  submitted written testimony. We focus here on one of

         10  HAVA's features, the requirement that first-time

         11  voters who register by mail provide specified forms

         12  of identification at the polls.

         13                 Before we address this identification

         14  provision, we begin by briefly discussing another

         15  important consideration that bears significantly on

         16  the HAVA implementation process.

         17                 Indeed this is one that we've not

         18  heard too much about today.

         19                 The State of New York's continuing

         20  obligations to comply with existing federal voting

         21  rights laws.

         22                 The HAVA implementation process is

         23  complex, and requires caution at the outset and in

         24  the future. Nothing in HAVA insulates the State of

         25  New York from liability under relevant federal law,
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          2  such as the Voting Rights Act, the National Voter

          3  Registration Act, the Americans With Disabilities

          4  Act and the United States Constitution.

          5                 In fact, all HAVA implementation must

          6  be accomplished in a uniform and nondiscriminatory

          7  manner that is consistent with these existing

          8  federal laws.

          9                 Moreover, because of New York's

         10  history of discrimination in voting, as Council

         11  Chair Mr. Perkins mentioned earlier, three counties

         12  in New York City are covered by Section 5 of the

         13  Voting Rights Act.

         14                 To digress for a moment, this Section

         15  5 issue may indeed have interplay with the open fact

         16  ballot issue that Councilwoman Lopez has been so

         17  interested in. It's my belief that a change in that

         18  law would require a submission to the Department of

         19  Justice, or in the alternative the filing of a

         20  declaratory judgment to allow that change in law to

         21  operate within the three counties in New York City.

         22                 If any of New York's HAVA

         23  implementation policies and procedures were to

         24  result in the denial of electoral opportunities for

         25  ethnic and racial minority voters, they could be
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          2  enjoined pursuant to the Voting Rights Act or the

          3  NBRA. And any federal election reform funds could be

          4  withheld.

          5                 In sum, because HAVA stands as an

          6  important federal election reform designed to

          7  improve access to the citizens fundamental right to

          8  vote, it must be construed to do so, and not as a

          9  new barrier to the exercise of the franchise.

         10                 Under Title 3, Section 303-B at HAVA,

         11  an individual who registers by mail and has not

         12  previously voted in an election in the state, or has

         13  not previously voted in a jurisdiction within a

         14  state, that does not yet have a statewide

         15  computerized voter registration list that comports

         16  with HAVA's requirements, must present, when they

         17  seek to cast a ballot, a current and valid photo

         18  identification, or a copy of a current utility bill,

         19  bank statement, government check, paycheck, or other

         20  government document that shows the name and address

         21  of the voter, unless they fall within one of the

         22  exceptions which I will now describe.

         23                 A first-time voter who registers by

         24  mail and who casts a ballot by mail must include the

         25  appropriate form of the above-described
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          2  identification with the ballot.

          3                 There are, however, three exceptions

          4  to this voting identification requirement. Voters

          5  who are entitled to cast absentee ballots under the

          6  uniformed and oversee Citizens' Absentee Voting Act,

          7  the Voting Accessibility for Elderly and Handicapped

          8  Act, or other federal law, voters who register by

          9  mail and submit with their voter registration

         10  applications, either a driver's license number or at

         11  least four digits of their Social Security number,

         12  and whose identity is verified by matching this

         13  information with an existing New York State record.

         14  And finally, voters who register by mail and provide

         15  with their mail-in registration application the

         16  above-described identification materials.

         17                 Finally, under HAVA the State of New

         18  York must permit first-time voters who register by

         19  mail, who do not present identification, to cast a

         20  provisional or affidavit ballot.

         21                 The manner in which this provision is

         22  implemented could have a very serious and

         23  potentially discriminatory impact on New York's

         24  voters, as we've heard today.

         25                 First, the Voting Rights Act outlawed
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          2  tests and devices which could be administered

          3  arbitrarily in order to ensure that the registration

          4  process would be free from discriminatory barriers

          5  to voting.

          6                 Requiring identification at

          7  additional points in the voting process, such as

          8  during in-person registration, or applying the

          9  identification requirements beyond first-time voters

         10  who register by mail would, in fact, create

         11  additional barriers and hurdles for many racial and

         12  ethnic minorities, and would have a chilling effect

         13  on their participation.

         14                 Voters who simply do not have the

         15  kinds of identification documents specified in the

         16  Act are disproportionately racial and ethnic

         17  minority citizens, who often lack the financial

         18  means to acquire such materials. For this reason the

         19  burden of an identification requirement would fall

         20  disproportionately and unfairly upon them, perhaps

         21  even violating the Voting Rights Act, and the 14th

         22  Amendment.

         23                 In New York requiring additional

         24  photo identification could have a similar impact on

         25  racial and ethnic minorities. According to the 1990
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          2  census, 56.5 percent of African-Americans and 59.1

          3  percent of Latinos, do not have automobiles, and,

          4  therefore, may not have photo identification readily

          5  available.

          6                 Second, HAVA's provisions for the use

          7  of alternative identification documents, such as a

          8  current utility bill, bank statement, government

          9  check, paycheck or other government document that

         10  shows the name and address of the voter do not avoid

         11  the discriminatory impact of the provision, as

         12  individuals from racial and ethnic groups are less

         13  likely than white voters to have these various

         14  alternative documents.

         15                 For example, some ethnic groups are

         16  more likely to have several adults living at one

         17  address, making it less likely that all of them will

         18  have utility bills with their names on it.

         19                 Moreover, many minorities are paid in

         20  cash because of their work-in-service industries,

         21  and, therefore, may be less likely than white voters

         22  to have a government paycheck.

         23                 Therefore, any application of these

         24  requirements beyond the circumstances specifically

         25  required in HAVA would be of questionable validity
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          2  and could have a discriminatory impact on minority

          3  voters that exposes state officials to legal

          4  liability.

          5                 Like other discredited tests and

          6  devices throughout history, identification

          7  requirements potentially put far too much discretion

          8  in the hands of local election officials to

          9  determine who will and will not be asked to produce

         10  identification.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Excuse me. Is

         12  there a way you can summarize the balance of your

         13  testimony, such that we can get the most important

         14  part of it and then have some conversation,

         15  otherwise I'm just concerned about time and other

         16  people.

         17                 MR. ADEGBILE: Yes, I will endeavor to

         18  do so.

         19                 Let me just say, there are cases that

         20  have touched upon these points. You can see my

         21  written testimony for them, they're provided there

         22  for you.

         23                 In the interest of time, I will

         24  direct the Committees to that testimony, and to that

         25  testimony for our recommendations, as well as to
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          2  some ways in which you can mitigate some of the

          3  problems that I've identified for you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: That's

          5  important. Give us a few of the ways that the

          6  problems can be mitigated because that's what we

          7  want to know.

          8                 MR. ADEGBILE: Since the first time

          9  voter registration by mail identification -- sorry.

         10  Since the first time voter registration by mail

         11  identification requirement only applies to

         12  registrants received by mail, New York election

         13  officials should not apply the requirement to

         14  applicants who register in person. We've heard a bit

         15  about that today, so I'll leave that there.

         16                 We've heard also about some of the

         17  alternative forms of ID, we've described some of

         18  them in our testimony, and my colleague has spoken

         19  to them.

         20                 In order to monitor implementation of

         21  this provision, New York Election officials should

         22  develop and administer a system to collect and

         23  report information on the impact of these provisions

         24  on voters. I think this may be an idea that we have

         25  not yet touched upon today, and I think that it has
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          2  its place in the implementation of HAVA as we go

          3  forward.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Let me ask a

          5  question on that. So, do you believe that neither

          6  the -- either the Board of Elections or the City of

          7  New York or the State needs to do some kind of study

          8  to determine the impact of these HAVA

          9  implementation?

         10                 MR. ADEGBILE: We at LDF believe that

         11  would be appropriate.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Give me an

         13  example, for instance, as to how one might do a

         14  study with regard to one of the areas of your

         15  concern.

         16                 MR. ADEGBILE: For example, one could

         17  do a study of how successful we are with the poll

         18  worker training that we're talking about.

         19                 There could be people who went to

         20  test polling sites.

         21                 Many of our groups individually use

         22  our own resources to man Election Day hot lines to

         23  monitor complaints about the disparities in the way

         24  the poll workers are advising voters about

         25  identification requirements already and they are not
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          2  yet in place. Certainly it would be appropriate for

          3  the Election officials to be mindful of these

          4  problems and to try and monitor them.

          5                 We see similar problems in similar

          6  voting districts from election to election, so to

          7  the extent that some of these problems are

          8  recurring, I think that they are ascertainable for

          9  the election officials and perhaps they could act to

         10  correct some of the problems.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: The Voting

         12  Rights Act issue that you raise involving the

         13  identification at polling sites that create these

         14  hurdles suggest -- how will this implementation

         15  process overcome that from your point of view, other

         16  than you taking them to court? Do you understand

         17  what I'm trying to get at?

         18                 Are they receiving from you ways to

         19  avoid doing this? You've indicated a longer listing

         20  of possible, acceptable forms of identification, are

         21  they receiving you well with those suggestions at

         22  all? Are they indifferent? And what other

         23  alternatives are you suggesting?

         24                 MR. ADEGBILE: Well, LDF has worked as

         25  part of the Citizens Coalition that we've spoken of
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          2  today, and we are presenting information and ideas

          3  to the Board. What they ultimately do --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: To the task

          5  force?

          6                 MR. ADEGBILE: I stand corrected. To

          7  the task force. So that they will have this

          8  information before them, because the process has not

          9  necessarily been as open as one would like, because

         10  it hasn't been as defined as one would like. It's

         11  hard for me to sit here and speculate as to how they

         12  will integrate the suggestions that we have

         13  proferred to them. But as the Legal Defense Fund,

         14  our primary role historically and to this day is to

         15  give some advice and then wait and see. And, so, we

         16  are working with this collaborative here because we

         17  think that we possibly can intervene at an early

         18  time so that we don't have more Federal Court

         19  decisions. But if that does not go appropriately,

         20  we're prepared to do what we need to to vindicate

         21  the rights of minority citizens.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Well, clearly

         23  the Council, and this Committee in particular, these

         24  committees in particular, are very interested in

         25  weighing in with all who are concerned about this,
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          2  especially from the voter rights point of view, and

          3  even if it's not -- not just in terms of the task

          4  force, but if there's the kind of resistance that

          5  I'm sensing going even further with regard to any

          6  kind of legal action that has to be taken.

          7                 So, please make sure you stay in

          8  touch with us. If you made such communications

          9  already to them in writing and feel that copies of

         10  that communication, in addition to the report that

         11  you gave, would be helpful, please let us know.

         12                 Obviously we will pick and choose

         13  that which we can arrive at in consensus. Clearly,

         14  the concerns about the full-face ballot are not a

         15  matter of consensus at this point in time, but there

         16  are other aspects of your concerns that I think you

         17  can tell that we share and would want to join you in

         18  addressing to the appropriate task force or, if

         19  necessary, in court.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Can I have a point

         21  of clarification from the part of the Women's League

         22  Voters?

         23                 You have been sitting at the table in

         24  the task force, have you witnessed, listened,

         25  confirmed that these discussions about these
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          2  suggestions took place?

          3                 Can you speak up into the mic?

          4                 MS. URBAN: I have not been at the

          5  task force. One of our state people is at the task

          6  force.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Then you had not

          8  even reports of what's happening in there.

          9                 MS. URBAN: Personally I don't. But I

         10  do know that they are not thrilled with what's

         11  happening.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Let me understand

         13  clear. That person who is in the task force that is

         14  from your organization, does she issue reports to

         15  you about what is going on in there?

         16                 MS. URBAN: Not formal reports, no.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: No. Then we do not

         18  know what discussions has taken place in there, we

         19  do not know or have any --

         20                 MS. RAGHUNATHAN: I actually -- we do.

         21  We've actually been at the task force meetings where

         22  the members of the task force have sat around the

         23  table and deliberated to their satisfaction, not to

         24  ours, obviously, on the issues that we are raising.

         25                 We have written letters to Peter
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          2  Kusinski and to other members of the task force, we

          3  have done news conferences, you know, before the

          4  task force meetings, we have, you know, through our

          5  advocacy efforts we are able to have a public

          6  comment period for those that attend the task force

          7  meeting.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Okay.

          9                 MS. RAGHUNATHAN: Obviously, in our

         10  own estimation there hasn't been sufficient

         11  discussion of just what kind of an impact and the

         12  modifications HAVA will have on the state's diverse

         13  electorate, obviously. But I can say, and we will

         14  certainly send you folks copies of the many, many,

         15  many communications that we have had with Mr.

         16  Kusinski and with the other members of the task

         17  force.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Let me interject

         19  to say this: There's a lot of stuff going on wrong

         20  apparently with this task force that has a

         21  potentially devastating impact for the people of the

         22  City of New York. Understand the focus of our

         23  concern are the 8 million people in the City of New

         24  York and the Board of Elections and the ability of

         25  those people and the Board of Elections to fulfill
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          2  the democratic responsibility with a little d, that

          3  this Act presumably is supposed to fulfill.

          4                 The testimony that we're receiving so

          5  far, has not been comforting, not just from you but

          6  throughout the day. So, it's a great, great concern

          7  for us at the Council with regard to all the issues,

          8  the disabilities issues, the issues related to

          9  resources for training coming in in a timely basis,

         10  resources for new equipment or what type of

         11  equipment coming in on a timely basis, so it is a

         12  great urgency here for us to try to get this train

         13  back on the track so-to-speak as was earlier pointed

         14  out.

         15                 So, I really appreciate, I don't mean

         16  to cut through you or prevent you, but I just wanted

         17  to say that because I keep hearing these stories

         18  that don't promise, you know, don't speak well for

         19  what's going on.

         20                 MR. RAGHUNATHAN: If I can just lastly

         21  interject, I think there have been many, many

         22  efforts on our part to try to engage the task force

         23  that have not been met with exactly open arms.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Do you have a

         25  concluding point you want to make? You're satisfied?
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Did you register

          3  your complaints about the dissatisfaction of the

          4  composition of the task force in writing?

          5                 MS. URBAN: Oh, yes, we issued a press

          6  release at the time.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Can you give us

          8  copies of that?

          9                 MS. URBAN: Certainly.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: To this Committee?

         11                 MS. URBAN: Certainly. Certainly.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: It will be very

         13  important.

         14                 MS. URBAN: No, we issued a press

         15  release right after the task force was formed.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Did you send

         17  correspondence to them also protesting the

         18  composition?

         19                 MS. URBAN: I believe we did. It would

         20  have come out of our state office and I'm quite sure

         21  --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Okay, if you did,

         23  please, it will be very helpful for us to have copy

         24  of that.

         25                 MS. URBAN: Be happy to.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Okay, thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Next, please.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Just for all of

          5  you to know, I don't want the job of the

          6  Sergeants-of-Arms. Don't give me the papers to

          7  distribute because they are getting jealous every

          8  time that I get it. And I don't want your job,

          9  Ralph.

         10                 MS. FISHER: Good afternoon. My name

         11  is Amy Sandrom Fisher, and I am the Advocacy

         12  Director of Citizens Union Foundation. Fortunately

         13  Robert Abrams, our Board President, had to leave,

         14  and feels very passionately about these issues and

         15  he asked me to present excerpts of his testimony

         16  here today.

         17                 First I'd like to thank you for

         18  creating this forum that has enabled New Yorkers

         19  like myself to discuss how New York State and New

         20  York City can make the most of the Help America Vote

         21  Act.

         22                 The electoral system in New York is

         23  now so dysfunctional and so difficult for voters to

         24  contend with that it actually works to discourage

         25  people from participating. It is shocking to
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          2  recognize that New York City in its last Mayoral

          3  election in 2001, when a well known Citywide elected

          4  official faced a respected businessman who spent a

          5  record $70 million to get his vote out.

          6  Approximately only one out of every four people

          7  eligible to vote actually went to the polls.

          8                 Three out of four people who could

          9  have voted that day did not. Another astounding and

         10  embarrassing statistic is that 1.7 million New York

         11  City citizens who are eligible to vote are not

         12  currently registered.

         13                 For those people that did make it to

         14  the polls in 2001, they faced further barriers to

         15  casting their ballot. Manhattan, Brooklyn and Queens

         16  were all over 100 voting machines short of what they

         17  needed.

         18                 In Manhattan there were voting

         19  machine problems in 22.2 percent of election

         20  districts. The City needed another 3,371 poll

         21  workers to fully staff polling sites. Even for

         22  voters who were able to cast votes, their votes were

         23  not necessarily counted.

         24                 In the primary election in 2001, the

         25  Board of Elections invalidated over 40,000 paper
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          2  ballots. Further, in the runoff between Mark Green

          3  and Fernando Ferrer that year, over 11,000 votes

          4  were lost, meaning that voters entered the voting

          5  booth, but no vote was actually recorded.

          6                 This often happens due to voting

          7  machine malfunction, misdirection by poll workers,

          8  and a simple lack of voter education.

          9                 It is particularly distressing that

         10  votes were lost at a much higher rate in low-income

         11  and minority communities than in other parts of our

         12  City. For example, in the Greenpoint Williamsburg

         13  section of Brooklyn, the rate of lost votes was

         14  three times the national average.

         15                 Citizens Union believes that the

         16  passage of HAVA signifies a pivotal moment in the

         17  history of the American democracy and of elections

         18  in the United States. This breakthrough legislation

         19  is the next logical step to the historic landmark

         20  the Voting Rights Act.

         21                 As such, rather than see HAVA's

         22  mandates as an obstacle to be overcome, New York

         23  City and State should embrace the opportunity the

         24  Act represents to systematically reform our

         25  electoral system, so that it is one that encourages
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          2  more people to vote and ensures that everyone's vote

          3  is counted in a fair, equal and effective manner.

          4                 Although substantial federal funding

          5  will be available through the Help America Vote Act,

          6  it will not be sufficient to comply with the

          7  mandates of the law, or to truly reform election

          8  administration in New York.

          9                 We all recognize that these are

         10  difficult financial times in New York City and

         11  State, but there is no more essential function of

         12  the City and State government than to administer

         13  fair elections.

         14                 If our election system cannot be

         15  trusted, no government decision will be trusted.

         16                 As a result, the City and state must

         17  recognize the importance and necessity of investing

         18  in our democracy.

         19                 Finally, in implementing the Help

         20  America Vote Act, we must remember that the only two

         21  United States Senators to vote against the Act were

         22  Senators Schumer and Clinton from this state.

         23                 New York Senators were concerned that

         24  the anti-fraud provisions of the Act would serve to

         25  discourage certain populations from voting, rather
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          2  than encourage increased participation. New York

          3  must heed that warning and be careful to be sure

          4  that the implementation and interpretation of HAVA

          5  helps all New Yorkers to vote, removing barriers to

          6  voter participation, rather than creating new ones.

          7                 In addition to Mr. Abrams' role at

          8  the Citizens Union Foundation, he is now also

          9  working with the Century Foundation, a nonpartisan

         10  public policy research organization, to compile a

         11  report that will become a blueprint for how New York

         12  can best implement and comply with the recently

         13  passed Help America Vote Act.

         14                 Adam Ross, who has been working with

         15  the Century Foundation will testify here today

         16  concerning the findings of that report and will

         17  provide you with some concrete examples of how this

         18  State Legislature can use the frame work set forth

         19  by HAVA to make New York's electoral system an

         20  example for the country.

         21                 The most fundamental right of any

         22  citizen is the right to vote. The Help America Vote

         23  Act has a unique opportunity to make the vital

         24  changes to the Administration of Elections within

         25  the State. We look forward to working with elected
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          2  officials and Boards of Elections to take full

          3  advantage of that opportunity.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 MR. ROSS: My name is Adam Ross, and

          6  I'm here in place of Tova Wang from the Century

          7  Foundation and Ron Hayduk of the City University of

          8  New York. Forgive me if I jump around, I'm going to

          9  try to present to you with some excerpts of their

         10  testimony and the highlights of their report, the

         11  Help America Vote Act, Impact and Potential for New

         12  York.

         13                 Ms. Wang has been working with former

         14  Attorney General Robert Abrams, Attorney Arthur

         15  Freed and Professor Hayduk to produce this report

         16  and what I'm about to present are some highlights.

         17                 We believe that under HAVA the State

         18  must replace all of its current lever machines. The

         19  legislation does not specifically require the State

         20  to procure a single type of voting systems

         21  statewide, but we believe there are significant

         22  advantages to doing so.

         23                 First, there are likely economies of

         24  scale in purchasing. Second, a statewide voter

         25  education campaign could be launched. Voters who
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          2  move within the state will always be familiar with

          3  the voting machine, no matter where they go.

          4                 Finally, poll workers could be

          5  trained on one system and be qualified to work

          6  anywhere in the state. And this is a critical link

          7  we want to emphasize. New voting technology must be

          8  matched by substantial funding for thorough voter

          9  education and rigorous poll worker training.

         10                 Given the cost of the machines, the

         11  State is going to nevertheless have to commit some

         12  of its own resources to replacing voting machines

         13  regardless of the funding that comes from the

         14  federal government.

         15                 In New York City, the rate of lost

         16  votes in 2000 was not only higher than the national

         17  average, but also Florida's. Sometimes this was

         18  because the voting machines did not work as they

         19  should.

         20                 As a result, we recommend that New

         21  York State establish its own benchmarks for the

         22  voting system with HAVA funds. These benchmarks or

         23  performance measures should include both

         24  technology-based errors and human-based errors. New

         25  York State should regularly collect a variety of
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          2  data to assess the performance of its election

          3  system, including how well HAVA is being

          4  implemented.

          5                 We outlined such benchmarks in TCF's

          6  forthcoming report.

          7                 The new federal law also requires the

          8  voting machines have a paper audit trail. We believe

          9  the law requires that the paper record be one that

         10  is for each individual vote, not a paper tally of

         11  all the votes cast on the machine, as is done now.

         12                 This is necessary so the paper trail

         13  can later be counted or compared with the electronic

         14  record.

         15                 Without a vote-by-vote paper record,

         16  fraud or some type of machine failure or faulty code

         17  would not likely be detected.

         18                 With regard to voter education, other

         19  than requiring certain voting information to be

         20  posted at all polling places on Election Day, the

         21  Help America Vote Act does not impose specific

         22  mandates for how New York must train its poll

         23  workers and educated voters.

         24                 HAVA does, however, provide New York

         25  State with some of the funds necessary to carry out
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          2  new education and training programs, as well as

          3  enhance existing ones.

          4                 The amount of federal funds that New

          5  York will receive will fall short of the total

          6  amount necessary to properly train all elected

          7  officials and educate all voters about the changes

          8  HAVA requires.

          9                 And the New York State Legislature

         10  and this Committee will need to set aside its own

         11  money to ensure full and fair implementation of

         12  HAVA.

         13                 As the Governor's Task Force points

         14  out, a voter's bill of rights could be distributed

         15  and publicized prior to Election Day, as well. A

         16  Board of Elections websites and local newspapers in

         17  the weeks leading up to an election, and then voter

         18  guides and other information mailed to registered

         19  voters. It could even be distributed at all voter

         20  registration locations, such as the Department of

         21  Motor Vehicles and Social Service offices.

         22                 We also believe that an increase in

         23  poll worker pay will likely improve the number and

         24  quality of workers.

         25                 Additionally we suggest that workers
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          2  at the polls could qualify as compensatory time for

          3  government employees, we support the tax incentives

          4  to businesses or count as jury duty. Split shifts

          5  could reduce poll worker fatigue and errors.

          6                 Also, creative poll worker

          7  recruitment strategies would probably be more

          8  successful, if not hampered by New York's legal

          9  requirement that poll workers be registered members

         10  of one of the two major political parties.

         11                 Nationally and in New York nearly one

         12  in three eligible voters are not registered as

         13  democrats or republicans. Many are registered in

         14  third parties or as independents.

         15                 We also recommend that the state

         16  recruit high school students to work as poll

         17  workers, as many other jurisdictions are now doing.

         18  To do this, though, New York would have to amend its

         19  Election Law.

         20                 We argue it would be prudent to

         21  integrate the statewide voter registration lesson

         22  that HAVA requires be integrated into the State and

         23  City universities, the Department of Motor Vehicle,

         24  Disability Services and other public assistance or

         25  social service agencies. Doing so would make the
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          2  list more accurate by allowing new information to be

          3  assimilated into it.

          4                 As you have discussed, one major

          5  difference between New York Law and new federal law

          6  is that HAVA establishes an identification process

          7  that first-time voters must follow in order to vote.

          8                 It should be underscored that this

          9  identification requirement, when voting only applies

         10  to first-time voters, and voters who are registering

         11  for the first time in the state by mail.

         12                 The type of documentation provided

         13  for in HAVA, however, simply does not adequately

         14  take the poor or married people into account.

         15                 For example, it is not unusual that

         16  one spouse is listed on household bills, or that

         17  low-income people, senior citizens, people with

         18  disabilities and students who do not have driver's

         19  license, bank accounts, paychecks, or other forms of

         20  identification.

         21                 Unless New York State clarifies other

         22  types of documentation, disenfranchisement will

         23  occur, as has been discussed today.

         24                 Therefore, New York could provide a

         25  voter registration card or other documentation with
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          2  the voter's name and address that would identify a

          3  person for purposes of HAVA.

          4                 Furthermore, New York should

          5  recognize other forms of identification as valid for

          6  registration process.

          7                 HAVA provides if a voter appears at

          8  the polls and does not have the required

          9  identification, then the voter is allowed to cast a

         10  provisional ballot.

         11                 In addition, a voter who mails in a

         12  ballot without the proper identifying information

         13  will also have the ballot be treated as provisional.

         14  It is essential that poll workers are aware of this

         15  provision and are adequately trained to abide it so

         16  that voters will not be turned away if they do not

         17  have the proper identification.

         18                 Thank you for this opportunity to

         19  present this testimony today.

         20                 MS. FISHER: I'd like to make one

         21  other point, if I may; and that is that Citizens

         22  Union Foundation attended every single task force

         23  meeting in Albany, and along with our colleagues on

         24  the Statewide Committee for voter, on the Statewide

         25  Committee, has made enormous efforts to make the
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          2  task force aware of many of the issues that have

          3  been raised here today, and has been continuously

          4  trying to communicate with Mr. Kusinski about these

          5  issues.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: What had been the

          7  result of that communication? Because my mother used

          8  to talk to me when I was six, seven, eight, nine,

          9  ten, eleven, twelve, and I did not listen. Then I

         10  want to know what happened because then when I

         11  became 20, 21, 22, I begin listening.

         12                 MS. FISHER: As you've heard here

         13  today, the task force met five times, at each of

         14  those meetings, discussed some of the issues that

         15  have been raised, but not a single vote was taken,

         16  and in many cases and in-depth conversation about

         17  how these provisions are going to affect voters in

         18  New York State did not occur.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Then they did not

         20  listen, like when I was a child, I guess. Thank you.

         21                 Thank you for your testimony.

         22                 The next panel is Bill Benning.

         23  Susan -- how do you read this last name? Eustis. Dr.

         24  Kevin Chung. Michelle Shafer.  William D. Huhn.

         25  Mickey Martin; and Matthew Lilly. Those are the last

                                                            250

          1  GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS, MENTAL HEALTH, TECHNOLOGY

          2  individuals who are scheduled to speak today here.

          3                 Should I repeat all the names again?

          4                 My apologies, I am being corrected.

          5  There is another panel after this. I make a big

          6  mistake when I said, forgive me, don't send me to

          7  the fire. Give me that benefit. Thank you.

          8                 Did everybody that I called to the

          9  podium here came through? We have one, two, three,

         10  four, five, six people there. Okay, we are set.

         11                 The Council to this Committee is

         12  going to swear you in. Just raise your right hand

         13  and you will be in shape.

         14                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Good afternoon.

         15  Do you solemnly swear or affirm the testimony you

         16  are about to give is the truth, the whole truth and

         17  nothing but the truth?

         18                 DR. CHUNG: I do.

         19                 MS. SHAFER: I do.

         20                 MR. MARTIN: I do.

         21                 MR. BENNING: I do.

         22                 MR. HUHN: I do.

         23                 MS. EUSTIS: I do.

         24                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Thank you.

         25  Could you each for the record state your name and
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          2  the company you're representing and your position?

          3                 DR. CHUNG: My name is Kevin Chung.

          4  I'm president of Avante International.

          5                 MS. SHAFER: Michelle Shafer, Director

          6  of Marketing for Hart InterCivic.

          7                 MR. MARTIN: Mickey Martin, Regional

          8  Manager for Diebold.

          9                 MR. BENNING: Bill Benning, Director

         10  of Sales, Voting Technologies International.

         11                 MR. HUHN: I'm Bill Huhn, Director of

         12  Marketing for Wintergreen Research, and we also have

         13  a sister company, Encrypted Voting Machine Systems.

         14                 MS. EUSTIS: Susan Eustis, President

         15  of Wintergreen Research.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: We will begin the

         17  testimony from left to right, because I have a

         18  proclivity toward to the left in my political views.

         19                 DR. CHUNG: Thank you for inviting us

         20  as a vendor community to come and testify in front

         21  of you on our effort to improve the voting system.

         22                 My name is Kevin Chung, and we are

         23  new company in the election industry. When we

         24  started the company our goal actually was starting

         25  November 2000, right a few day after November 2000,
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          2  and our goal was always seen to make sure every vote

          3  cast, is counted and counted correctly, and later on

          4  expanded into also making sure every voter can cast

          5  a vote independently, and we think HAVA is a good

          6  Act, to actually a starting point to make sure that

          7  some of these goals get achieved.

          8                 Now, we are the first company to

          9  certify nationally to provide a vote verifiable

         10  paper record, as a voting, part of voting audit

         11  trails, and you will see that in our pamphlet and

         12  testimony that we submitted.

         13                 We will come back to this a little

         14  bit more. What I want to emphasize is the

         15  accessibility, of course, is a critical part in the

         16  HAVA requirement. Alternate language can easily be

         17  achieved using system it can be basically any

         18  languages, not only that alternate languages will be

         19  available on the screen, they can be read to you as

         20  well as the voice assistant, so the blind voter with

         21  alternate language requirement, they can be met

         22  easily to the system. And also to make sure the

         23  blind voter, not just able to vote, but able to vote

         24  in 100 percent the way as any other sighter (sic)

         25  voter would do.
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          2                 Like several people testified,

          3  they're multiple impairment, how do you handle that?

          4  In this case our system actually uses standard

          5  keyboard to allow the blind voter to vote with

          6  raised key. So if you have no use of finger, you can

          7  use the fist to make your vote.

          8                 If, however, you know how to type you

          9  can write in easily. If you don't know how to type,

         10  you can use this scroll, scroll the alphabet, A, B,

         11  C, D, E, F and do your writing as well. So, not just

         12  allow you to vote, but allow you to vote 100 percent

         13  as the other sighter voter would be able to do.

         14                 And the next thing that we think is

         15  very important is that actually to make sure that no

         16  errors happen in the machine or election processes.

         17  We believe very firmly that a verifiable paper

         18  record is critical to this success, and in fact, we

         19  are very proud to be the first machine manufacturer

         20  back in April, or March, actually 2001, to introduce

         21  machine New York City in Waldorf Astoria, and

         22  attract a lot of national interest having a voter

         23  verifiable paper record as part of the voting

         24  system.

         25                 We believe that with this record
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          2  being the voter able to verify it, can assure the

          3  voter that indeed their vote is counted and counted

          4  correctly, instead of just a black box voting

          5  syndrome. You cast your vote, say thank you. And you

          6  never know exactly. In fact, if you look at all the

          7  voting technology up to today, if you voted all your

          8  life you never really know the vote is counted or

          9  not. In this case, if you have print the record, you

         10  can be quite sure you vote will be counted, counted

         11  correctly. And, of course, this is supported by also

         12  HAVA having a permanent paper record requirement, as

         13  one of your resolutions, which I'm not going to

         14  repeat.

         15                 Now in some other states, like

         16  California, they actually have additional resolution

         17  requiring this record be printed in front of the

         18  voter, as well, as a partial requirement.

         19                 So, in this case, the other issue is

         20  also in the voting system you have many possibility

         21  to make the errors, electronic voting systems, and

         22  possibly some fought as well, so the paper is the

         23  only way to eliminate that.

         24                 And also, the good thing about,

         25  however, one good thing about touch screens and
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          2  electronic system is it can, if you do it right, can

          3  eliminate all kinds of error.

          4                 For example, if people left the

          5  voting booth before they finish the vote, what is

          6  going to happen, is the next voter going to have

          7  their vote? Or the poll worker has another vote? So

          8  those issue, voter issue can be addressed. We did

          9  address that to eliminate that error. And of course,

         10  like we talk about a lot of provisional voters, are

         11  they going to be disenfranchised by giving them a

         12  piece of paper to vote? Now, voting on paper has

         13  known to potentially to contribute to ten percent

         14  error, because giving a person a piece of paper,

         15  they can do all kinds of things with it, and they

         16  make error, and they may like to count it. So what

         17  we did is we had a first company introduce

         18  electronic way, allowing the voter to vote

         19  professional, mean to go up to the machine, they

         20  vote the same as other voter, but their vote is

         21  counted differently, go in a cut, the cut that would

         22  be after the identity have been affirmed and they

         23  will be counted.

         24                 Also important is this way that the

         25  screen can present to the voter, that can make
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          2  voters, make errors, a lot of under vote has

          3  happened in touch screen system. For example, give

          4  you an example, in year 2000 in LA County in

          5  California, 12.3 percent did not vote for US

          6  Senator, while on the paper only like three or five

          7  percent is not voting for US Senator. So the machine

          8  can be good thing, it can also misguide you.

          9                 In our system what we do is construct

         10  a one-way street, the voter guide through one screen

         11  at a time. In that case the voter has to make a

         12  choice to the candidate, or they have to press a

         13  skip contest to tell the system that indeed he or

         14  she did not want to go and have particular issues.

         15                 That actually resolve all of the

         16  so-called and intention to vote. In this case that's

         17  like 50, 60 percent of those under-voted would have

         18  voted if they had not misguided by the system.

         19                 Another way to make sure the

         20  accessibility is to design the machine that actually

         21  can allow all the voter in New York City vote

         22  anywhere in New York City. Or for that matter, in

         23  the future if the law allow to vote in any way in

         24  the state which our system also designed to meet

         25  that requirement and it would prove that in the last
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          2  election, in Sacramento County, November 2002. So,

          3  that's what I believe the HAVA requirement actually

          4  help us be able to build a system that is error-free

          5  and make sure every vote will be counted and counted

          6  correctly, and paper record is absolutely essential

          7  to make sure that happen. Thank you very much.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Thank you.

          9                 Ms. Shafer.

         10                 MS. SHAFER: Thank you. Good

         11  afternoon, members of the City Council. It's my

         12  pleasure to be here on behalf of Hart InterCivic to

         13  discuss the critically important topic of voting

         14  equipment modernization in the wake of the Help

         15  America Vote Act.

         16                 Let me begin by introducing you to

         17  Hart InterCivic. For over 90 years Hart InterCivic

         18  has provided election products and services to

         19  hundreds of counties and thousands of other

         20  government and private sector customers nationwide.

         21                 Hart has been a supplier of ballots

         22  and other election products since 1912.

         23                 Hart InterCivic's eSlate Electronic

         24  Voting System is one of the most widely used

         25  electronic voting systems in the nation, with
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          2  customers coast to coast.

          3                 Since introducing the eSlate system

          4  in 2000, we have sold more than 20,000 eSlate units

          5  to jurisdictions representing more than 4.9 million

          6  registered voters.

          7                 In the November 2002 elections,

          8  nearly 1 million votes were cast on the eSlate

          9  System with no significant reports of problems of

         10  failure.

         11                 Hart InterCivic's experience and

         12  expertise is evident in our work with all of our

         13  customers, but most notably Harris County, the

         14  nation's third largest county and home to Houston,

         15  Texas. With 1.9 million registered voters and 884

         16  precincts.

         17                 In November 2002 general election

         18  Hart InterCivic successfully completed on-time and

         19  on-budget the implementation of the eSlate System

         20  for Harris County.

         21                 In addition to Harris County, Hart

         22  InterCivic's customers include Tarrant County, which

         23  is Fort Worth, Texas, Travis County, which is

         24  Austin, Texas, Arapahoe County, which is Greater

         25  Denver/Littleton area of Colorado, Brazos County,
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          2  Texas, and the City of Charlottesville, Virginia.

          3                 The City of Philadelphia has

          4  implemented Hart InterCivic's Ballot Now application

          5  for absentee and by mail voting to supplement an

          6  existing polling place system.

          7                 Earlier this year, we were also

          8  pleased to learn that Orange County, California, the

          9  nation's fifth largest county, had selected the

         10  eSlate as its new voting system.

         11                 Hart InterCivic is also a national

         12  partner in the Federal Voting Assistance Program, or

         13  FVAP, sponsored by the US Department of Defense, for

         14  Internet voting for those military members stationed

         15  overseas.

         16                 Now that I've told you a little bit

         17  about our company, let me tell you more about the

         18  eSlate.

         19                 ESlate electronic voting system is

         20  compliant with all requirements set forth in HAVA.

         21  It was designed from the very beginning to be what

         22  election officials need, an accurate, durable,

         23  accessible and secure voting system with a low,

         24  total cost of ownership.

         25                 The eSlate system was designed to
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          2  include a state-of-the-art optical encoder called

          3  the "select wheel," as its primary voter interface,

          4  making eSlate the most accurate device on the market

          5  today for clearly recording voter intent.

          6                 This technology provides 100 percent

          7  positional accuracy at all times. The system records

          8  each vote accurately, tabulating vote totals and

          9  reporting and archiving results securely and

         10  reliably.

         11                 ESlate is held in high regard for

         12  accessibility and ease of use for all voters. Hart

         13  InterCivic has worked with organizations, such as

         14  the National Federational of the Blind, the American

         15  Council of the Blind, the National Organization on

         16  Disability, and the American Association of People

         17  With Disabilities, to obtain input and guidance

         18  regarding the accessibility features of the eSlate

         19  system.

         20                 As a result of this research and

         21  collaboration is the eSlate being rated as the

         22  highest ranked voting system in terms of

         23  accessibility in the November 2002 issue of Access

         24  World Magazine.

         25                 And this was based on a review of
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          2  some voting systems by the American Foundation for

          3  the Blind, Technology and Employment Center.

          4                 ESlate allows all voters, including

          5  voters of physical disabilities, to vote using the

          6  same system.

          7                 An eSlate outfitted with special

          8  accessibility module is virtually indistinguishable

          9  from an eSlate used by voters with full physical

         10  capabilities. Yet, the eSlate can accommodate even

         11  the most severely disabled voters. All disability

         12  features can be used interchangeably with the eSlate

         13  standard interfaces, allowing the voter to overcome

         14  whatever challenges he or she may face in casting a

         15  vote privately and independently.

         16                 Visually impaired or literacy

         17  challenged voters may use the eSlate's integrated

         18  audio ballot reader. Through headphones supplied

         19  with the system, eSlate's audio ballot reader allows

         20  voters to hear the ballot read in a human voice, not

         21  a synthesized electronic voice, including audible

         22  instructions and confirmation of each vote.

         23                 Each eSlate with its accessibility

         24  module also allows voters to use optional,

         25  externally mounted controls or tactile switches that
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          2  extend independent access even further. The eSlate

          3  may also be operated by devices such as the

          4  "sip-and-puff," sometimes used by disabled voters

          5  to operate their wheelchairs or access other

          6  electronic devices.

          7                 Finally, Hart InterCivic provides

          8  comprehensive training for all election, technical

          9  and clerical staff. Our training courses are

         10  designed to achieve user mastery in the short-term

         11  and independence as a long-term objective for each

         12  customer.

         13                 And we also believe the successful

         14  roll out of a new voting system depends not only on

         15  the equipment in the election administration team

         16  and training, but hinges on a thorough voter

         17  education program.

         18                 Toward this end, Hart InterCivic

         19  provides a broad-based voter education and outreach

         20  program to our customers, incorporating a wide range

         21  of mechanisms, including flyers, videos, visual

         22  displays, Internet sources and public service and

         23  paid commercial announcements through the media.

         24                 While the foundations of this program

         25  are in place on a previous research experience, the
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          2  program will be tailored to particular needs of New

          3  York City. Harris Votes, the comprehensive voter

          4  education program developed by Hart InterCivic for

          5  Harris County, has received national recognition in

          6  PR Week Magazine's Community Relations Program of

          7  the Year for 2002.

          8                 In conclusion, Hart InterCivic would

          9  like to offer you are elections experience, advanced

         10  technology, proven capabilities and customer focus

         11  support.

         12                 Thank you very much for the

         13  opportunity to speak with you today.

         14                 MR. MARTIN: Good afternoon. I'm

         15  Mickey Martin with Diebold Corporation. I, too,

         16  would like to thank you for allowing us to be here

         17  today.

         18                 And what I would like to do is tell

         19  you a little bit about Diebold Corporation. I think

         20  what you'll find is when you start looking at all

         21  the voting equipment that's on the market today, all

         22  of the voting equipment serves the purpose of

         23  voting. There will be differences, methodology

         24  differences, but by and large, all of your equipment

         25  are going to work and they're going to accurately
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          2  count the vote.

          3                 I think one of the things that is

          4  sometimes lost in the mix is the support that's

          5  behind those systems. Diebold Corporation is a

          6  little over $2 billion, or a little under, I should

          7  say, $2 billion corporation. It's a 140-year-old

          8  company. We have an infrastructure throughout the

          9  United States. We have over 65 employees that reside

         10  here in the City of New York. So, we have the

         11  infrastructure and capability to provide excellent

         12  support after installation. I think that's something

         13  that the panel should really focus on, is the

         14  ability to put a system of this magnitude into the

         15  City and have it function properly, not only the

         16  first time, but the hundredth, the thousandth and so

         17  forth times. You need service, you need people that

         18  will be there when you have issues that come up with

         19  that. And I believe you'll find that Diebold stands

         20  the test in those areas.

         21                 As far as our product, we have the

         22  touch screen system that we're very proud of, and it

         23  is from coast-to-coast literally. It's being used in

         24  LA, California, it's being used in Maryland, it's

         25  being used in Georgia, it's being used in Kansas,
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          2  it's being used in Texas. I could go on and on.

          3  We're one of the largest suppliers of technology on

          4  the marketplace today. We have over 40,000 touch

          5  screen systems in use today. In November we had

          6  something under 30,000 units being used throughout

          7  the United States and we supported all of those

          8  accounts during that November time frame.

          9                 One of the things that I'd like to

         10  point out to, and the packet that I issued to you

         11  has most of this information, but in Georgia, the

         12  Secretary of State, Kathy Cox, had a quote, and I'll

         13  read part of it for you. It says the success of this

         14  pioneering feat is due to the overall preparedness

         15  of election officials, poll workers and voters. That

         16  is absolutely critical. You have to put enough

         17  resources into the process to educate your poll

         18  workers, to bring an outreach program to your

         19  voters. The success of any system is predicated on

         20  how well you do the advanced work. And that's

         21  something that, again, I think the panel should

         22  really focus on, is putting enough resources,

         23  monetary resources, into the process to make sure

         24  that you educate your poll workers on how to operate

         25  the system and how to allow the voters to come in
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          2  and use the system as well as the voters before they

          3  get to the polls. It's very critical that you be

          4  able to do that.

          5                 Now, I'd like to go back and address

          6  a couple of issues that I heard during testimony

          7  today that I'd like to state, and one of the issues

          8  was several people have said that in order to go

          9  from a full-face ballot to touch screen, for

         10  example, would require more units. That's not been

         11  my experience. Just the opposite is my experience.

         12  The fact is with touch screen it's much more

         13  efficient, you have multiple languages, they can go

         14  to the language that they want, they have a large

         15  font, they go through the process much faster than

         16  you do in your current lever machine full face. Not

         17  only that, you have the situation in most of your

         18  polling locations where you might have five units,

         19  you might have a line in front of one unit because

         20  it is set up a particular way, and the other four

         21  units aren't being used. With touch screen

         22  technology, that isn't the case. Every unit can

         23  accommodate the disabilities, every unit can

         24  accommodate no matter what jurisdiction you're in,

         25  or what language. So you don't have that queuing up

                                                            267

          1  GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS, MENTAL HEALTH, TECHNOLOGY

          2  of one unit while all the others are setting there

          3  idle because they're programmed for something else.

          4                 So that actually increases your

          5  throughput for your Election Day. So, that's been my

          6  experience.

          7                 The other thing is going from full

          8  face to the page-by-page might disenfranchise the

          9  minority population.

         10                 Again, my experience has been just

         11  the opposite. We have testimonial after testimonial

         12  of people that have gone from full-face ballots to

         13  this type of machines that come out of the polling

         14  locations saying this is really easy, this is fast,

         15  I like this, and it's been predominantly minority

         16  sections of each jurisdictions.

         17                 We have this system, for example, in

         18  Alamedia, California, which is Oakland, high

         19  minority population. We had this system in Memphis,

         20  Tennessee, again, high minority populations, elderly

         21  people, and they came out of that and we have a

         22  survey the first time that they were used, 88

         23  percent of over 65 population rated as excellent, we

         24  love this, glad you went to it, and that was the

         25  first time they had seen the units.
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          2                 So, I think some of the concerns, and

          3  they're valid concerns, they're very valid that you

          4  need to think through how is this going to impact

          5  various sections, but I think when you do your

          6  investigations, you will find that these things are

          7  intuitively easy to use, non-intimidating and

          8  actually increase the participation of the minority.

          9  And it also reduces the fall-off. What you have in

         10  normal operations of a full-face ballot, you go from

         11  left to right, and as you go down the ballot, you

         12  have a tremendous amount of what we call "fall-off"

         13  in your voting, and that's because the difficulties

         14  of getting down and seeing the issue perhaps or the

         15  races, or you just don't see it, all of those things

         16  add together to have a fall off of your vote,

         17  "under-vote" as they call it.

         18                 With the touch screen, because we

         19  give equal, equal presence to every office and every

         20  issue that's on that ballot, the voting actually

         21  rises in terms of the issues being voted on.

         22                 So, those are some misconceptions

         23  that I'd like to have the panel take another look at

         24  and I think you'll find that it will actually

         25  increase your participation and not decrease it.
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          2                 Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Thank you, sir.

          4                 Yes.

          5                 MR. BENNING: Yes, thank you. My name,

          6  again, is Bill Benning. I'm with Voting Technologies

          7  International out of Milwaukee, Wisconsin.

          8                 Florida gets a bad wrap on a lot of

          9  the election news that came out of 2000, but one of

         10  the things, positive things that did come out of it

         11  was a lot of the new technology. Us being one of the

         12  companies, we have another panel member here, too,

         13  and voting technologies, like many of the systems

         14  that you see out there, is a touch screen system. A

         15  lot of what Mickey said here with regard to some

         16  misconceptions on some of the systems, and with

         17  regard to this full-face ballot issue and a

         18  contest-by-contest paging system, as it's been

         19  referred to. Of course we advocate the paging

         20  system, and the reason we do it is because we've

         21  done, as everyone here has, conducted elections,

         22  done focus group studies and things like that, where

         23  the public has embraced this type of system. It

         24  allows for larger font sizes for visually impaired,

         25  it allows for cleaner screens so that you can
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          2  navigate through the system a little easier, and,

          3  so, for those types of reasons, you know, we are

          4  very pro contest-by-contest operation, or voting

          5  process.

          6                 The other thing that I would like to

          7  encourage the Council on is, the advocating of, as

          8  I've listened during the course of the day here, to

          9  encourage the State Legislature to make some changes

         10  to the current laws to allow for the option, if you

         11  want, to go through a page-by-page as opposed to a

         12  full screen.

         13                 I am also not an advocate of picking

         14  one system over another and I would say also that

         15  one size shoe does not fit all. So, you would like

         16  to be able to have the opportunity to possibly mix

         17  and match systems as opposed to going with a total

         18  statewide system for those types of reasons as well.

         19                 Your challenge is not just to pick

         20  out equipment that's going to be good for today, but

         21  you've got to look down the road in ten years, 20

         22  years from now, because you're going to be using

         23  that same voting equipment. And you have to project

         24  and be visionaries as to what the population is

         25  going to be like, and what types of technology is
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          2  going to evolve also with the decades as they grow.

          3                 So, those are just a couple of things

          4  that I wanted to mention. I do have some additional

          5  information in my testimony that I've given you, the

          6  written testimony, but I wanted to cut this short

          7  because I know it gets kind of lengthy at the end of

          8  the day, but I did want to bring up those couple of

          9  points that I, you know, in listening today felt I

         10  wanted to make. Thank you.

         11                 MR. HUHN: Well, my name is Bill Huhn.

         12  I'm with Encrypted Voting Machine Systems, and we,

         13  too, have a paper trail that is photo-verified. And

         14  I know that Gale Brewer through the day had

         15  mentioned that a couple of times, so I just wanted

         16  you to hear that.

         17                 The first thing I wanted to mention

         18  about our system is cost. We heard Mr. Ravich say

         19  that the City Council is going to reach into your

         20  pocket and put some money on the table to buy these

         21  systems, and I can tell you that's not the case with

         22  our systems. We've got a new systems, very creative

         23  programming, most of it's off-the-shelf equipment

         24  and you would be able to acquire this with the Title

         25  1 money that the federal government is making
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          2  available. We think that's a big plus for us that we

          3  can do that.

          4                 Second point we wanted to talk about

          5  is security. Something, you know, that hasn't even

          6  been mentioned today really is critical, you want a

          7  voting machine system that is absolutely secure,

          8  where there aren't back doors in, there's just no

          9  opportunity for fraud. We've got a partner that

         10  we're working with, RSA Security, one of the top

         11  software encryption companies in the US, and our

         12  software is encrypted in a way that you can't break

         13  into the system, that could include the software for

         14  each voting precinct, the vote memory on all

         15  election equipment and the votes themselves as they

         16  travel the memory.

         17                 Now, the other, I won't mention our

         18  other security provisions, we have both hardware and

         19  software that is important for that. The one thing I

         20  wanted to mention is the voter verified paper audit

         21  trail. The HAVA requires that there be a paper

         22  record. It does require that the voter look at that

         23  paper record and verify it's the way they voted. I

         24  mean it's a real question of how the states are

         25  going to interpret that requirement. Is it just the
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          2  paper record, or is it a voter verified paper

          3  record?

          4                 We took the route of a voter verified

          5  paper record, the voter gets to see the names of the

          6  people that they voted for, and to verify that

          7  that's who they intend to vote for, and they push a

          8  button and the vote is cast and that drops into a

          9  ballot box.

         10                 Now, you can do a recount without

         11  recounting those paper records, if you want, but if

         12  you want to go through the hardcore thumping of

         13  hauling out those paper ballots one by one by one

         14  and doing the recount, they're there to do it.

         15                 You've also got the ability for the

         16  Board of Elections to go through the paper at some

         17  later time and run an audit to verify that the

         18  votes, as they record it on the machine, match with

         19  the paper that's in the box.

         20                 The third I wanted to mention is

         21  ballot presentation. We do have a full-faced

         22  machine. It is our belief that that will be

         23  preferable in New York, because that's the kind of

         24  machine that you currently have voters who are going

         25  to be comfortable with that. We've seen the entire
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          2  ballot, who they're faced with voting for and

          3  basically what they need to do, right from the

          4  moment they walk into the machine, is to see who

          5  they're voting for.

          6                 The next thing I wanted to briefly

          7  touch on is the handicap issues. One of the people

          8  who worked with us on designing the machine is a

          9  quadriplegic, and I also might mention that one of

         10  the key people in our organization is

         11  African-American, the fellow who represents us in

         12  California. That was something diversity got a lot

         13  of attention today and I did want to mention we're

         14  sensitive to that.

         15                 But on the handicapped requirement,

         16  HAVA really is driven by the handicap requirements,

         17  and the approval process that we need to go through

         18  for our machine before people are able to purchase

         19  it, is going to require review by the Federal

         20  Election Commission of our compliance with the

         21  various, various requirements that are in the

         22  standards for people that are handicapped in

         23  wheelchairs, the rules specifically spelled out in

         24  terms of pulling up alongside the machine or going

         25  in frontwards and how high you reach and that sort
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          2  of thing, as well as the requirements for death and

          3  for flying that you require to comply with to get

          4  the approval.

          5                 We'll have to go through the full

          6  approval process for our new machine. It won't be a

          7  grandfathered machine that was previously approved

          8  before the 2002 standards.

          9                 In addition, our machine absolutely

         10  prevents over-votes, but it also can be set if the

         11  State of New York or the City of New York decides,

         12  to prevent under-votes. It can be set in a way that

         13  a voter can't get out unless he either votes for

         14  each office, or casts an indicator saying he chooses

         15  not to vote for anybody in that office.

         16                 Frankly, I think there's a real

         17  question as to which way the state would go or the

         18  city would go. Most municipalities so far have gone

         19  with letting people, if somebody doesn't want to

         20  vote, they can get out of the machine without

         21  casting the vote. But our machine has the capability

         22  if somebody wanted to go the other way.

         23                 The last thing really that I wanted

         24  to talk about is the fact that the machine is not

         25  approved yet. We still face getting it through the
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          2  approval, the Federal Election Commission. We're

          3  just about ready to submit our application for that.

          4  Actually we participated in the fair down here

          5  recently, and based on some of the comments that

          6  came out of that, we decided to make some changes to

          7  our vote selection mechanism.

          8                 Frankly, I would just assume that the

          9  federal money had been held up another three or four

         10  months but it hasn't been. I wanted to be up front

         11  with you, we're not approved yet. We hope to have

         12  that done soon.

         13                 Thanks very much.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Let me clarify one

         15  thing for the panelists, in case there is some

         16  confusion.

         17                 The reason that all of us are

         18  concerned about the question of participation and

         19  diversity is because this county that we are, is

         20  part of a lawsuit that took place for discrimination

         21  against people of color, and not allowing to vote,

         22  and then this particular county became under the

         23  monitor of the Justice Department and continue to be

         24  under the monitor of Justice Department for that

         25  reason, and this is not the only place.
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          2                 Then I hope that you get a mindful of

          3  our concerns, not because we like to complain,

          4  because we have a very, very justified paranoia,

          5  based on things that had happened in here and

          6  prevention of participation.

          7                 Then with that clarification, I'm

          8  going to pass to the Chair of the Committee -- the

          9  Chair on Technology, because I am totally ignorant

         10  of computers, and the only computer that I know how

         11  to use is the one that give me the money in the

         12  bank, and that's it.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: That's true.

         14                 My question is this: I wanted to ask

         15  a little bit about, we had some confusion earlier

         16  which I think you heard about the paper trail issue,

         17  and I was just wondering what you think it should

         18  be.

         19                 In other words, I think we have some

         20  room for interpreting maybe what HAVA says, so I was

         21  just wondering each case what -- I have some

         22  concerns personally, I don't know if Council Member

         23  Lopez shares it, with walking out as a voter with a

         24  piece of paper, she and I wouldn't give it to

         25  anybody, but there are people who would, and it
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          2  creates a lot of concern. I often vote perhaps

          3  differently than I tell people, and I have every

          4  right to do that, and so does anybody else, and even

          5  if you vote the same way, it's a private vote.

          6                 So, I just was wondering how you

          7  think that should be interpreted, electronically,

          8  technologically.

          9                 MR. MARTIN: If I may? I think that is

         10  a very, very serious question you're asking, and I

         11  think there's going to be a tremendous amount of

         12  debate about it throughout the country before they

         13  come to a resolution to that and come up with

         14  standards. For example, our system currently will

         15  give a receipt out if the jurisdictions want to

         16  print it out, but it doesn't do some of the things

         17  like show the voter to be the way they voted prior

         18  to their casting the ballot, it just gives them

         19  their printout. I don't think that's going to be

         20  what people want. But the question becomes how do

         21  you want to show this? In other words, are they to

         22  see this printout after they've cast their ballot?

         23  Before they've cast their ballot? If they want to

         24  make a change after it's printed out, how are you

         25  going to accommodate that, how are you going to move
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          2  the paper back out? If they've changed their mind

          3  and they don't want to cast that ballot but there is

          4  that printed receipt there that says that's already

          5  the way they market, how are they going to extract

          6  that from the ballot box, et cetera, et cetera, a

          7  lot of questions. A lot of questions.

          8                 So, I really don't, from my

          9  perspective, we can do whatever the guidelines call

         10  for. I think everyone sitting at this table already

         11  meet the guidelines that are in effect today, for

         12  ADA, as well as all the others. It's not a question

         13  of can we make the changes necessary. The real

         14  question is going to be, what is the community as a

         15  whole going to come up with and set those standards.

         16  It took quite a number of years to come up with the

         17  ADA standards. I suspect, I could be wrong, but I

         18  suspect it's going to take just as much time to

         19  really come up with the standards for the paper.

         20                 Now, though, I can address this, the

         21  current procedures do not require a receipt for the

         22  voter. That is incorrect. We were selling this

         23  system that we personally have all throughout the

         24  country today and it is meeting the HAVA

         25  requirement. They do not require, at this point they
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          2  do not require any type of receipt. California is a

          3  good example. We just recently won awards there. I

          4  believe Hart has just won one in Orange County. Now

          5  there is a big controversy about that saying what

          6  are we going to do because some people are now

          7  questioning whether that's a good idea, so it might

          8  freeze things for the moment. The current

          9  regulations do not require receipts, and I can't

         10  answer your question, I'm not sure anyone else here

         11  can, because it's really a question of how is the

         12  community going to end up wanting to have those

         13  things.

         14                 DR. CHUNG: Yes, I have some

         15  experience to offer.

         16                 First, the question of legality, as

         17  the Chairman said, a field day for the lawyers, they

         18  will be sued, there will be a lot happening in the

         19  code of law.

         20                 Our understanding of the law as

         21  written, as far as the intent is concerned, is for

         22  the voter to take a look. That's what the intent is,

         23  but it was not written in black and white so

         24  therefore it's going to be in the code of law in one

         25  day.
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          2                 As far as the experience, I can talk

          3  of experience. We hope for the first time in history

          4  in United States and anywhere in the world, with a

          5  paper record, or now-a-days we call it paper record,

          6  in the early day we promote a system, we call it

          7  paper receipt. What we did in Sacramento, in

          8  California, was very revealing. With the paper

          9  record you can actually prove you have zero percent

         10  error rate. Zero percent on the intention to vote --

         11  for example, I'll give you example; if you have 12.3

         12  percent not voting Senator in LA, if you have a

         13  paper record, that 12.3 percent is going to raise

         14  their hand, hey, I never seen the senate race. What

         15  do you mean there's a senate race. So that error

         16  could have been caught.

         17                 So, in our experience in the

         18  Sacramento County for first time in Year 2000, not

         19  one person complained what printed out is not what

         20  they voted, and the paper, by the way, is not for

         21  the voter to take at this point for California, that

         22  is for California it is explicitly stated, it's not

         23  for the voter to keep. It's for the voter to see.

         24  And in our case it's behind the plexiglass or

         25  election glass, so if you can see it outside, you
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          2  cannot take the paper record. I show you the paper

          3  record just for interest, for illustration, but you

          4  cannot take it. You can see it, you can review it.

          5  When you left, when you leave the machine actually

          6  takes it back. And if you read the law, as an

          7  auditor it doesn't make any sense to print any other

          8  time, other than the time that the voter is around,

          9  because if you make an error, if the machine

         10  recorded the vote, if you ask it to print any other

         11  time, it's going to print the error, it's not what

         12  the voter see. It's not the voter's. And at this

         13  point there's a task force in California

         14  specifically dealing with this particular issue,

         15  Secretary of State Kevin Shearly. In fact, I will go

         16  in there in Monday to testify for this particular

         17  record as well.

         18                 So, there's a proof that it work

         19  well, and there's a proof in history now that it

         20  indeed, zero percent error rate, not 12.3 percent or

         21  you don't vote, sometimes five, six percent you

         22  don't vote. In fact, you should be in our case

         23  compared to other machine, but it's same election,

         24  will be half, or little bit less than half that will

         25  select not to vote. Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Then this is

          3  interesting, what we're talking about then is a

          4  piece of paper that will show the voter how they

          5  voted and that way they can confirm if they make a

          6  mistake, not make a mistake, or if they fulfill the

          7  intended purposes, once that is done they have to

          8  return that piece of paper. They cannot leave with

          9  the piece of paper.

         10                 DR. CHUNG: Yes, in principle you

         11  could let the voter take it out, but we don't

         12  recommend it because once in the hand of the voter,

         13  you can never be sure you can get it back.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Let me say this to

         15  you, this is New York City, right, my brothers and

         16  my sister, in New York City this piece of paper

         17  should not be in the hands of anybody. I can tell

         18  you right now. I can guarantee to you.

         19                 DR. CHUNG: By the way, I have one

         20  point. I think that's more philosophical than real.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: No, this is not

         22  philosophical. I know what I'm telling you. I'm

         23  going to tell you something for you to know.

         24                 DR. CHUNG: Okay.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: This Council
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          2  member who is talking to you was reported by the New

          3  York Times, by Daily News, by the New York Post, in

          4  every newspaper, that I lost the election the night

          5  of the election. Nonetheless, I won that election.

          6                 DR. CHUNG: Very good.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: The first election

          8  that I run for. Then with this piece of paper, can

          9  you imagine what somebody can do?

         10                 DR. CHUNG: What I really mean is

         11  that, for example, you apply to vote absentee, you

         12  are given a piece of paper to vote. Therefore, when

         13  you voted, you can always make a copy and sell your

         14  vote, so you can do it today in principle.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: You cannot do it

         16  in principle?

         17                 DR. CHUNG: No, you can do it today in

         18  principle. You apply to vote absentee.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: More than that.

         20                 DR. CHUNG: Then you vote your stuff,

         21  then you make a copy, you sell the photocopy.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: More than that.

         23  You have to see when I run for office, everybody

         24  after I won say that they voted for me. And I was

         25  wondering how come I didn't have, you know, 50,000
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          2  people voting for me.

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 MR. MARTIN: If I may add, we have

          5  accounts in California, and I can assure you there's

          6  opposing views to this gentleman's position within

          7  those counties. So, as I stated earlier, the verdict

          8  is not even close to being reached yet on whether or

          9  not there will be a paper, and if there is, how will

         10  it be done.

         11                 So, that's what we were saying, it's

         12  way up in the air and it's going to take some time,

         13  I believe.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Can each one of

         15  you very quickly just yes or no, I don't need no

         16  more explanation, that your machine can take

         17  full-face paper ballot?

         18                 MR. BENNING: Yes.

         19                 MR. MARTIN: Full-face paper ballot?

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Yes, full-face

         21  paper ballot? Can you machine do that or not? Yes or

         22  no?

         23                 MR. BENNING: Not today.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: And yours?

         25                 MS. SHAFER: No.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: And yours?

          3                 MR. MARTIN: No.

          4                 MR. CHUNG: No.

          5                 MR. HUHN: Yes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Then yours is the

          7  only one.

          8                 MR. HUHN: Yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Okay, thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Let me ask a

         11  question.

         12                 So, New York City is a full faced

         13  ballot city for 100 years or more, and people like

         14  every place else, they develop a sort of a culture

         15  of voting, a way of voting, a way of feeling a

         16  comfort zone.

         17                 For instance, Council Member Lopez

         18  was pointing out that in New York we don't like

         19  paper balloting per se, absentee balloting is

         20  necessary by paper at this point in time, and what

         21  they call affidavit balloting is necessary by paper

         22  at this point in time.

         23                 But generally speaking, elections

         24  with paper are not part of the acceptable culture in

         25  New York City, as, again, full-fact balloting is.
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          2                 What is your experience with

          3  full-face balloting, and where does that experience

          4  take place at?

          5                 MR. HUHN: Yes, I grew up -- my dad

          6  was the Production Manager for an automatic voting

          7  machine company that made a full-face voting machine

          8  from like 1902, so I've been involved --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Are you Shupe?

         10                 MR. HUHN: No, automatic voting.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Oh, automatic

         12  voting. I'm sorry.

         13                 MR. HUHN: It was competitive in the

         14  rest of the state, but I was involved with union

         15  elections, I was involved with poverty program

         16  elections here in New York, done a lot of election

         17  stuff my whole life.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay, so do you

         19  have contracts any place?

         20                 MR. HUHN: No. We're a new machine

         21  that hasn't been approved yet by the Federal

         22  Election Commission, so we're scrambling to get that

         23  done.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Are you familiar

         25  with some of the criticisms that folks have about
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          2  full-face balloting?

          3                 MR. HUHN: Right.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I wouldn't say

          5  it's a criticism per se, but I know that the Borough

          6  President did a study, others have testified that

          7  full-face balloting is problematic when you want to

          8  put a bunch of language differences and whatnot onto

          9  the balloting. How does your equipment respond to

         10  that?

         11                 MR. HUHN: Right. I sat here all day,

         12  so I did hear that testimony. And there were several

         13  criticisms that took place. One was the under-vote

         14  part of it, which I had talked about earlier, that

         15  we can deal with that.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: How did you say

         17  you could deal with it? I'm sorry, I had to step

         18  away.

         19                 MR. HUHN: It really has nothing to do

         20  with a full-face ballot. We're able to program our

         21  machine, if the state wants you to stop under-votes,

         22  we can program it so people have to vote in every

         23  office, or else pull a lever that says don't want to

         24  vote in this office. And there are real questions as

         25  to whether you ever want to do that, but we have the

                                                            289

          1  GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS, MENTAL HEALTH, TECHNOLOGY

          2  capability of, if you want to stop under-voting, it

          3  can be stopped 100 percent on our machine or I

          4  believe on other machines as well. So, that really

          5  doesn't have anything to do with full-face ballot.

          6                 I think the real question is the

          7  number of different languages that you use, and we

          8  are able to comply with federal law, the Right to

          9  Vote Act, I guess, it requires you to have different

         10  languages on the machine for a certain percentage of

         11  the population in the precinct, so we would

         12  accommodate that very much the way you do with a

         13  current equipment, we would have a slightly bigger

         14  ballot, so the print is a little bit bigger, but it

         15  would need to accommodate the languages that are the

         16  principal languages used in the district.

         17                 So, I think in New York you use three

         18  different languages on the ballot, California you do

         19  that.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: We use three as

         21  of now.

         22                 MR. HUHN: Right.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: But New York is

         24  very diverse linguistically, as well as ethnically

         25  and religiously, and so it's growing, the list, and
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          2  whatever equipment we ultimately use we'll have to

          3  be versatile to accommodate that kind of

          4  circumstance.

          5                 MR. HUHN: Well, you certainly could

          6  accommodate it precinct by precinct. You know, you

          7  might have three languages in one precinct and three

          8  different languages in a different precinct, so I do

          9  think that it's really, as a practical matter that

         10  it's feasible to accommodate that.

         11                 DR. CHUNG: If I may address it

         12  theoretically? With a full-face ballot electronic,

         13  can it be achieved and also be done with the same

         14  efficiency, same error-free and same accessibility?

         15  The answer is, yes, you could do it. And it will be

         16  more costly. And we have a procedure in developing

         17  that in case, just in case New York City decided to

         18  hell we're going to go with full face.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: So, you can

         20  accommodate full-face ballot if necessary?

         21                 DR. CHUNG: That's correct.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I bet everybody

         23  else up there would do the same, if necessary?

         24                 DR. CHUNG: Yes, I guess so.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: The other
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          2  concern that I have is cost. You know, different

          3  costs, I would imagine. What is your machine?

          4                 DR. CHUNG: The paper records, real

          5  time printing for voter verify, 3,600 or so. Without

          6  that it's 2,800.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: So 2,800 to

          8  3,600, depending upon --

          9                 DR. CHUNG: Whether you print the

         10  record real time.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay.

         12                 Yes?

         13                 MS. SHAFER: And ours is $2,500 is

         14  list price. It depends how many you purchase.

         15                 MR. MARTIN: Ours is roughly 3,100

         16  list price, in quantities of one.

         17                 MR. BENNING: I'm going to tell you my

         18  price, but I'm going to also qualify something that

         19  was echoed here earlier I think when you were gone.

         20                 There's not just the price of the

         21  equipment that goes into this. Okay, we're talking

         22  about training that's involved in here, we're

         23  talking about voter education, and when you start

         24  compiling those numbers onto the cost of the

         25  equipment, you are now going from 2,000 or 2,500 up
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          2  to 4,000 to 5,000 in a real hurry. So, you know, it

          3  has to be considered, the whole total concept of the

          4  pricing. That having been said, I'm around $2,500.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Does that

          6  include the training?

          7                 MR. BENNING: It could.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: It could.

          9                 Anybody want to put a better price on

         10  the table?

         11                 DR. CHUNG: Actually, our price

         12  include full training and also community outreach in

         13  every program.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay.

         15                 Anybody else want to put something on

         16  the table?

         17                 MR. HUHN: It's a bidding war here.

         18                 We hadn't actually priced our

         19  machines out fully yet because we're still in the

         20  development phase, but we are committed to coming in

         21  at a price less than the federal money that you get.

         22  So under a HAVA, that Title 1 money that's coming,

         23  we know we can beat that price, and Mr. Ravitch was

         24  saying you're going to have to put money on the

         25  table, and I can tell you, that wouldn't be the case
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          2  for us.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay.

          4                 Let me just ask you one quick

          5  question. Just because I have a report here, your

          6  equipment, is it available, or not available?

          7                 MR. HUHN: It's a prototype. Actually,

          8  we had the prototype here at the fair and based on

          9  some of the comments that we got at the fair, we've

         10  taken it back and made some changes to it. We wanted

         11  to have the machine ready today, but it's not.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: So, for

         13  instance, now, according to this report, you are

         14  Braille, with labels or Braille ballot, but you

         15  don't have a screen contrast control; is that true?

         16                 MR. HUHN: We actually don't have --

         17  we're not a touch screen system.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay.

         19                 MR. HUHN: We don't have -- I think

         20  that's why all the NAs are there.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay, very good.

         22  All right, thank you very much.

         23                 Do you have a price?

         24                 MR. HUHN: He's the CEO.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: You're together?

                                                            294

          1  GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS, MENTAL HEALTH, TECHNOLOGY

          2  Okay, thank you very much.

          3                 Any other questions? All right, thank

          4  you.

          5                 Ana Maria Archila, Latin American

          6  Integration Center. Sharon Lacks. Connie Brady.

          7  Please step forward. Please roll forward. Rev it up.

          8  Frieda Zames. Cindy Chapman. Roberta Cooper.

          9  Vladimir Epsteyn, Russian-American Voters League.

         10  And Glenn D. Magpantay.

         11                 Would you get ready to be sworn in,

         12  please.

         13                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Please raise

         14  your right hand.

         15                 Do you solemnly swear or affirm the

         16  testimony you're about to give is the truth, the

         17  whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         18                 MR. MAGPANTAY: I do.

         19                 MR. EPSTEYN: I do.

         20                 MS. BRADY: I do.

         21                 MS. ZAMES: I do.

         22                 MS. ACHILA: I do.

         23                 MS. CHAPMAN: I do.

         24                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Thank you.

         25  Could you please each, for the record, state your
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          2  name and the organization you're affiliated with.

          3                 MR. MAGPANTAY: My name is Glenn

          4  Magpantay. I am a staff attorney at the Asian

          5  American Legal Defense and Education Fund.

          6                 MR. EPSTEYN: My name is Vladimir

          7  Epsteyn. I am the president of Russian-American

          8  Voters Educational League.

          9                 MS. ZAMES: I'm Frieda Zames, and I'm

         10  from Disabled In Action.

         11                 MS. ARCHILA: My name is Ana Maria

         12  Archila, and I am the Executive Director of the

         13  Latin American Integration Center.

         14                 MS. CHAPMAN: My name is Cindy

         15  Chapman. I'm not here on behalf of any organization.

         16  I'm here for myself and also to speak for those

         17  people who are not able to speak for themselves.

         18                 MR. BRADY: I'm Connie Brady,

         19  representing DIA, Disabled In Action.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: We'll go from

         21  the left to the right.

         22                 MS. BRADY: I wrote down a few notes

         23  here. I think a long time ago the State Task Force

         24  was mentioned in the beginning, this time, in the

         25  beginning of the day. I wanted to say that I thought

                                                            296

          1  GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS, MENTAL HEALTH, TECHNOLOGY

          2  it was real important that they have disabled people

          3  on their Committee, if they're going to pick a

          4  machine that we're going to use, that they have

          5  disabled people, and not just one, because you can

          6  have a blind person, a deaf person, something wrong

          7  with somebody else's hands, something wrong with

          8  somebody else's feet, I mean all kinds of

          9  disabilities. And I think that the State Task Force

         10  needs to include all these people if they're going

         11  to pick a machine.

         12                 That's one thing I wanted to say.

         13  Another thing I wanted to say is that there's been a

         14  lot of discussion about the different languages,

         15  especially in New York City, and the way I think

         16  about it, I like the full-face ballot, probably

         17  because I grew up with that, but I just like having

         18  everything in front of me I can see. And I don't

         19  know if this is feasible or not but there's a

         20  community, like I live in a Polish and a Russian

         21  place, if there was a way to also prepare a

         22  full-face ballot in that language, I don't know how

         23  you do this on a machine, but if it's done

         24  electronic -- sorry. If it's done electronically, it

         25  can be done behind the scenes, and somebody can

                                                            297

          1  GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS, MENTAL HEALTH, TECHNOLOGY

          2  change the machine. I think if you have 500 people

          3  or more, I don't know what the number should be,

          4  maybe 100, maybe 1,000, 1,000 people that speak

          5  German should have a full-face ballot maybe in

          6  German. I don't know how this can be done. But

          7  electronically these days people do amazing things,

          8  and I don't think it's so much work to make a big

          9  thing in different language.

         10                 I was also going to say that I would

         11  like to see more disabled people on the City

         12  Council. I would like to see more disabled people

         13  everywhere, but I don't think that it's known

         14  publicly, or that it's made easy for disabled people

         15  to kind of run for office.

         16                 Now, I don't know how you would do

         17  this, I never thought about this before, but how you

         18  make it known that you want disabled people on your

         19  Council, on your club, on your whatever. Just do

         20  that, you know, to -- somehow maybe this should be a

         21  City law -- not a law, a City statement. Or some

         22  kind of a statement that disabled people are

         23  welcome, because you don't see disabled people

         24  publicly, legally, you know, and it's a point of

         25  view I think that should be included everywhere, and
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          2  the only way you can do that is to get the people

          3  there. I think that's all I wanted to say.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you.

          5                 Next.

          6                 MS. CHAPMAN: Bill and Margarita,

          7  members of the City Council, Ann. As you can see,

          8  I'm not dead yet, "yet" being the operative word.

          9  First let me thank everyone who has spoken before

         10  the Committee. I'll get to why on the end. It was

         11  very interesting for me to hear --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Can you pull the

         13  microphone to you?

         14                 MS. CHAPMAN: Okay.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Remember I am deaf

         16  in one ear.

         17                 MS. CHAPMAN: You never told me what

         18  your disabilities were. You just told me you were

         19  disabled, you never revealed your secrets, dear. Now

         20  I know.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Yes, I'm deaf in

         22  one ear.

         23                 MS. CHAPMAN: Anyway, I'm grateful to

         24  everybody who has come out here to speak, even the

         25  manufacturers of the voting equipment.
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          2                 Before the last gentleman spoke about

          3  being able to do both ballots, I was sitting here

          4  looking, going excuse me, these are computers, in

          5  this day and age the knowledge and technology that

          6  we have, there is no excuse for there not to be both

          7  types of ballots on one machine. There's just --

          8  what do you mean it can't do that? But that's my

          9  theory about using computers, even though I'm not

         10  allowed to use them because of my disability, but

         11  still. When I did programming and I did this stuff,

         12  what do you mean I can't do that, and if I couldn't

         13  do that, I called them up, excuse me, what do you

         14  mean I can't do that?

         15                 So, to me it should be a non-issue.

         16  But in order to make this, we are at the crossroads

         17  here. We have a great historic opportunity before us

         18  to make America a true democracy, not what it has

         19  been since it's inception, we need a radical

         20  paradigm shift in the American psyche in order to

         21  accomplish that. But we have this opportunity, and

         22  usually America doesn't take full advantage of the

         23  opportunity that it is presented with.

         24                 There's this historically we fail, we

         25  fail, we fail, we fail, and if it wasn't for
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          2  immigrants, we would have imploded already. We've

          3  seen democracies die. They end up totalitarian

          4  states and it is those people who come to our shores

          5  looking for our freedoms and come and speak, and are

          6  able to speak here without fear of reprisal, that

          7  they come here and they keep us strong. They keep us

          8  a democracy.

          9                 So, to me there's no excuse for the

         10  voting machines not to be able to be full ballot and

         11  page-by-page. The requirement that it must be full

         12  page should be repealed. Both should be up there,

         13  ready and available for everyone, every disability,

         14  every language and not by precinct.

         15                 Because let's say you speak Tai but

         16  you live on the Upper East Side. How many people on

         17  the Upper East Side speak Tai? So if you do it by

         18  precinct, you're disenfranchising that person.

         19  Everyone, we have the historic opportunity to have

         20  everyone vote. And we will not live up to our

         21  potential unless we ensure that this happens. The

         22  world is looking to us. They have their eyes on us

         23  now, and New York especially, and it is this City

         24  which could blaze the trail for true democracy in

         25  America.  Should we have the will to do it, it is
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          2  there. But we also have to ensure, not just with the

          3  technology, but with the voter education and getting

          4  out the vote, et cetera.

          5                 As Councilwoman Margarita Lopez

          6  already knows, that I've been an advocate and I've

          7  tried to advocate for people with disabilities,

          8  especially the mentally ill, and she's already aware

          9  that I've already been assaulted for trying to do

         10  so, I've been assaulted yet again and threatened yet

         11  again with assault. One doesn't know if I'm going to

         12  be assaulted tonight, this particular person does

         13  carry out her threats, so we know I'm going to be

         14  assaulted if I go back into that place. Whether or

         15  not I end up dead is a whole another question. And

         16  after Robin Clinison's untimely death, the stakes

         17  had been raised, and they're trying to see why a --

         18  and blame the victim big time, and they're aiding

         19  and abetting in the violent behavior and unlawful

         20  behavior, and our tax dollars are going to pay for

         21  this, as well as charitable money. This must be

         22  stopped.

         23                 In addition, it has been my

         24  experience over many, many years, and I can quote

         25  several social workers, one said to me several years
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          2  ago you have no rights. Came right out and said it.

          3  You have no rights.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Remember what is

          5  the subject of the hearing today.

          6                 MS. CHAPMAN: Right.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Remember that.

          8                 MS. CHAPMAN: We must ensure that

          9  people are out there and that these people who have

         10  been disenfranchised, who have been taught and made

         11  sure they didn't go out, they didn't register, they

         12  don't go to the polls, and these people also do not

         13  have the ID required, and they're not being given

         14  the assistance to get it, it's quite the opposite.

         15  What should be going on is exactly what's not going

         16  on.

         17                 So, with all our minority

         18  populations, our disabled populations, we must

         19  ensure that they are taken care of, looked after,

         20  make sure that they are not only able to get their

         21  votes out but are approached to do so and not

         22  thwarted.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         24  much, appreciate it.

         25                 MS. ARCHILA: Good afternoon, members

                                                            303

          1  GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS, MENTAL HEALTH, TECHNOLOGY

          2  of the City Council. Thank you for giving me the

          3  opportunity to testify on behalf of the Latin

          4  American Integration Center on issues of voting and

          5  our concerns about the implementation of a Help

          6  America Vote Act, and its potential impact on

          7  immigrant communities.

          8                 The Latin American Integration Center

          9  is a non-profit community-based organization that

         10  serves low-income immigrants residing in Queens and

         11  Staten Island.

         12                 Our purpose is to strengthen the

         13  capacity for political negotiation, and the

         14  possibility of an adequate representation for the

         15  Latin American immigrants living in New York City.

         16                 Since 1991, the Center has helped

         17  more than 11,000 immigrants become American

         18  citizens.

         19                 Our experience of more than ten years

         20  working with Latin American communities in New York

         21  City has taught us that there is a largely unmet

         22  need to educate new citizens that goes beyond

         23  helping qualified immigrants to complete their

         24  naturalization process and become American citizens.

         25                 There is a necessity to strengthen
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          2  avenues through which immigrants who have recently

          3  become U.S. citizens can actually be American

          4  citizens by exercising their hard-won right to vote.

          5                 With this purpose in mind LAIC

          6  collaborate with other immigrant organizations in

          7  voter education campaigns. The principle of these

          8  campaigns is to encourage new American citizens to

          9  exercise their right to vote in an educated manner,

         10  by registering to vote and participating in civic

         11  forums that allow them to make informed decisions.

         12                 It is important for us as a Latino

         13  organization to reinstate trust in the democratic

         14  process for those people who have traditionally been

         15  marginalized from the democratic process, in their

         16  countries of origin.

         17                 Upon revisiting some of the new

         18  voters after the election, the last election in

         19  2002, we have identified some of the main obstacles

         20  that our clients have encountered for an active

         21  political participation, which can be divided

         22  between difficulties found before the elections and

         23  those found during the election days.

         24                 Currently a large portion of the

         25  immigrant voters do not have access to educational
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          2  materials in their own language. Previous to the

          3  elections that help -- materials that help them

          4  understand the nature and diversity of the public

          5  offices and clarify their functions and their

          6  significance.

          7                 For many new citizens the lack of

          8  comprehension of the system is a discouragement to

          9  vote and for many others, it is an obstacle to an

         10  informed participation.

         11                 This lack of understanding

         12  disconnects the political debate from the everyday

         13  life of people and impoverishes our democratic

         14  system.

         15                 It is imperative that the mechanisms

         16  of outreach to immigrant populations traditionally

         17  disenfranchised and marginalized from the democratic

         18  process address the language access needs of the

         19  demographics -- of the demographic composition of

         20  New York City.

         21                 In order to truly help New York City

         22  vote, we urge the City Council to appropriate funds

         23  that ensure the availability of language appropriate

         24  outreach materials, well prior to election days, and

         25  at the polling sites.
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          2                 In my written statement you can find

          3  some case stories of new first-time immigrant voters

          4  who have been disenfranchised, who encounter

          5  difficulties at the voting site, at the polling

          6  site. I'm just going to mention some of the

          7  difficulties that most immigrants encounter at these

          8  polling sites:

          9                 - ill-treatment to new voters at the

         10  hands of poll workers.

         11                 - discrimination at the hands of poll

         12  workers, when they are asked to present, when they

         13  are illegally asked to present ID.

         14                 - problems with obsolete and

         15  confusing voting machines.

         16                 - lack of sufficient language access

         17  services that respond to the needs of New York City

         18  voters; and

         19                 - lack of available voting machines

         20  prior to the election day.

         21                 The stories that you are going to

         22  have the opportunity to read are not unique. In

         23  fact, they represent the experience of many new

         24  American citizens voting for the first time.

         25                 The New York City Board of Elections
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          2  faces many challenges in ensuring that first-time

          3  voters, 90 percent of which are immigrants in New

          4  York City, are not barred from participating in the

          5  democratic process by exercising the right to cast a

          6  vote that counts, a vote that counts.

          7                 We are concerned about the affidavit

          8  ballot that often goes uncounted.

          9                 I want to echo the recommendations of

         10  the New York State Citizen Coalition on the HAVA

         11  implementation.

         12                 We urge the City Council with

         13  oversight over the City Board of Elections to ensure

         14  proper training of poll workers, to avoid immigrant

         15  voters disenfranchisement at the hands of poll

         16  workers.

         17                 We urge the members of the State Task

         18  Force in charge of designing HAVA's implementation

         19  plan and the New York City Board of Elections to

         20  develop the broadest list of acceptable

         21  identification documents that first-time voters who

         22  register by mail can present at the polling site in

         23  order to avoid disenfranchisement.

         24                 We are especially concerned about the

         25  potential for discriminatory practices, since
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          2  immigrant voters are less likely to have State

          3  issued documents like many other advocates have

          4  mentioned before, and more likely to experience

          5  discrimination at the polling sites.

          6                 Let us remember that immigrant voters

          7  have completed a strenuous process to gain the

          8  privilege to become new American citizens. Casting

          9  their vote is their right, it is not a public

         10  benefit. It is their right. It is not a public

         11  benefit and shouldn't be treated as one.

         12                 We applaud the Help America Vote Act

         13  in its effort to modernize the electoral process by

         14  acquiring better voting machines.

         15                 However, this modernization process

         16  needs to be accompanied by a persistent and widely

         17  available education campaign that addresses the

         18  language needs of New York's population, and that

         19  takes into account the different literacy levels of

         20  populations historically marginalized.

         21                 For many new immigrant voters the

         22  experience at the polling sites provides the

         23  marginalization experience that their native

         24  countries, in the lack of language access, and the

         25  complexity of the voting machines.
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          2                 For this reason, we urge the Board to

          3  intensify recruitment of bilingual poll workers in

          4  future elections to ensure better access to

          5  information and guidance for limited English

          6  proficient voters.

          7                 It is especially important that in

          8  the implementation of the changes outlined in HAVA,

          9  the New York City Board of Elections collaborates

         10  with community-based organizations around the City

         11  in distributing information to all and new voters

         12  about the new changes in a language that voters can

         13  easily understand, as well as to ensure the

         14  availability of voting machines prior to the

         15  election day, especially since we are going to be

         16  experiencing many, you know, challenges with these

         17  new voting systems.

         18                 We urge the City Council to

         19  appropriate funds that ensure the availability of

         20  language-appropriate education and outreach

         21  materials.

         22                 Most of the conversation that we have

         23  heard today, in terms of voter education, has been

         24  focused on the mechanics of voter education.

         25                 Now, when you go up to a full-face
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          2  ballot, you're faced with different offices. It is

          3  useless to teach people how to punch the button if

          4  they don't know what these offices are for.

          5                 So, the kind of voter education has

          6  to be more integral, and I think elected officials

          7  should be more active in making sure that voters are

          8  able to gain access to this information.

          9                 And again, we hope this testimony is

         10  useful in understanding some of the obstacles to

         11  participation in the democratic process for

         12  immigrant voters, and some of the ways in which

         13  these obstacles can be addressed to ensure a smooth

         14  transition in the implementation of the provisions

         15  outlined in HAVA.

         16                 Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you.

         18                 DR. ZAMES: I just want to point out

         19  that our group, Disabled In Action, was the first

         20  group that dealt with the election issue. We sued

         21  the Board of Elections in 1984 because we felt that

         22  the voting machines were not accessible and the

         23  polling places were not accessible. In fact, we

         24  didn't feel, they weren't. Most of them weren't.

         25  Absentee ballots were not good enough. We were not

                                                            311

          1  GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS, MENTAL HEALTH, TECHNOLOGY

          2  absent.

          3                 Being less visible at the polls

          4  limited our influence on public officials, diluting

          5  our impact in the political process. DIA recognized

          6  that access to the voting process is essential for

          7  any constituency to obtain political clout. So, that

          8  was our reason right at the beginning.

          9                 I want to talk a little bit about the

         10  HAVA Board, or whatever it's called, the Task Force.

         11  You know, I know the people they said are the

         12  disabled, the representative for the disability

         13  community, the two people they mentioned, one of

         14  them, Brad Williams, who was the Executive Director

         15  of the New York State Independent Living Council, is

         16  a wonderful advocate, I speak highly of him. But

         17  he's neither blind nor in a wheelchair, and he's

         18  from upstate.

         19                 The other one, who is in a

         20  wheelchair, the advocate, the so-called state

         21  advocate, as far as I'm concerned is no advocate. I

         22  met him and I don't consider him much of an

         23  advocate.

         24                 As far as John Ravitz, John Ravitz

         25  knows very little about the disability community,
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          2  and I have an incident to explain that.

          3                 He ran for office, when he ran for

          4  office he was at candidates forum at Disabled In

          5  Action, and one of the things he said to urge us to

          6  vote for him was that Giuliani supported him.

          7                 Now, if he knew the disability

          8  community dislike of Giuliani, he would never have

          9  said that. You know, I mean Giuliani was seen very

         10  negatively in the disability community because his

         11  impact on our community was very negative, we had

         12  good reason. So that is an incident that indicates

         13  he knows nothing about, I feel he knows nothing

         14  about the community.

         15                 The other thing I want to say is, I

         16  just wanted to give my recommendations, I'm not

         17  going through my testimony because it's mainly

         18  history, and you've heard it before. So, amend New

         19  York State Election Law to allow for the use in all

         20  election districts of accessible voting machines

         21  that prevent people with different types of

         22  disabilities to cast a private, independent and

         23  verifiable vote.

         24                 By the 2004 election, very polling

         25  site in New York State could have at least one such
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          2  voting machine.

          3                 I don't know if you can do all of

          4  them by 2004, but it would be good if you could.

          5                 Amend New York State law, election

          6  law, to delete the requirement that the ballot must

          7  be on one page, because this requirement may

          8  conflict with an accessible voting machine ballot.

          9  And I just want to make a point here, I was at the

         10  trial where we kept all these different machines,

         11  and the one I liked the best, we voted for each

         12  candidate separately, but at the very end you saw

         13  them all on one page, so that you could tell which

         14  ones you voted for, and if you didn't -- if you made

         15  a mistake you couldn't fix it.

         16                 So, in a sense that was, to me, what

         17  would you call, a one page --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Sort of a check.

         19                 DR. ZAMES: Yes, but it was not only a

         20  check, it was the one-page review. So that could

         21  have been handed in as the -- you know, I found that

         22  particular machine the best.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Would you like

         24  the feature where after you vote you can review what

         25  you actually did?
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          2                 DR. ZAMES: Right. I like that, and it

          3  also indicates that that's a one -- what did they

          4  call, a one face ballot --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Full-face

          6  ballot?

          7                 DR. ZAMES: There is a full-face

          8  ballot right there, you know. It's at the end but

          9  it's there.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: But does the one

         11  you're talking about include who you didn't vote for

         12  as well?

         13                 DR. ZAMES: No, I voted for everybody,

         14  so I don't know.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: In other words,

         16  what I'm trying to understand is, you go and you

         17  vote and at the end you can review what you did?

         18                 DR. ZAMES: Oh, yes, it indicated the

         19  ones you didn't vote for.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay, thank you.

         21                 DR. ZAMES: I think they were there.

         22  You know, I'm not absolutely sure, it was awhile

         23  ago.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: But you

         25  especially liked the opportunity to review what
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          2  you've done.

          3                 DR. ZAMES: I like that, yes.

          4                 And I think most, I don't know if all

          5  of them did this, this particular one did this and I

          6  like that.

          7                 Amend New York State Election Law to

          8  require that any purchase of voting machines be only

          9  those accessible to all citizens, including people

         10  with disabilities.

         11                 Amend New York State Election Law to

         12  require that a computerized database of all

         13  registered voters in New York State be created. Now

         14  I hear that's required.

         15                 Amend New York State Election Law to

         16  create a hot line for voters to be available on

         17  Election Day.

         18                 Amend New York State Election Law to

         19  specify that counties are responsible for

         20  guaranteeing the accessibility of polling places, to

         21  provide basic accessibility guidelines to ensure

         22  consistency and encourage substantial compliance at

         23  sites.

         24                 Requiring that polling place workers

         25  be well-trained before they go to work on Election
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          2  Day. That's very important, as you said, and a lot

          3  of them don't know this stuff, and are very lacks.

          4                 Provide funds to New York State

          5  counties to assist them in making their polling

          6  places and voting machines accessible to all

          7  citizens by 2004.

          8                 Provide funding to allow each one of

          9  the 37, I think Centers for Independent Living to

         10  provide counties with the technical assistance

         11  required to ensure that polling sites and voting

         12  machines are fully accessible to individuals with

         13  disabilities.

         14                 Develop a statewide PSA campaign to

         15  inform and encourage New Yorkers with disabilities

         16  to register and vote on Election Day.

         17                 And I also am strongly -- do not

         18  require valid voter identification for first-time

         19  voters. I am strongly against this, and those who

         20  register to vote by mail.

         21                 I just want to say that, end up with

         22  the fact that the house poll indicated, in spite of

         23  all the problems that 14 million Americans With

         24  Disabilities voted in 2000, almost 3 million more

         25  than in 1996, this is in spite of all the problems,
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          2  representing an increase from 30 to 41 percent of

          3  people with disabilities voting age.

          4                 We have come a long way but we still

          5  have miles to go. Thousands of polling sites in New

          6  York State are still inaccessible. Barriers to

          7  registration for people with disabilities still

          8  exist around the state. A new voting machine is

          9  needed in New York State that improves the voting

         10  process for everyone. As obstacles are overcome, a

         11  greater percentage of voting age people will vote

         12  and New York State will become more democratic.

         13                 Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you.

         15                 MR. EPSTEYN: My name is Vladimir

         16  Epsteyn, and as I mentioned, I'm the President of

         17  Russian-American Voters Educational League.

         18                 For the past three years we were able

         19  to register the more than 10,000 Russian-speaking

         20  Americans, to register them as voters.

         21                 You know, I am familiar with soviet

         22  educational machine which was working well enough

         23  because it was given results before the election

         24  start, and I wouldn't recommend, of course, this

         25  machine to you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Was it a

          3  full-face ballot?

          4                 MR. EPSTEYN: Yes, full face. Full

          5  face KGB ballot, yes, right. But you know this is

          6  why the Russian-speaking voters, they are so active

          7  during the elections, and at the past elections more

          8  than 11,000 Russian-speaking from Brighton Beach,

          9  they took part in this elections and I think they

         10  were among the most active voters in New York. And

         11  they feel proud of the coming opportunity and they

         12  want to use this opportunity.

         13                 Okay, we can spend millions of

         14  dollars for new technologies, and, of course, I am

         15  fully for new technologies, but I will share some

         16  experiences which really we can waste all these

         17  millions of dollars if we will not be careful.

         18                 The Board of Elections doesn't work

         19  accurate, and many mistakes are made by Board of

         20  Elections for voters -- for people who are

         21  registered voters. And this causes many voters when

         22  they are coming to the voting polls, they are

         23  discriminated because only of the mistakes of the

         24  Board of Elections, they cannot implement their

         25  voting right.
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          2                 Many voters, if they don't receive

          3  proper information in time about the place and the

          4  date of elections, that means no one machine will

          5  help them to implement their right. And some, what

          6  we were facing for lost elections on Brighton Beach,

          7  some workers, poll workers, when they see the people

          8  they're not familiar how to use this machine and

          9  they don't know and so on, they're trying to advise

         10  these people for whom to vote.

         11                 Our understanding, that there are

         12  some poll workers who are interested in particular

         13  candidate, and I think all of us should pay proper

         14  attention to this kind of what can happen.

         15                 And the most important is to pay

         16  proper attention to voters education and our League

         17  is especially designed for that.

         18                 You know, you can register, you can

         19  do big efforts, but if people who are registered,

         20  they are not educated, they don't know their rights,

         21  then don't have the opportunity to have proper

         22  information about all politicians of political

         23  candidates, the election will not achieve what they

         24  are fighting now for.

         25                 That means voter education is a very
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          2  important component of all what we are doing. And I

          3  should say that I don't know why it happened, but

          4  the money which are coming for voters education, my

          5  understanding is they are coming only to the Board

          6  of Elections, and Board of Elections is trying every

          7  time to use us to supply them with the people to do

          8  everything, and they will take the money.

          9                 The problem is not the money, the

         10  problem is they are not efficient for education.

         11  This is why I advise you, and I hope that now when,

         12  like for new purposes, educational purposes, the

         13  money will come, they should go directly to

         14  community-based organizations who are doing voters

         15  education, and this money will be spent, much better

         16  results, and this money will cover much bigger

         17  groups of people, because less bureaucratic stuff

         18  will be involved in this process of education.

         19                 What would be my advice? That of

         20  course is very important to establish state-wide

         21  database for registered voters and then will

         22  eliminate situation when a person comes to vote and

         23  they cannot find this person.

         24                 Number two advice. I think should be

         25  elimination, the requirements of identification.
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          2  Because in my case, Russian-speaking community,

          3  people, they don't have driver's license, and that

          4  means it will be main issue to have like first-time

          5  voters driver's license, they will be unable to

          6  implement the right.

          7                 I think City Council should take care

          8  to have a list of documents which can be acceptable

          9  for the first-time voters, and these documents

         10  should be usual documents which doesn't cost money

         11  for people who would like to vote, and so people can

         12  easy have in their pocket.

         13                 I think that -- let me tell you

         14  something. It's the first time really I have the

         15  possibility. I know many elected officials, but I

         16  have the possibility to see my, our elected

         17  officials, in actions, and you know it's a

         18  compliment but I am not used to give compliments, I

         19  am very much impressed by the way how you are

         20  conducting this hearings. You know, really I can see

         21  real interest in what is going on, and I think such

         22  people as you are will achieve success and our

         23  democracy will be forever.

         24                 Thank you very much.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you for
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          2  that compliment. We'll give you another round of

          3  applause.

          4                 Last but not least.

          5                 MR. MAGPANTAY: Glenn Magpantay, from

          6  Asian American Legal Defense Fund.

          7                 I guess like the HAVA Task Force, I

          8  will be brief.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Got it.

         10                 MR. MAGPANTAY: So, you know, six

         11  hours ago Margarita Lopez said, Councilwoman Lopez

         12  had said the disabled community was at the forefront

         13  in passing the Help America Vote Act, and I think

         14  that was right. And bravo to people with

         15  disabilities, they have won a tremendous amount of

         16  rights. They still have a long way to go to make

         17  sure that the vote is accessible to all people with

         18  disabilities, even the ones that you don't see, but

         19  I think that's important.

         20                 I do want to correct a historical

         21  fact. Language minorities who are at the forefront

         22  of this, and have been fighting for the past ten

         23  years, we wrote letters to Congress, we walked at

         24  Brayburn and Durkins and the buildings in

         25  Washington, D.C., we lobbied because we wanted to
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          2  make sure that language minorities would be able to

          3  exercise their right to vote, and we lost.

          4                 We got nothing out of this, and as a

          5  New Yorker, what this bill does is a lot of words

          6  for the political participation of our communities,

          7  not for the political enfranchisement of those who

          8  need it.

          9                 So, you know, the legislation sucks.

         10  Excuse me. The legislation is not appropriate.

         11                 I want to stress but why? Why does

         12  AALDEF say that there are these problems, and I'm

         13  going to outline very specific problems that

         14  actually happened in the administration of the vote.

         15  I should also say that AALDEF practices at the

         16  United States Justice Department and so we will look

         17  at preclearance of any voting changes. We also

         18  regularly monitor the elections for anti-Asian voter

         19  discrimination.

         20                 Attorney General Robert F. Kennedy 30

         21  years ago sent members of the Bar to the south to

         22  make sure that African-Americans have the right to

         23  vote. Today we are sending private attorneys to

         24  Flushing, to Chinatown, to Richmond Hill, to make

         25  sure that Asian-Americans can pass their vote
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          2  without discrimination.

          3                 And our concern for what happened,

          4  for instance, in the 2001 elections, is that 300

          5  Asian-American voters were improperly required to

          6  show ID before they vote.

          7                 In the new identification

          8  requirement, those who fit a certain racial profile,

          9  those who are foreign-born citizens, those who are

         10  limited English proficient, should not be required

         11  to provide identification.

         12                 At Botanical Gardens last year we had

         13  a poll worker who made a voter go back and get three

         14  forms of ID before he could vote, and he commented,

         15  well, you don't know who's a terrorist. That is

         16  illegal under New York State Law, but nevertheless

         17  this is what happened.

         18                 In the verification of new voters,

         19  one of the concerns that we have is the matching of

         20  databases.

         21                 In 2001 about 100 voters during the

         22  primary, and 100 voters during the general election

         23  were not listed in the roll book, and, so, their

         24  names could not be found and they were not allowed

         25  to vote in the election. I know there's an affidavit
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          2  ballot, I'm telling you all, they don't always get

          3  an affidavit ballot.

          4                 We do voter registration after

          5  naturalization swearing in ceremonies, and we

          6  spotcheck the rolls of registered voters. Well,

          7  here's what we found. We found that some names were

          8  entered wrong. Lau, L-a-u was entered as Law, L-a-w.

          9  Spaces and hyphens were missing or changed. Names,

         10  compound Chinese names, were entered incorrectly.

         11  So, for example, Yin Yen Ling appeared as Sin Y

         12  Ling. That's a different person. The English version

         13  would be, if your name is Peter, you're name goes in

         14  as P, P-e, T middle initial. That is not an

         15  appropriate amalgamation or mangling of a Chinese

         16  name, you wouldn't tolerate it for an English name,

         17  so why is it okay for a Chinese name or a Korean

         18  name to be mangled in the same way.

         19                 The biggest one that I love is that

         20  when we had turned in voter registration forms, they

         21  weren't registered. We searched the database and

         22  they could not be found. We found six registered

         23  voters that we had personally registered who were

         24  not there.

         25                 The concern that we have is that
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          2  names will not match. How do you remedy this? One of

          3  the things that we want to do is perhaps in these

          4  limited instances, people can show ID, in order to

          5  correct it we want the voters to be in control of

          6  whether they can be able to register, whether they

          7  can vote and to be able to prove problems in the

          8  list of registered voters.

          9                 I don't trust the database of

         10  registered voters at the Board of Election. It is

         11  fraught with errors and inconsistencies. People do

         12  what is legally required to register, they send in

         13  their forms and they are not registered and then

         14  they cannot vote.

         15                 Those civic complaints that we

         16  receive in every election, there need to be a remedy

         17  to do that.

         18                 The remedy that we at the Asian Legal

         19  Defense Fund, as well as our colleagues, through the

         20  NYPIRG Coalition are putting forth, is to use the

         21  affidavit ballot envelope as a voter registration

         22  form. There's two mechanics that will happen here.

         23  One, if there are any deficiencies, a wrong name, a

         24  wrong party, a mistake, the affidavit ballot will be

         25  used to correct that information. But if for some
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          2  reason a voter comes to vote, she completely

          3  believes she's registered, she gets an affidavit

          4  ballot and if for some reason the Board lost her

          5  voter registration form, instead of having to do

          6  this in every election, it will correct it for the

          7  next election.

          8                 Many states, Georgia, Missouri, and

          9  every state that adopts original ballots after the

         10  2000 elections use provisional balloting as a

         11  mechanism to register voters, or voter information,

         12  if there is some deficiency.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Isn't the City

         14  to some extent doing that now, do you know?

         15                 MR. MAGPANTAY: The City under New

         16  York State Law requires that an update of someone's

         17  registration information can be done after they fill

         18  out an affidavit ballot. Whether they do that is

         19  another story, but that is the law.

         20                 Whether there is a provision to

         21  update a new registrant, they do not do that.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Well, let me

         23  just be clear of what you're suggesting.

         24                 I thought the City did use that

         25  affidavit ballot for some updating of --
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          2                 MR. MAGAPANTAY: Yes.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: -- An already

          4  registered person.

          5                 MR. MAGPANTAY: Correct.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Change of

          7  address, party, whatever the case may be. But your

          8  recommendation is that --

          9                 MR. MAGPANTAY: Well, one is

         10  enforcement of that. So do that.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Well, I just

         12  want to get what they're supposed to do first.

         13                 MR. MAGPANTAY: Okay, fine.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: And then what

         15  you're recommending second.

         16                 What you're recommending is that if,

         17  worst case scenario, is not registered, think

         18  they're registered, that that affidavit ballot be a

         19  substitute for registration application.

         20                 MR. MAGPANTAY: Correct.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: And the process

         22  as a new registered voter.

         23                 MR. MAGPANTAY: That's correct.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay, I just

         25  wanted to make sure that we're clear, but the
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          2  distinction between the two.

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 You may continue to summarize.

          5                 MR. MAGPANTAY: No, no. The other

          6  illustration is that in Florel Park a pollwork will

          7  report that the same voter votes in every election

          8  by an affidavit ballot. The voter continually says

          9  that she is registered -- he is registered, is not

         10  on the list, he gets an affidavit ballot in every

         11  election, his ballot is discarded.

         12                 So, we're hoping that that will

         13  remedy the situation here.

         14                 The last thing is on language

         15  assistance. We request that ballots be provided in

         16  languages other than English, Spanish, Chinese and

         17  Korean. There needs to be more improvements in how

         18  language assistance is provided.

         19                 In the 2000 elections, we inspected

         20  in six polling sites in Queens the ballots flipped

         21  the party headings. So, in Chinese the democrats

         22  were listed as republicans, the republicans were

         23  listed as democrats.

         24                 In the last election in 2002, when we

         25  went to polling sites and asked do you have the

                                                            330

          1  GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS, MENTAL HEALTH, TECHNOLOGY

          2  instructions as to how to vote in Korean? A woman

          3  said, sure, and held up a Chinese sign. And I said,

          4  no, no, no, that's Chinese, not Korean, and she

          5  said, oh, is there a difference?

          6                 There are a number of situations in

          7  which we are working at the Board to try to remedy a

          8  number of these problems, and we look forward to

          9  working with the Board of Elections and this

         10  Committee to make sure that these elections are

         11  executed without discrimination and so that all

         12  Americans can equally and fairly exercise their

         13  right to vote. Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         15  much.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Before we close

         17  this session, I just would like to read on the

         18  record that Rose Mary McCaffrey was not able to stay

         19  until the end, and I am sad to say that this is the

         20  second time that happened to her, because in the

         21  first meeting that we had in August 15, 2002, where

         22  the resolutions were not possible to vote on, she

         23  also couldn't wait and had to leave.

         24                 She left her testimony for the

         25  purpose to be put on the record, and I would like to
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          2  read the last statement that said, "respected

          3  Council members, we ask you to support actions in

          4  the following ways: Pass Resolution Number 443, 444

          5  and 445 immediately." And with that, I place on the

          6  record her testimony. Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: And please let

          8  her know that we did exactly as she demanded in her

          9  absence, and that the resolutions were passed

         10  immediately.

         11                 You find no value whatsoever in the

         12  HAVA Act, or were your comments more directed at the

         13  implementation of the Task Force?

         14                 MR. MAGPANTAY: No, my comments are

         15  directed in New York and what HAVA will do in New

         16  York.

         17                 There are states in this country

         18  which are extremely regressive, and very, just awful

         19  places to be. And, so, HAVA will be a good thing for

         20  them.

         21                 Our concern is that in New York where

         22  we have provisional ballots, they're called

         23  affidavit ballots, I mean there's a whole another

         24  set of issues, where we do not allow identification,

         25  HAVA in some respects is a retrogressive --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: You mean we do

          3  not require. You said allow.

          4                 MR. MAGPANTAY: Pardon. We do not

          5  require identification checks. That is a new

          6  requirement.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Right. So, I

          8  just want to be clear, the area of your focus and

          9  criticism is the identification requirement?

         10                 MR. MAGPANTAY: Yes, sir.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay. But other

         12  aspects of HAVA, you also have problems with?

         13                 MR. MAGPANTAY: Other aspects of HAVA

         14  we have very many concerns in the implementation,

         15  and Neil and NYPIRG, Common Cause and other groups

         16  articulated them. We endorse all of their

         17  recommendations. It can be done well or with minimal

         18  impact and that's very good. Although we do, as they

         19  said earlier, and we stress again, using the

         20  affidavit ballot envelope to correct for voter

         21  registration deficiencies is a cure that HAVA does

         22  not expressly authorize but the states can do, and

         23  we're lobbying for that both in New York,

         24  Massachusetts and New Jersey.

         25                 And we will be joining you in that
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          2  lobbying effort to the extent that we can from the

          3  perspective of the City Council. At least in terms

          4  of a resolution calling for it, and if there's any

          5  opportunity within the municipal code, we will try

          6  to take advantage of that opportunity as well.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Do you know if

          8  there's any movement to remedy the situation of the

          9  ID requirement at the level of New York City?

         10                 Because it is my impression --

         11                 MR. MAGPANTAY: At the level of?

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: I'm sorry, at the

         13  level of New York State, as a measurement to fix

         14  this problem, if we can remedy that through

         15  legislation internally?

         16                 MR. MAGPANTAY: No through

         17  legislation, but Councilman, you, and I cannot speak

         18  for AALDEF at this point, but I will give you my

         19  legal opinion. You raised a very interesting legal

         20  scenario where you talked about the rights of

         21  homeless and their abilities to vote. And they do

         22  not have identification. Although they can swear to

         23  who they are and not be lying, right? That would be

         24  a very interesting suit, that if Corporation

         25  Counsel, we don't have the resources to sue the
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          2  United States government -- well, we do, but not on

          3  this issue -- but that would be a very interesting

          4  suit, how a discriminatory, how the ID provision

          5  have a discriminatory effect on those who are (1)

          6  homeless, so it's based on being homeless; and (2)

          7  -- under the 14th Amendment; and, (2) as a person

          8  of color, given that the majority of homeless people

          9  are people of color in New York City. It will be a

         10  very, very interesting suit.

         11                 We look to striking down legislation

         12  that is inappropriate conduct and unconstitutional

         13  conduct by Congress, and if the City, with all the

         14  magnificent resources, filed such a suit, we'd be

         15  very interested in working together around it.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Okay, the reason I

         17  emphasize on the homeless population, is because I

         18  was striked (sic) about the fact that that lawsuit

         19  was won for the homeless population, and

         20  specifically.

         21                 MR. MAGPANTAY: Me, too.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: And the reason for

         23  that is that prior to that it was demanded that you

         24  have an address, and if you don't have an address,

         25  then you don't have the right to vote.
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          2                 Then this is --

          3                 MR. MAGPANTAY: You have a keen legal

          4  mind, Councilwoman.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Huh?

          6                 MR. MAGPANTAY: You have a keen legal

          7  mind.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Okay, well, this

          9  is the same I think.

         10                 MR. MAGPANTAY: That's right.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: It's the same

         12  situation, because now we're talking about that you

         13  don't get an ID, by the way, unless you have an

         14  address. The government don't give you ID without an

         15  address of residence.

         16                 MR. MAGPANTAY: Yes.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: When you go here

         18  to the Motor Vehicle for the non-driver's ID, and

         19  for the driver's ID, unless you have a residential

         20  address, you cannot get an ID. And this is

         21  fascinating.

         22                 MR. MAGPANTAY: I mean, let me go one

         23  step further, and I can actually speak for AALDEF on

         24  this: We believe in civil liberties, we believe that

         25  we live in a free democracy and we should not have
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          2  to carry around your identification everywhere that

          3  you go. I should be able to walk into a public

          4  building like City Hall without identification. I

          5  should be able to vote. This is not Bosnia, this is

          6  not another country, this is the United States and

          7  the freedom to be who you are without

          8  identification, without your papers.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Well, you're

         10  talking about United States without passing the

         11  Patrick Act (phonetic). Now that we have that passed

         12  --

         13                 MR. MAGPANTAY: We're challenging

         14  that, too.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: -- We're talking

         16  about a different story, and a lot of New Yorkers

         17  need to begin understanding that our rights have

         18  changed tremendously under the passage of that

         19  Patrick Act.

         20                 MR. MAGPANTAY: Right. No, that's

         21  right. And we will fight that piece of legislation.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Okay, thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: It is my

         24  understanding that the representative of the NAACP

         25  Legal Defense Fund --
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          2                 MR. MAGPANTAY: My colleague.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: That was here

          4  earlier, your colleague, was addressing I guess a

          5  similar concern related to the Voting Rights Act,

          6  particularly in terms of these obstacles presented

          7  by the requirements for identification.

          8                 MR. MAGPANTAY: Yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: And in his

         10  testimony I recall him mentioning that there is

         11  going to be a preclearance requirement because of

         12  that; are you familiar with that?

         13                 MR. MAGPANTAY: Yes. We coordinated

         14  with LDF on a number of issues. We are both part of

         15  the New York Voting Rights Consortium. Debo and I've

         16  talked many times about states that we can sue. Yes.

         17  No, we do know, and we will participate in

         18  preclearance stage.

         19                 The Council and the Chairman of this

         20  Committee also participates at that stage. When the

         21  changes go to the Justice Department, the state must

         22  show that there is not a retrogressive impact on

         23  racial and ethnic minority voters. Legislators of

         24  color who argue that there is a retrogressive impact

         25  carries a lot of weight in the preclearance stage at
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          2  the Justice Department.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Well, we

          4  indicated to him at the time to keep us posted,

          5  because we would want to be supportive, Amicus

          6  Brief, or whatever the case may be. Whatever is

          7  appropriate, so you all will let us know how we can

          8  be helpful in making sure that justice is done as

          9  far as this is concerned?

         10                 MR. MAGPANTAY: Yes. The only issue

         11  there is that that comes after -- the law is that

         12  that is at the end after there's a public process,

         13  after there's been input, after the final plan is

         14  adopted.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Which is, I

         16  understand, to some extent near -- what is happening

         17  at the end of the month, what is the --

         18                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: The first

         19  draft.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: The first draft

         21  is coming at the end of the month; and when is the

         22  last draft?

         23                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: June.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: The last draft

         25  is June. So, I'm correct then, by the end of -- by
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          2  September we will know what the implementation plan

          3  is.

          4                 MR. MAGPANTAY: Yes. I mean, the

          5  problem that I think also exists, Mr. Perkins had

          6  alluded to concerns in who has the authority to pass

          7  the plan, and so if there is a battle between the

          8  State Board of Elections and the Legislature, it

          9  will not be able to go to preclearance, because one

         10  must decide, is this New York Law and policy? Is

         11  this final policy? And is they're fighting between

         12  themselves, it is only after that issue is resolved

         13  that it goes to the Justice Department.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Well, help us

         15  with this new point that you're putting on the

         16  table. So the plan that the task force develops

         17  you're saying is not clear as to whether that plan

         18  has to be adopted by the Board of Elections for the

         19  State of New York or by the State Legislature of the

         20  State of New York? How does the law speak to that?

         21                 MR. MAGPANTAY: The law only says a

         22  final plan. And, so, if the Board by themselves

         23  adopts the plan, that's a final plan. Keith

         24  Wright's, Assemblyman Wright's concern, and some of

         25  the battles between who can do this plan, who can
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          2  chair HAVA, who can chair the HAVA task force, if

          3  they escalate that further, and they may have reason

          4  to escalate this further, that's a decision that

          5  they make in Albany, then that's fine, but is the

          6  Legislature saying that we have to pass this with

          7  legislation, it's (1) another opportunity for us to

          8  do something, but it will not go to the Justice

          9  Department at that point. It must be the final plan.

         10  And it depends on who adopts the final plan.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: The law says the

         12  final plan has to be passed by when? Before --

         13                 MR. MAGPANTAY: To get federal monies?

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Yes.

         15                 MR. MAGPANTAY: Actually, no. End of

         16  next month it has to be filed and then 30-day

         17  comment period.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Filing is not

         19  passing a plan. That's what I'm asking.

         20                 MR. MAGPANTAY: That's right.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: The plan has to

         22  be passed, our counsel will look into that for me.

         23  Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: One more thing,

         25  Mr. Chairman. What we're talking about here is a
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          2  body that is not constitutionally recognized by an

          3  electoral process, is going to pass judgment over

          4  issues as serious as who can vote and how you can

          5  vote.

          6                 This is getting bigger than it was in

          7  the beginning for me, as the minutes go by. Because

          8  how could a commission, a commission that is not

          9  even constituted, this task force is not

         10  constituted, not even in the representation mood of

         11  all of the localities that are involved in this, not

         12  even that, how could they have the authority to do

         13  something as radical as this, and is not even being

         14  sanctioned by the legislators, that is of serious

         15  concern and I think this Committee should question

         16  that and request an opinion from the State

         17  Legislature on this case, on this particular item,

         18  particularly because we in the City are in the

         19  situation to stand the biggest loss in this whole

         20  process, then it will be, you know, as a suggestion,

         21  not as a member of the Committee, but as a member of

         22  the City Council that have been in this hearing, at

         23  this moment I think that the Committee should go

         24  further and address the Legislature of the State of

         25  New York and ask the clear question, what is the
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          2  authority and the parameters of this Commission that

          3  was created compared to the Legislature in

          4  decision-making process like this kind that are so

          5  serious.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: That's a very

          7  good suggestion. I think that it's a suggestion that

          8  goes even beyond an opinion from the State

          9  Legislature that we really, this is somewhere,

         10  however, embodied in the law, the HAVA law, I would

         11  assume, or at least in the intent of the law as it

         12  was being debated in Congress.

         13                 So, I think your concern is on target

         14  in terms of us needing, for the sake of the people

         15  of the City of New York to know for sure where the

         16  ultimate authority lies in terms of sanctioning this

         17  implementation plan, that ultimately will wind up in

         18  the federal government and ultimately translate into

         19  resources, et cetera, for the people of the City of

         20  New York.

         21                 So, thank you very much for your

         22  testimony, and we will continue to look forward to

         23  working with you and all those who are interested in

         24  making sure that this plan goes beyond suck to

         25  something that makes sense for the sake of the
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          2  people of the City of New York.

          3                 I don't say that facetiously. I know

          4  there is a lot of concern that's been expressed all

          5  afternoon about the task force and about the

          6  shortcomings of the law. We at the Council, and all

          7  of us, will have to make this work for the people of

          8  the City of New York, even with its shortcomings we

          9  will have to overcome them in the spirit of Dr.

         10  Martin Luther King. And, so, I want to again thank

         11  everyone for their participation. I want to thank

         12  the various chairs, Gale Brewer, Margarita Lopez,

         13  Kendall Stewart, for their participation in the

         14  hearing. I want to thank the staff for the research

         15  that they've done for us. I want to thank all the

         16  advocates and all of those who have been with us

         17  since 9:30 this morning, and this panel that has

         18  been here since the beginning and is still here with

         19  us, I want to thank you.

         20                 I think what we're going to do for

         21  future hearings is prepare dinner or feast for the

         22  last panel so that it will be some incentive to want

         23  to stay. Thank you very much, appreciate it. This

         24  meeting is adjourned.

         25                 (The following written testimony was
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          2  read into the record.)

          3

          4  Written Testimony Of:

          5  RoseMarie McCaffery

          6  200 East 5th Street

          7  # 91

          8  New York, NY 10003

          9

         10  Testimony in support of Resolution Nos. 443,

         11  444, 445a

         12  Introduced by Council Member Margarita Lopez

         13  Chairperson for the Committee on Mental Health,

         14  Mental Retardation, Alcohol, Drug Abuse & Disability

         15                &

         16  Council Member William Perkins

         17  Chairperson for the Committee on Governmental

         18  Operations

         19

         20  April 4, 2003

         21

         22                 Good morning respected City Council

         23  Members. Thank you for allowing me the opportunity

         24  to testify in support of the referenced Resolutions.

         25  These resolutions were originally introduced on
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          2  August 15, 2002. It was our understanding there was

          3  enough support to pass the resolutions at that time.

          4  Many of us were in the City Council Chamber eagerly

          5  anticipating the historic moment. There was profound

          6  disappointment and frustration when the resolution

          7  was presented and then quietly referred back to

          8  committee. So quietly indeed that we were unaware of

          9  what had happened and sat through the rest of the

         10  Council hearings, still waiting for all the "ayes"

         11  to resonate throughout the Chamber.

         12                 Much has happened since then. Much

         13  more needs to be done. In October 2002 the Help

         14  America Vote Act (HAVA) was passed. Long overdue,

         15  but welcomed. It has its flaws and in the days to

         16  come we must work amending the legislation and on

         17  stronger State legislation to fill in the gaps.

         18                 By election year 2004 every New York

         19  City and State resident must have full access to

         20  their polling site and experience the exhilaration

         21  (the first time for many of us) of casting an

         22  independent and private vote for the candidates and

         23  issues of our choice. The casting of an independent

         24  vote, of course, will be determined by the voting

         25  machine selected for purchase.
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          2                 In 1985 two voting machines were

          3  certified as accessible by New York State. Many

          4  generations of technology have evolved in the last

          5  two decades.

          6                 Accessibility does not mean that it

          7  is only usable by blind/visually impaired voters.

          8                 It must be usable by ALL voters. If

          9  the only obstacle in choosing a truly usable

         10  (accessible) voting is the full-face ballot, we must

         11  insist that our State Senate and Assembly change

         12  from the full face ballot. After all, the

         13  requirement for a full-face ballot goes back to

         14  legislation of 1909 - a time when only white males

         15  were permitted to vote.

         16                 Each State has been charged with

         17  writing a State Implementation Plan. There has been

         18  much smirking and tongue in cheek reporting of the

         19  State implementation plan process for HAVA. The

         20  bypassing of Director Thomas Wilke (a democrat) as

         21  Chairperson of the appointed task force in favor of

         22  William Kazinsky (a republican) and the top heavy

         23  appointments of members of the Republican party is

         24  certainly cause for concern.

         25                 However, leaving party lines aside,
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          2  what is really appalling is the lack of diversity

          3  representation on the task force. Media reporters

          4  may laugh and scoff - for many of us this is truly a

          5  travesty in the making that may negatively affect

          6  our full inclusion as citizens.

          7                 Respected Council Members, we ask

          8  your support and actions in the following ways:

          9                 Pass Resolution Nos. 443, 444, 445a

         10  immediately.

         11                 After the review of the voting

         12  machine accessibility is completed, if the most

         13  "usable" machine is not compatible to a full fact

         14  ballot, urge the State Senate and Assembly to hold a

         15  special session and abolish the need for such a

         16  ballot.

         17                 When the State Plan is issued, read

         18  it carefully and thoroughly. If it does not

         19  eliminate voter discrimination in its entirety,

         20  stand with us and tell Governor Pataki that this

         21  plan will not make it to Washington, DC.

         22

         23                 Respectfully submitted:

         24                 RoseMarie McCaffery

         25
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          2

          3  Written Testimony Of:

          4  Lisa Gesson

          5  Regional Advocate

          6  Eastern Paralyzed Veterans Association

          7  75-20 Astoria Boulevard

          8  Jackson Heights, NY 11370-1177

          9  718-803-3782

         10

         11  April 4, 2003

         12

         13                 My name is Lisa Gesson and I am the

         14  Regional Advocate for New York City at the Eastern

         15  Paralyzed Veterans Association. The Eastern

         16  Paralyzed Veterans Association is a non-profit

         17  organization dedicated to supporting veterans with

         18  spinal cord injuries and other people with

         19  disabilities. Our organization works with

         20  governmental, business and community groups to

         21  ensure that people with disabilities enjoy the same

         22  rights and access as fully ambulatory individuals.

         23                 Several issues currently serve as

         24  barriers to people with disabilities voting

         25  privately and independently. The machines utilized
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          2  in New York City and throughout New York State are

          3  antiquated and do not accommodate many people with

          4  disabilities, who cannot reach them, do not have the

          5  strength or dexterity to operate them or cannot read

          6  their text because of visual impairments, because

          7  English is not one of their primary languages or

          8  because their literacy does not enable them to read

          9  the ballot or instructions accurately.

         10                 Many people cannot even enter their

         11  assigned polling place because it does not

         12  accommodate their disability or mobility aid or

         13  because the one accessible door remains locked, or

         14  because the one person with a key is not available

         15  throughout he entirety of election day. The

         16  full-faced ballot law serves to further undermine

         17  the potential for getting the most accessible

         18  machine, because many of the new, accessible

         19  machines are not full-faced, although they prevent

         20  "under voting" just as effectively as full-faced

         21  ballots.

         22                 The Help America Vote Act (HAVA)

         23  addresses many of these problems, but New York City

         24  can prove itself to be even more proactive than the

         25  Federal Government. Under HAVA, funds will be
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          2  available for New York to obtain contracts for the

          3  assessment of accessibility at polling sites

          4  throughout the City and the State. More exciting

          5  than simply finding barriers, HAVA can provide

          6  resources to ameliorate the barriers.

          7                 The new technologies now available in

          8  voting machines offer easier reach and grasp options

          9  than ever before, enabling voters with strength,

         10  reach or dexterity problems more independence and

         11  ease in voting.

         12                 The technologies designed for voters

         13  who are blind or have visual impairments offer the

         14  opportunity to make voting truly accessible to all.

         15                 The same audio technology can be made

         16  in English, Spanish, Chinese, Korean, etc.

         17                 This technology may prove more

         18  accessible to voters with cognitive, developmental

         19  or mental disabilities, as well s accommodate the

         20  private, independent voting of people at all levels

         21  of literacy.

         22                 Although many of the new technologies

         23  do not allow for the New York style full-faced

         24  ballot, they alleviate the concerns that triggered

         25  that requirement by requiring voters to decline
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          2  every balloted race and view (or hear every balloted

          3  name, with the option of "write-in" candidates,

          4  before casting a ballot. These machines offer the

          5  option of paper trails, to confirm voting when

          6  disputes arise.

          7                 The technology is here and the time

          8  to act is now. The Eastern Paralyzed Veterans

          9  Association does not endorse any particular voting

         10  system, but we strongly recommend that City Council

         11  members, both those present today and those absent,

         12  read the analysis of the Voting Technology Fair

         13  surveys administered by the Manhattan Borough

         14  President's Office and the Center for the

         15  Independence of the Disabled in New York (CIDNY) on

         16  January 25, 2003. This commendable event and its

         17  forthcoming results will offer a unique perspective

         18  on what is effective and ineffective for voters with

         19  disabilities.

         20                 New York City, being a large market

         21  in the voting industry, can command voting machines

         22  that will welcome all voters independently and

         23  privately. Please use this opportunity to make sure

         24  that all polling sites and equipment are completely

         25  accessible.
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          2                 New York City can only benefit from

          3  HAVA's promise of funds to enhance our public and

          4  privately owned polling sites by literally opening

          5  the doors wide enough to accommodate all of us.

          6                 The Eastern Paralyzed Veterans

          7  Association is eager to work with New York City and

          8  New York State to ensure that everything is

          9  compliant not only with HAVA, but also with all

         10  other federal and local accessibility laws and

         11  building code requirements. We hope you will draw on

         12  our expertise to make accessible voting a reality.

         13                 (Hearing concluded at 5:10 p.m.)
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          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 4th day of April 2003.

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

                                   ---------------------

         25                          CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.
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          9            I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified Shorthand

         10  Reporter and a Notary Public in and for the State of

         11  New York, do hereby certify the aforesaid to be a

         12  true and accurate copy of the transcription of the

         13  audio tapes of this hearing.
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